
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Children and Young People Select Committee 

Agenda 
 
Tuesday, 10 March 2020 
7.00 pm, Committee Room 1 
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact: Emma Aye-Kumi (020 8314 9534) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio 
recorded and/or filmed. 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 23 January 2020 

 
3 - 10 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

11 - 14 

3.   Responses to Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
None due. 

 

4.   Annual school standards report 2018/19 (primary, 
secondary, post-16, AP) 
 

15 - 58 

5.   Exclusions from school in-depth review - 6 month 
update 
 

59 - 72 

6.   How living in temporary accommodation affects 
children - final report and recommendations 
 

73 - 110 

7.   Safeguarding Services 6 monthly report 
 

111 - 136 

8.   New safeguarding arrangements 
 

137 - 234 

9.   Select Committee work programme 
 

235 - 264 

10.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Children and Young People Select Committee 
Members 

Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting 
to be held on Tuesday, 10 March 2020.  
 
Kim Wright, Chief Executive 

Thursday, 27 February 2020 
 
  

Councillor Luke Sorba (Chair)  

Councillor Caroline Kalu (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Colin Elliott  

Councillor Octavia Holland  

Councillor Coral Howard  

Councillor Liz Johnston-Franklin  

Councillor Paul Maslin  

Councillor Hilary Moore  

Councillor Jacq Paschoud  

Councillor John Paschoud  

Lilian Brooks Parent Governor Representative - 
Primary Schools 

Kate Ward Parent Governor Representative - 
Secondary Schools 

Gail Exon Church Representative 

Monsignor N Rothon Church Representative 

Councillor Bill Brown (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Sakina Sheikh (ex-Officio)  

Emma Aye-Kumi  

Councillor Chris Barnham  
  

   



 

 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE SELECT COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 23 January 2020 at 7.00 pm 
 
 

PRESENT:  Councillors Luke Sorba (Chair), Caroline Kalu (Vice-Chair), Colin Elliott, 
Octavia Holland, Coral Howard, Liz Johnston-Franklin, Jacq Paschoud, John Paschoud, 
Lilian Brooks (Parent Governor Representative - Primary Schools), Gail Exon (Church 
Representative) and Monsignor N Rothon (Church Representative)  
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Paul Maslin and Hilary Moore 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Emma Aye-Kumi (Scrutiny Manager), Councillor Chris Barnham 
(Cabinet Member for School Performance and Children's Services), Pauline Maddison 
(Interim Executive Director Children and Young People), Risthardh Hare and Lucie 
Heyes (Assistant Director of Children's Social Care) 
 
 
 
1. Minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2019 

 
RESOLVED that, subject to all references to “Rockbourne Park” being replaced 
with “Rockbourne Youth Centre”, the minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 
2019 be agreed as a true and accurate record. 
 

2. Declarations of interest 
 
None. 
 

3. Responses to Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 
None due. 
 

4. Children's Social Care post Ofsted report 
 

4.1 Lucie Heyes, Director of Children’s Social Care (CSC), introduced the report and 
clarified that the report reflected the current position rather than that of 5 months 
ago when the inspection took place. 
 

4.2 In response to questions from the Committee it was noted that: 
1. The service was 1 year into a 3 year improvement programme, and this 

was the most difficult part of the improvement journey. 
2. Achieving 100% consistency would be hard to achieve. 
3. Ofsted had recognised that improvements were being made. The service 

had made good progress in the timescale. 
4. Problems with the corporate ICT provision were impacting negatively on 

service delivery. 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 

 
 
 

2 

5. Service-specific ICT issues were being managed and were reducing. The 
case management system was being redesigned and an ICT Board had 
been set up. 

6. In response to Ofsted’s finding that internal audits had been too positive, 
internal plans had been reviewed to address this. Audit now involved a 
moderation process to ensure better accuracy of self-assessments. 

7. A Domestic Violence (DV) specialist social worker was being recruited. 
This would also enable DV upskilling within the existing workforce. 

8. DV affects the whole community, not just children. CSC works with 
Community Safety, and DV is part of the Early Help (EH) Strategy as well 
as the Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategy, which is 
currently under review.  

9. The Committee was advised to look at DV as an item for the work 
programme in the next municipal year, perhaps jointly with the Safer 
Stronger Communities Select Committee. 

10. There is a strong link between social worker caseloads and retention. 
Caseloads were high at the time of the inspection. Caseloads fluctuate 
quickly, depending on the number of MASH referrals and thresholds, and 
can vary by 200 children from one month to the next. Meanwhile staffing 
levels are static. Caseloads are monitored weekly, and further work is 
being done to reduce workloads.  

11. Caseloads are being monitored to see if resource needs to be moved. 
12. A peer review was scheduled for early 2021. 
13. It was anticipated that a Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) would take 

place later this year.  
14. Consideration was being given to bringing Family Support Services (FSS) 

in-house. At present, there was no specific FSS. A wide range of edge-of-
care family support was being spot purchased from a range of providers. 
Creating an in-house FSS would mean better quality assurance.  

15. Work needed to be done on the cost implications (both set-up and 
ongoing) of bringing the FSS in-house. 

16. The quality of written plans, whether Child in Need, Child Protection or 
Care plans, is not always clear and understandable by the family. The 
issue is how it is written rather than the quality of the information. Plans 
are monitored through internal audit, then feedback is sought from the 
family. The Independent Child Protection Chair and the Independent 
Reviewing Officer also scrutinise the quality of the plans. 

17. The minimum frequency of visits under each of the plans is as follows: 
a. Child in Need – every 4 weeks 
b. Child Protection – every 10 working days 
c. Child Looked After – depends on the stability of the placement. 

Usually 4 weekly but can be extended to 6-8 weekly with the 
agreement of the child and carer. 

18. External services in the community can be useful in terms of preventative 
work and meeting cultural needs, but less useful for child protection work, 
which is usually mandated whereas voluntary organisations do not have 
the same legal obligations.  

 
4.3 RESOLVED that: 

1. The report be noted. 

Page 4



 

 
 
 

3 

2. Domestic Violence be suggested as an item for the CYP Select 
Committee’s work programme in the municipal year 2020/21.  

 
5. How living in temporary accommodation affects children and young people 

 
5.1 Lee Georgiou, Service Manager – Housing Needs and Refugee Services, 

introduced himself to the Committee and made the following points: 
1. The service aims to prevent people from becoming homeless in the first 

place, in accordance with the aims of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
(HRA). The introduction of the HRA has necessitated a culture change 
within the service. 

2. Demand for housing services is unprecedented. Applications requiring 
assessment have doubled. There are currently around 2600 households 
awaiting a housing plan. The administration of the assessment process is 
onerous.  

3. The number of households in temporary accommodation is increasing and 
there is insufficient social housing to meet demand, despite purchasing 
social housing through Lewisham Homes and the private market.  

4. Following the successful delivery of good quality temporary accommodation 
at PLACE Ladywell, PLACE Deptford is being created.  

5. Pressure on the service is immense. 
 

5.2 A discussion followed in which it was noted: 
1. Housing had received funding for trailblazing work with service delivery 

partners, including schools. Recently, housing officers had attended 
Lewisham’s head teacher forum to share contact information, structure 
chart, and to answer any questions. 

2. Schools are often the main source of support for homeless families, and 
as such they need to know how to access housing help for families. 

3. Housing officers acknowledged that sometimes the language used isn’t 
helpful to families, for example “temporary accommodation” could mean 
interim, emergency, or longer term. Families need clearer information to 
make informed decisions. 

4. The Housing department is working hard to change the misinformation 
that circulates in the community. The council has a statutory duty to 
prevent homelessness, which kicks in at 56 days before eviction. Some 
residents still think they need to wait for bailiffs to arrive before the 
council will offer support. 

5. Members had experienced a range of difficulties when trying to contact 
named housing officers, including dead phone numbers, phones ringing 
out, mailboxes full and unable to take messages, having to ask the 
Operator to email caseworkers to request that they empty their 
voicemail. Members stressed that service users need to be able to leave 
voicemail. 

6. The Committee heard that caseworkers are often out visiting properties 
therefore service users are asked to email so officers can call back 
when they are in the office. The Corporate Call Centre also takes calls.  

7. The Service Manager committed to updating the staff director and 
reminding staff that their voicemail must be regularly cleared to enable 
service users to leave messages. 

Page 5



 

 
 
 

4 

8. Members asked how many children were in nightly paid accommodation 
currently, and what could be done to reduce the number of households 
with children living in accommodation with shared facilities. Figures 
would be analysed and supplied after the meeting.  

9. Nightly paid accommodation is the most expensive and least suitable 
type of accommodation for families. Every effort was being made to limit 
its use and to convert or make more suitable accommodation available.  

10. Data on ethnicity of households in temporary accommodation, 
particularly those placed out of borough, and reasons for homelessness 
was requested. 

11. Members reported that for families with small children, waiting for long 
periods at the Housing Options Centre can be very difficult, particularly if 
they do not get the information they need. Schools could be a better 
source of information and support if they knew who to contact, and how. 

12. The triage process has been reviewed and an appointment system is in 
place. There had been some steps to provide the service in more child-
friendly locations in the community, such as Downham Leisure Centre 
but issues around confidentiality and appropriateness of settings has 
limited the roll out. 

13. The service was undergoing a culture change, moving away from ‘gate-
keeping’ to building relationships and trying to intervene early. 

14. The service does not recommend that families in interim 
accommodation move their children to a closer school. For these 
families, the service can exercise discretion about whether to support 
travel costs. 

15. One of the main reasons for homelessness is leaving friends or family 
accommodation. In these cases, the service has mediators who can 
help to work through relationship issues. However, the situation often 
arises because children have grown up but cannot afford to rent on their 
own and the family home becomes overcrowded.  

16. Whereas the impact of moving into temporary accommodation out of 
borough is massive, most people settle within 6 months and do not want 
to come back to the borough. 

17. “intentionally homeless” is a legal definition that applies where people 
have done or failed to do something with the result that they become 
homeless, for examples not paying affordable rent and becoming 
evicted, or a parent entering the criminal justice system. Such 
households are supported in that they have 28 days to find alternative 
accommodation and receive help with a deposit. 

18. The report would return to the next meeting with a set of draft 
recommendations. Members should email any suggestions to the 
Scrutiny Manager. 

19. The Chair urged Committee Members to bear in mind the impact of 
homelessness on families in terms of Members' work when social 
housing developments are proposed in the borough. 

 
 

5.3 RESOLVED that: 
1. The report be noted; 
2. That the Service Manager – Housing Needs and Refugee Services  

Page 6



 

 
 
 

5 

a. ensures that caseworkers’ voicemail inboxes are able to receive 
messages. 

b. provides the Committee with up to date figures showing: 
i.  the number of children currently in nightly paid shared-facility 

accommodation; 
ii. Ethnic breakdown of families in TA, and by location 
iii. Data on reasons for homelessness 

c. Update the staff directory to ensure the switchboard has working 
phone numbers for caseworkers 

 
6. Exclusion of the press and public 

 
RESOLVED that under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting during discussion of item 7 
because it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 3,4 and 5 or part 1 of Schedule 12A of the act, and the public interest 
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
exemption. 
 

7. Early Help Review 
 

7.1 Risthardh Hare, Service Manager – Early Help introduced the item. The 
Committee was invited to ask questions and the following was noted in: 

1. Members of the Committee once again requested that a needs assessment 
be carried out to inform the shaping of the Early Help (EH) service. 

2. An initial needs assessment had been carried out as had consultation with 
community stakeholders. Members stressed the need to triangulate 
resident views with an evidence based needs assessment.  

3. Officers were committed to the Committee’s continued involvement in the 
pre-decision work on EH. 

4. Currently there is no strategic identity to EH in Lewisham. The intention was 
to create a brand through iThrive, and to integrate services. 

5. Officers circulate a briefing on Riverside Youth Club and the Youth Service 
in due course. 

 
7.2 The time being 9:25pm it was MOVED, SECONDED and RESOLVED that 

standing orders be suspended to allow for the completion of committee business. 
 

6. EH would need a robust universal offer with a clear identity. 
7. A further update to be provided to the Committee in the new municipal year. 

  
7.3 RESOLVED that: 

1. the contents of the report be noted 
2. a further item on Early Help return to committee in the municipal year 

2020/21 
 

8. Select Committee work programme 
 

8.1 It was noted that: 

Page 7



 

 
 
 

6 

1. Members requested that the item on Unregulated Education Settings that 
had been received in December, return in March, with an officer present to 
answer questions. 

2. The report should cover unregulated settings, Alternative Provision (AP) 
and Elective Home Education (EHE). 

3. Members asked that the report give an understanding of Lewisham figures, 
how this compares with London/ statistical neighbours/ other boroughs and 
any concerns the Committee should be aware of. 

4. The follow up item on the in-depth review of exclusions from school should 
include a table of recommendations and actions against each one. 
Members had found this format easy to follow when reviewing progress 
following previous in-depth reviews. 

5. The item “How living in Temporary Accommodation affects children” should 
return in March with a draft set of recommendations. 

6. Members of the Committee would shortly receive an invitation to attend 
Housing Select Committee on 12 March at 7:30pm, at which they could 
feed into the discussion homelessness reduction. 

 
8.2 RESOLVED that  

1. the items for consideration at the next meeting be as follows: 
a. Safeguarding Services 6 monthly report and update on the new 

safeguarding arrangements 
b. Exclusions from school indepth review follow up – to include a table 

setting out the recommendations and actions taken against each one 
c. Annual schools standards report 2018/19 
d. Unregulated education settings, alternative provision and elective 

home education – how Lewisham compares with other boroughs and 
London generally, highlighting any concerns. Officer attendance 
required. 

e. Children in Temporary Accommodation draft recommendations 
f. Corporate Parenting and LAC annual report (for information – officer 

attendance not required). 
2. Members of the Committee are invited to attend Housing Select Committee 

on 12 March at 7:30pm  
 

9. Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

9.1 RESOLVED that a referral be made to Mayor and Cabinet as follows: 
 
ICT problems have been a recurring issue at CYP Select Committee, affecting 
service delivery. The Committee has heard on numerous occasions through the 
course of this municipal year that problems with the ICT affects Children’s Social 
Care, as well as other services that the Committee scrutinises. 
 
The Children and Young People’s Select Committee recommends that the Mayor 
and Cabinet takes urgent action to address the recurring problems with the 
corporate ICT.  
 

9.2 The meeting ended at 9.42 pm 
 
 

Page 8



 

 
 
 

7 

Chair:  
 ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
Date: 
 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee Children and Young People Select Committee Item No. 2 

Title Declarations of Interest 

Wards  

Contributors Chief Executive  

Class Part 1 Date 10 March 2020 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. 
 
1 Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code 
of Conduct :-  

 
(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2)  Other registerable interests 
(3)  Non-registerable interests 

 
2 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 
(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain 
 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 

Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c)  Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 

partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works. 

 
(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the Council 

is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a partner, a body 
corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which they have a 
beneficial interest.   

 
(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 
 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and  

 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



 (b)  either 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
(3)  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes , or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party 

 
(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £25 
 
(4) Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not 
required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests  (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

 
 
(5)  Declaration and Impact of interest on member’s participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity  and in any event 
before the matter is considered.  The declaration will be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest the 
member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw from 
the room before it is considered.  They must not seek improperly to influence 
the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or 
participation where such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and 
on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the 

Page 12



meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is 
considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in consideration of the 
matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below applies. 
 

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member 
of the public in possession of the facts would think that their interest is so 
significant that it would be likely to impair the member’s judgement of the 
public interest.  If so, the member must withdraw  and take no part in 
consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, 

their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the 
local area generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of 
interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal 

judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
(6)   Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests.  These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered.  Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

  
(7) Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so.  
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the 
matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are 
a governor;  

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d)  Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 
(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Children and Young People’s Select Committee 

 

 

1. Policy Context 

1.1. Lewisham’s 2018-2022 Corporate Strategy sets out the Council’s ambitions making a 
difference and changing lives for Lewisham residents. For Lewisham’s children and young 
people this is about giving them the best start in life and ensuring that ‘every child has 
access to an outstanding and inspiring education and is given the support they need to 
keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential’. The Children and Young 
People’s Plan recognises that  improving educational outcomes also encompasses 
improving attendance and engagement in school at all levels as well as raising 
achievement and progress for all our children at key stages and closing the gaps between 
under-achieving groups at primary and secondary school.  

Report title: Standards Report Primary and Secondary schools 

Date: 27 February 2020 

Key decision: No.  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Angela Scattergood, Director of Education 

Outline and recommendations 

Summary 

This report sets out the final and validated results for Lewisham schools in 2019. It offers a 
headline analysis and outlines in summary the action being taken to address the issues 
highlighted in the report. The report aims to give the Committee an in-depth understanding 
of achievement in Lewisham schools and forms a basis of information to underpin borough-
wide and school level action to improve achievement, especially of underperforming 
groups. 

Recommendations 

The committee is recommended to comment on and note the report. 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



2 

 

2.        Background 

2.1. Every year officers report to the CYP Select Committee on School outcomes at all key 
stages. This report includes the outcomes of all schools in the borough, including 
academies. 

2.2. The data in this report is from a range of sources as outlined in Appendix 1. It is used 
across the education system to identify and address underachievement as part of a self-
improving school system. It helps shape our strategic plans and work around Special 
Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND), reducing exclusions, post 16 participation, 
parent engagement and wider children’s services plans. 

2.3. A detailed report, provided by the Director of Lewisham Learning, is attached as Appendix 
1.  

 

3. Standards Report Primary and Secondary Schools 

3.1.  Primary School Ofsted Outcomes 

3.1.1. There are 63 primary schools across Lewisham. 60 are rated ‘Outstanding’ or Good by 
Ofsted (95.6%) and three are rated as ‘Requires Improvement’. This compares well to 
statistical neighbours and the national average. 

3.2. Secondary School Ofsted Outcomes 

3.2.1. Lewisham has two secondary schools rated ‘Outstanding’, eight ‘Good’, and four rated as 
‘Requires Improvement’. 71.4% of secondary schools in Lewisham are ‘Good’ or 
‘Outstanding’. This compares well to statistical neighbours and the national average. 

3.3. Primary – Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS), KS1 and KS2 outcomes summary 

3.3.1. Lewisham performs well across the primary phase, although performance has generally 
fallen slightly from 2018. 
 

3.3.2. At the end of the EYFS, Lewisham continues to perform well on the headline measure of 
Good Level of Development (GLD). 76% of pupils achieved this measure in 2019, ranking 
Lewisham 12th of all local authorities in England  
 

3.3.3. At Key Stage 1, the percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard or greater depth 
in reading and writing is still above the national average.  
 

3.3.4. At Key Stage 2, in the key measure of children achieving expected or above in reading, 
writing and maths combined, our 11 year olds continue to perform above national  at 68%, 
compared to national 65%. Lewisham pupils also outperformed national averages in 
reading and maths, but are below national averages in writing. Writing progress was low, 
ranking as one of the lowest progress scores across all local authorities in England.   
 

3.3.5. The gap between disadvantaged White British pupils and other White British pupils through 
the primary phase is 41 percentage points for the proportion achieving the expected or 
higher standard in Key Stage 2 Reading, Writing and Maths (RWM) combined. This is in 
line with the national gap. 
 

3.3.6. At the end of the EYFS there is a 9 percentage point advantage for pupils who speak 
English as their first language compared to their peers who have English as an additional 
language (EAL). However, this gap closes by the end Key Stage 1, and reverses in Key 

Page 16



3 

Stage 2, so that EAL pupils slightly outperform other pupils at the end of the key stage.  
 

3.3.7. In 2019 Black Caribbean pupils had the lowest achievement of all groups in Lewisham at 
the end of Key stage 2. This mirrors the national picture. 

3.4. Secondary and Post 16 (KS4 and KS5) outcomes summary  

3.4.1. Outcomes at Key stage 4 in Lewisham secondary schools are lower than statistical 
neighbours and national averages.  
 

3.4.2. At Key Stage 4, achievement in Lewisham has fallen for most indicators and ranks low 
against statistical neighbours. The only Key Stage 4 indicator for which Lewisham is above 
the national average is EBacc entries.  
 

3.4.3. In 2019 Black Caribbean pupils had the lowest achievement at the end of Key stage 4. This 
mirrors national outcomes. 
 

3.4.4. The gap is wide between disadvantaged White British pupils and other White British pupils. 
19% of disadvantaged White British pupils achieve 9-5 passes at GCSE in English and 
maths, compared to 63% of other White British pupils. This gap is in line with the national 
gap. 
 

3.4.5. Lewisham’s SEN Support cohort performs above the national average whilst pupils with an 
education health care plan (EHCP) achieve less than the cohort nationally. However, 22% 
of EHCP pupils qualified to level 3 by age 19, the highest percentage amongst statistical 
neighbours, and the 12th highest in England. 
 

3.4.6. At Key Stage 5, the Average Point Score (APS) for Lewisham level 3 pupils has improved 
again this year. However, Lewisham still ranks in the bottom quartile of local authorities in 
England.  
 

3.4.7. Lewisham is above the England APS in applied general, and is level with the national 
average for the tech level APS. 
 

3.4.8. The percentage of pupils achieving level 3 by age 19 in Lewisham tends to be above 
national averages, but below Lewisham’s statistical neighbours averages, across various 
pupil groups. 
 

3.4.9. There is some evidence that Lewisham’s relatively poor Key Stage 4 performance is driven 
by higher attainers attending schools outside the local authority. At 46.3, the average 
Attainment 8 amongst all Lewisham residents is 2.6 points higher than the average across 
Lewisham schools. This suggests that some high attaining pupils who live in Lewisham are 
attending schools in other local authorities, and some lower attaining pupils from other local 
authorities are attending schools in Lewisham. Only two London local authorities have a 
more extreme example of this (Harrow and Richmond upon Thames).  

3.5. Key performance measures requiring rapid improvement across all phases in 2019-
20 

a. Bring about rapid improvement in the small number of schools causing concern 

b. Reduce underachievement for white, disadvantaged pupils 

c. Reduce underachievement for Black Caribbean pupils 

 

3.6. Specific Primary Issues 

a. Increase KS2 progress in all subjects but especially in writing 

Page 17



4 

b. Improve KS2 writing at the higher level (greater depth) 

3.7.  Specific Secondary Issues 

a. Improve attainment overall 

b. Improve progress overall 

 

3.8. Actions to address the issues highlighted 

3.81 The LA in partnership with Lewisham Learning will: 
a. continue to work with the LA, schools, partners and key stakeholders, including parents and 

young people, to develop and implement Lewisham’s education strategy  

b. continue to support and challenge  individual schools, governors, senior leaders, middle 

leaders and teacher networks to bring about improved outcomes  

c. continue to develop the Lewisham Learning School Improvement Framework to provide 

more rigorous monitoring and hold school leaders and providers to account for the 

resources deployed 

d. continue to develop the Lewisham Learning partnership to ensure it builds capacity and 

uses it effectively through a school led approach to school improvement 

e. develop and pilot a robust approach to peer review in primary and secondary schools to 

improve the accuracy and validity of school self-evaluation 

f. Prioritise work to address the key issues identified above. In particular focus on work to; 

 narrow the achievement gap for Black Caribbean pupils  

 narrow the achievement gap for disadvantaged white British pupils 

g. evaluate the impact of specific practice and interventions in our schools to capitalise on 

success and ensure the best use of resource 

4.  Financial implications  

4.1.  As this is a service update, there are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

5. Legal implications 

5.1. Section 13A of the Education Act 1996 requires that local authorities must ensure that their 
relevant education and training functions are exercised by the authority with a view to 
promoting high standards, ensuring fair access to opportunity for education and training 
and promoting the fulfilment of learning potential by persons under the age of 20 and in 
relation to persons aged 20 or over for whom an Education Care and Health Plan is 
maintained.” 

6. Equalities implications 

6.1. Both maintained schools, academies and the council must, in the exercise of their 
functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations, between 
those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 
149 Equality Act 2010). They have a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or 
minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, and encourage people to participate in 
public life. Schools and the council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice 
and promote understanding. This report does not include any recommendations that will 
have any adverse impact on equality groups. In analysing the data, consideration has been 
given to gaining an understanding of the inequality issues for specific groups of children 
and young people, by gender, ethnicity, first language, special educational needs and 
disabilities. By the actions described in this report schools and the council are working to 
improve the attainment and progress of all groups of pupils, including BAME and 
disadvantaged groups, where there is underachievement.  

Page 18



 

7. Climate change and environmental implications 

7.1 There are no environmental implications. 

8. Crime and disorder implications 

8.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications 

9. Health and wellbeing implications  

9.1 There are no specific health and implications  

10. Background papers 

10.1 Lewisham Learning Report on pupil achievement in Lewisham  

11.Glossary  

Term Definition 

SEND Special Education Needs and Disabilities  

GLD Good Level of Development  

EYFS Early Years Foundation Stage  

KS1, KS2 and KS4 Key Stage 1, Key stage 2, key Stage 4 

EAL English as an additional language 

GCSE General Certificate of Secondary Education 

EHCP education health care plan  

APS Average Point Score  

 

12. Report author and contact 

Angela Scattergood Director of Education

Page 19



 

6 

 

Appendix 1  

 

 

 

Report on 2019 pupil achievement in Lewisham  

 Analysis by key stage and groups, including comparison with statistical neighbours and national data 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sandra Roberts Director Lewisham Learning February 2020 

 

P
age 20



 

7 

 

 

Contents 

1. Executive Summary  

2. Introduction and Lewisham Context with Ofsted ratings 

3. Early Years Outcomes summary 

4. Year 1 Phonics and Key Stage 1 summary of Outcomes 

5. Key Stage 2 summary of Outcomes 

6. Primary phase outcomes by pupil group 

7. Key Stage 4 summary of Outcomes 

8. Key Stage 4 Summary of Outcomes by Pupil Group 

9. Key Stage 5 summary of Outcomes 

10. Level 2 and 3 attainment by age 19  

11. Sources 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 21



 

8 

 

 

Standards Report Primary and Secondary Schools Executive Summary  

The aim of this report is to provide a summary of attainment and progress data in Lewisham across school phases. The report highlights areas 
where Lewisham’s performance is noticeably different from statistical neighbours, national averages and also the difference in performance between 
subgroups of pupils. The report is split into primary and secondary phases.  

 

Primary School Ofsted Outcomes 

There are 63 primary schools across Lewisham. 60 are rated ‘Outstanding’ or Good by Ofsted (95.6%) and three are rated as ‘Requires 
Improvement’. This compares well to statistical neighbours and the national average. 

Secondary School Ofsted Outcomes 

Lewisham has two secondary schools rated ‘Outstanding’, eight ‘Good’, and four rated as ‘Requires Improvement’. 71.4% of secondary schools in 
Lewisham are ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. This compares well to statistical neighbours and the national average. 

Primary – Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS), KS1 and KS2 outcomes summary 

Lewisham performs well across the primary phase, although performance has generally fallen slightly from 2018. 

At the end of the EYFS, Lewisham continues to perform well on the headline measure of Good Level of Development (GLD). 76% of pupils achieved 
this measure in 2019, ranking Lewisham 12th of all local authorities in England  

At Key Stage 1, the percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard or greater depth in reading and writing is still above the national average.  

At Key Stage 2, in the key measure of children achieving expected or above in reading, writing and maths combined, our 11 year olds continue to 
perform above national  at 68%, compared to national 65%. Lewisham pupils also outperformed national averages in reading and maths, but are 
below national averages in writing. Writing progress was low, ranking as one of the lowest progress scores across all local authorities in England.   

The gap between disadvantaged White British pupils and other White British pupils through the primary phase is 41 percentage points for the 
proportion achieving the expected or higher standard in Key Stage 2 Reading, Writing and Maths (RWM) combined. This is in line with the national 
gap. 

At the end of the EYFS there is a 9 percentage point advantage for pupils who speak English as their first language compared to their peers who 

P
age 22



 

9 

 

have English as an additional language (EAL). However, this gap closes by the end Key Stage 1, and reverses in Key Stage 2, so that EAL pupils 
slightly outperform other pupils at the end of the key stage.  

In 2019 Black Caribbean pupils had the lowest achievement of all groups in Lewisham at the end of Key stage 2. This mirrors the national picture. 

Secondary and Post 16 (KS4 and KS5) outcomes summary  

Outcomes at Key stage 4 in Lewisham secondary schools are lower than statistical neighbours and national averages.  

At Key Stage 4, achievement in Lewisham has fallen for most indicators and ranks low against statistical neighbours. The only Key Stage 4 indicator 
for which Lewisham is above the national average is EBacc entries.  

In 2019 Black Caribbean pupils had the lowest achievement at the end of Key stage 4. This mirrors national outcomes. 

The gap is wide between disadvantaged White British pupils and other White British pupils. 19% of disadvantaged White British pupils achieve 9-5 
passes at GCSE in English and maths, compared to 63% of other White British pupils. This gap is in line with the national gap. 

Lewisham’s SEN Support cohort performs above the national average whilst pupils with an education health care plan (EHCP) achieve less than the 
cohort nationally. However, 22% of EHCP pupils qualified to level 3 by age 19, the highest percentage amongst statistical neighbours, and the 12th 
highest in England. 

At Key Stage 5, the Average Point Score (APS) for Lewisham level 3 pupils has improved again this year. However, Lewisham still ranks in the 
bottom quartile of local authorities in England.  

Lewisham is above the England APS in applied general, and is level with the national average for the tech level APS. 

The percentage of pupils achieving level 3 by age 19 in Lewisham tends to be above national averages, but below Lewisham’s statistical neighbours 
averages, across various pupil groups. 

There is some evidence that Lewisham’s relatively poor Key Stage 4 performance is driven by higher attainers attending schools outside the local 
authority. At 46.3, the average Attainment 8 amongst all Lewisham residents is 2.6 points higher than the average across Lewisham schools. This 
suggests that some high attaining pupils who live in Lewisham are attending schools in other local authorities, and some lower attaining pupils from 
other local authorities are attending schools in Lewisham. Only two London local authorities have a more extreme example of this (Harrow and 
Richmond upon Thames).  

Key performance measures requiring rapid improvement across all phases in 2019-20 

P
age 23



 

10 

 

 Bring about rapid improvement in the small number of schools causing concern 

 Reduce underachievement for white, disadvantaged pupils 

 Reduce underachievement for Black Caribbean pupils 

 

Specific Primary Issues 

 Increase KS2 progress in all subjects but especially in writing 

 Improve KS2 writing at the higher level (greater depth) 

Specific Secondary Issues 

 Improve attainment overall 

 Improve progress overall 

 Actions to address the issues highlighted 

The LA in partnership with Lewisham Learning will: 

 continue to work with the LA, schools, partners and key stakeholders, including parents and young people, to develop and implement 
Lewisham’s education strategy  

 continue to support and challenge  individual schools, governors, senior leaders, middle leaders and teacher networks to bring about 
improved outcomes  

 continue to develop the Lewisham Learning School Improvement Framework to provide more rigorous monitoring and hold school leaders 
and providers to account for the resources deployed 

 continue to develop the Lewisham Learning partnership to ensure it builds capacity and uses it effectively through a school led approach to 
school improvement 

 develop and pilot a robust approach to peer review in primary and secondary schools to improve the accuracy and validity of school self-
evaluation 

 Prioritise work to address the key issues identified above. In particular focus on work to; 

 narrow the achievement gap for Black Caribbean pupils  

P
age 24



 

11 

 

 narrow the achievement gap for disadvantaged white British pupils 

 evaluate the impact of specific practice and interventions in our schools to capitalise on success and ensure the best use of resource 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 25



 

12 

 

1. Introduction and Context 
 

1.1. The aim of this report is to provide a summary of attainment and progress data in Lewisham across school phases. The report highlights 
areas where Lewisham’s performance is noticeably different from statistical neighbours, national averages and also the difference in 
performance between subgroups of pupils. The report is split into primary and secondary phases.  
 

1.2. How to interpret the analysis 

Each section includes a graphical summary of outcomes. Each indicator in the summary has: 

 A trend line to show Lewisham’s change over the past three years (subject to availability of the data) 

 A rank of Lewisham against its ten statistical neighbours and the 151 local authorities in England (although in some instances some data is 
suppressed and therefore excluded from the rankings). "-" means data is unavailable. London ranks discussed in this report are generally out 
of 32 London local authorities (excluding the City of London) 

 Two bar charts showing the difference to Lewisham’s statistical neighbour average and the England average. Note that if the indicator is a 
percentage the difference is shown in percentage points; for example, 20% vs 23% is a 3 percentage point difference. If the indicator is a 
number, the difference is a percentage, for example, 100 vs 110 is a 10% difference 

 A three-year trend showing how Lewisham performs against national using the same basis as the national bar chart. The latest year of data is 
on the right. 

 

Rank Rank Trend

0% 0%

Good level of development 79% 78% 76%  -2% 73% 2nd 71% 72% 72% - 12th

Male 74% 72% 70%  -2% 68% 3rd 64% 65% 66% +1% 16th

Female 84% 85% 83%  -2% 80% 2nd 78% 78% 78% - 11th

Average Point Score 33.3 33.4 33.7 +0.3 34.5 9th 34.5 34.6 34.6 - 120th

Male 32.7 32.7 32.9 +0.2 33.4 8th 33.3 33.4 33.4 - 100th

Female 33.9 34.1 34.5 +0.4 35.7 10th 35.7 35.8 35.8 - 127th

Listening & attention - expected or exceeding 90% 89% 88%  -1% 85% 1st 86% 86% 86% - 28th

Understanding - expected or exceeding 89% 89% 88%  -1% 85% 1st 86% 86% 86% - 27th

Speaking - expected or exceeding 89% 88% 87%  -1% 84% 1st 85% 86% 85%  -1% 37th

Moving & handling - expected or exceeding 94% 94% 94% - 90% 1st 90% 90% 89%  -1% 4th

Health & self-care - expected or exceeding 95% 95% 94%  -1% 91% 1st 91% 91% 91% - 11th

Self-confidence & self-awareness - expected or exceeding 93% 91% 91% - 88% 1st 89% 89% 89% - 23rd

Managing feelings & behaviour - expected or exceeding 93% 91% 90%  -1% 87% 1st 88% 88% 87%  -1% 13th

Making relationships - expected or exceeding 93% 92% 91%  -1% 89% 1st 90% 90% 89%  -1% 30th

Reading - expected or exceeding 83% 82% 81%  -1% 78% 1st 77% 77% 77% - 14th

Writing - expected or exceeding 81% 80% 79%  -1% 75% 1st 73% 74% 74% - 9th

Numbers - expected or exceeding 86% 85% 84%  -1% 81% 1st 79% 80% 80% - 10th

Shape, space & measures - expected or exceeding 88% 86% 86% - 82% 1st 82% 82% 82% - 10th

People & communities - expected or exceeding 91% 90% 89%  -1% 85% 1st 86% 86% 86% - 17th

The world - expected or exceeding 91% 90% 90% - 85% 1st 86% 86% 86% - 14th

Technology - expected or exceeding 95% 95% 94%  -1% 92% 1st 93% 93% 93% - 58th

Exploring and using media & materials - expected or exceeding 94% 94% 92%  -2% 89% 1st 89% 89% 89% - 14th

Being imaginative 94% 94% 92%  -2% 89% 1st 88% 89% 89% - 17th

E
Y

F
S

P

G
L
D

E
A

D
U

T
W

M
a

th
L
it

P
S

E
D

P
D

C
L
L

A
P

S

Lewisham Statistical Neighbours England

2017 2018
Latest Diff. Latest Diff.

2019
Latest 

Change
Trend

Latest 

Avg.

LA vs Stat. Neigh.
2017 2018 2019

Latest 

Change

LA vs England

-5% +5% -5% +5%

+3% +4%

+2% +4%

+3%

+3% +4%

+4% +4%

+4% +3%

+2%

 -2%  -3%

 -1%  -1%

 -3%  -4%

+3% +5%

+3% +2%

+3% +2%

+3%

+3% +3%

+2%

+4% +5%

+3%

+4%

+2% +1%

+3%

+3%

+3% +2%

+2%

+3% +4%

+4% +5%

+3% +3%

+5%

The best performing statistical neighbour has a 

rank of 1st, while the worst is ranked 11th 

 

The best performing local authority has a rank of 

1st, while the worst is ranked 151st 

 

The bar is green where Lewisham performs better than 

the statistical neighbour or national average, and red 

when worse. If the gap is greater than 5% an arrow is 

shown on the end of the bar 

 

Trend lines show the best year’s performance with a green dot, and 

the worst with a red dot. Latest year is on the right of the line 

 

A 3 year trend of how Lewisham compares to 

national. Latest year is on the right 

 

Ranks in the top/bottom quartile 
amongst statistical neighbours and 

in England are highlighted 

Changes on the prior year are 
shown in green if positive and red if 

negative. “-“means no change 

P
age 26



 

13 

 

1.3. Statistical neighbours 
1.3.1. Statistical neighbours are a way of benchmarking performance against other local authorities that have similar characteristics, rather than 

simply being geographically close. The statistical neighbours for Lewisham are listed below along with their approximate school population 

size. 

 

 

1.3.2. Please see table below for a breakdown by characteristic of the 2019 Year 6 cohort in Lewisham 

 

LA School population

Croydon 65,000

Enfield 60,000

Brent 51,000

Southwark 49,000

Greenwich 48,000

Waltham Forest 45,000

Hackney 45,000

Lewisham 42,000

Haringey 42,000

Lambeth 40,000

Islington 26,000

P
age 27



 

14 

 
 

P
age 28



 

15 

 

1.3.3. Please see table below for a breakdown by characteristic of the 2019 Year 11 cohort in Lewisham 

 

P
age 29



 

16 

 

1.4. Primary Phase Ofsted judgements 
1.4.1. There are 63 primary schools across Lewisham. Seventeen are rated ‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted, 43 are ‘Good’, and three are scored as 

‘Requires Improvement’. 95.6% of primary schools in Lewisham are ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. This compares well to comparable local 
authorities, 2.7 percentage points above the average across Lewisham’s statistical neighbours and higher than the percentage across 
London (89%) and England (88%). 
 

1.5. Secondary Phase Ofsted Outcomes 
1.5.1. Lewisham has two secondary schools rated ‘Outstanding’, eight ‘Good’, and four rated as ‘Requires Improvement’. 71.4% of secondary 

schools in Lewisham are ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’, compared to statistical neighbours (82%) London (83%) and England (79% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 30



 

17 

 

2. Early Years Foundation Stage Summary of Outcomes 

 

Rank Rank Trend

0% 0%

Good level of development 79% 78% 76%  -2% 73% 2nd 71% 72% 72% - 12th

Male 74% 72% 70%  -2% 68% 3rd 64% 65% 66% +1% 16th

Female 84% 85% 83%  -2% 80% 2nd 78% 78% 78% - 11th

Average Point Score 33.3 33.4 33.7 +0.3 34.5 9th 34.5 34.6 34.6 - 120th

Male 32.7 32.7 32.9 +0.2 33.4 8th 33.3 33.4 33.4 - 100th

Female 33.9 34.1 34.5 +0.4 35.7 10th 35.7 35.8 35.8 - 127th

Listening & attention - expected or exceeding 90% 89% 88%  -1% 85% 1st 86% 86% 86% - 28th

Understanding - expected or exceeding 89% 89% 88%  -1% 85% 1st 86% 86% 86% - 27th

Speaking - expected or exceeding 89% 88% 87%  -1% 84% 1st 85% 86% 85%  -1% 37th

Moving & handling - expected or exceeding 94% 94% 94% - 90% 1st 90% 90% 89%  -1% 4th

Health & self-care - expected or exceeding 95% 95% 94%  -1% 91% 1st 91% 91% 91% - 11th

Self-confidence & self-awareness - expected or exceeding 93% 91% 91% - 88% 1st 89% 89% 89% - 23rd

Managing feelings & behaviour - expected or exceeding 93% 91% 90%  -1% 87% 1st 88% 88% 87%  -1% 13th

Making relationships - expected or exceeding 93% 92% 91%  -1% 89% 1st 90% 90% 89%  -1% 30th

Reading - expected or exceeding 83% 82% 81%  -1% 78% 1st 77% 77% 77% - 14th

Writing - expected or exceeding 81% 80% 79%  -1% 75% 1st 73% 74% 74% - 9th

Numbers - expected or exceeding 86% 85% 84%  -1% 81% 1st 79% 80% 80% - 10th

Shape, space & measures - expected or exceeding 88% 86% 86% - 82% 1st 82% 82% 82% - 10th

People & communities - expected or exceeding 91% 90% 89%  -1% 85% 1st 86% 86% 86% - 17th

The world - expected or exceeding 91% 90% 90% - 85% 1st 86% 86% 86% - 14th

Technology - expected or exceeding 95% 95% 94%  -1% 92% 1st 93% 93% 93% - 58th

Exploring and using media & materials - expected or exceeding 94% 94% 92%  -2% 89% 1st 89% 89% 89% - 14th

Being imaginative 94% 94% 92%  -2% 89% 1st 88% 89% 89% - 17th

E
Y

F
S

P

G
L
D

E
A

D
U

T
W

M
a

th
L
it

P
S

E
D

P
D

C
L
L

A
P

S
Lewisham Statistical Neighbours England

2017 2018
Latest Diff. Latest Diff.

2019
Latest 

Change
Trend

Latest 

Avg.

LA vs Stat. Neigh.
2017 2018 2019

Latest 

Change

LA vs England

-5% +5% -5% +5%

+3% +4%

+2% +4%

+3%

+3% +4%

+4% +4%

+4% +3%

+2%

 -2%  -3%

 -1%  -1%

 -3%  -4%

+3% +5%

+3% +2%

+3% +2%

+3%

+3% +3%

+2%

+4% +5%

+3%

+4%

+2% +1%

+3%

+3%

+3% +2%

+2%

+3% +4%

+4% +5%

+3% +3%

+5%

P
age 31



 

18 

 

3.1. At EYFS, Lewisham maintained its strong performance in 2019. Despite a 2 percentage point fall from 2018, 76% of pupils 

in Lewisham achieved a GLD. This compares well to other local authorities, the 12th highest LA in England, 2nd amongst 

Lewisham’s statistical neighbours, and 6th highest in London. Girls in Lewisham do even better, ranking 11th highest in 

England, with 83% achieving GLD. 

 

3.2. Lewisham ranks in the top quartile of local authorities in England for the percentages of pupils achieving the expected or above 

level in each aspect of EYFS, except technology. Lewisham is the best performing local authority amongst their statistical 

neighbours for every aspect. This is despite falls in the percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard or above for a 

majority of the EYFS aspects. Lewisham pupils perform particularly well for ‘Moving & handling’, ranking 4th highest in England, 

5 percentage points above the England average. 

 
3.3. Despite this strong performance, and despite increases on 2018, EYFS average point scores (APS) for male and female 

students in Lewisham are below both their statistical neighbour and National averages. Lewisham’s EYFS APS of 33.7 ranks 

31st in London. In fact, at 34.5, the APS of girls in Lewisham ranks in the lowest quartile of local authorities in England, 1.3 

points below the England average. This is despite a 0.4 points improvement on 2018. This suggests that a disproportionately 

low percentage of pupils are exceeding the expected level.  

  

P
age 32



 

19 

 

4. Year 1 Phonics and Key Stage 1 Summary of Outcomes 

Rank Rank Trend

0% 0%

Meeting year 1 phonics standard 81% 84% 81%  -3% 84% 10th 81% 82% 82% - 94th

Male 77% 80% 78%  -2% 81% 10th 78% 79% 78%  -1% 88th

Female 84% 87% 85%  -2% 87% 10th 85% 86% 85%  -1% 90th

KS1 reading expected or greater depth 80% 78% 76%  -2% 77% 7th 76% 75% 75% - 49th

Male 76% 75% 72%  -3% 73% 9th 71% 71% 71% - 52nd

Female 83% 81% 81% - 81% 7th 80% 80% 79%  -1% 48th

KS1 reading greater depth 25% 26% 24%  -2% 27% 9th 25% 26% 25%  -1% 85th

Male 22% 22% 21%  -1% 23% 8th 22% 22% 22% - 85th

Female 29% 29% 28%  -1% 30% 9th 29% 29% 29% - 88th

KS1 writing expected or greater depth 73% 73% 70%  -3% 72% 9th 68% 70% 69%  -1% 61st

Male 68% 68% 64%  -4% 67% 9th 62% 63% 63% - 60th

Female 78% 78% 76%  -2% 78% 9th 75% 77% 76%  -1% 69th

KS1 writing greater depth 18% 16% 14%  -2% 18% 9th 16% 16% 15%  -1% 86th

Male 14% 12% 11%  -1% 14% 10th 11% 12% 11%  -1% 77th

Female 22% 20% 18%  -2% 21% 9th 20% 20% 19%  -1% 95th

KS1 maths expected or greater depth 78% 78% 76%  -2% 78% 9th 75% 76% 76% - 67th

Male 77% 78% 74%  -4% 76% 9th 74% 75% 75% - 79th

Female 78% 79% 78%  -1% 79% 9th 76% 77% 77% - 59th

KS1 maths greater depth 22% 22% 21%  -1% 24% 10th 21% 22% 22% - 96th

Male 25% 25% 24%  -1% 26% 10th 22% 24% 24% - 85th

Female 19% 19% 18%  -1% 22% 10th 19% 20% 19%  -1% 107th

 -2% 0%

 -4%  -1%

 -2%  -1%

 -1% +1%

 -3%  -1%

 -3% 0%

 -3%  -1%

 -2% 0%

 -2% +1%

0% +2%

 -1% +1%

W
ri

ti
n

g
M

a
th

s

 -3% 0%

 -2% 0%

 -3%  -1%

 -2%  -1%

 -2%  -1%

K
S

1
 A

tt
a

in
m

e
n

t

R
e

a
d

in
g

 -3% +1%

 -2% 0%

Lewisham Statistical Neighbours England

2017 2018 2019
Latest 

Change
Trend

Latest 

Avg.

LA vs Stat. Neigh.
2017

-5% +5% -5% +5%

2018 2019
Latest 

Change

 -4%  -1%

 -3%  -1%

 -1% +1%

LA vs England

Latest Diff. Latest Diff.

P
h

o
n

ic
s

P
age 33



 

20 

 

 

4.1. Year 1 phonics attainment in Lewisham has fallen from 2018, returning to levels similar to 2017. Having fallen 3 percentage points 

from 2018, 81% of pupils met the year 1 phonics standard, now 1 percentage point below the England average. This ranks Lewisham 10th 

amongst its statistical neighbours and 29th across London. The London average is 84%. As in 2018, the gender gap is 7 percentage points, 

with 85% of girls, and 78% of boys reaching the standard. Both these scores also rank 10th amongst Lewisham’s statistical neighbours. 

 

4.2. At Key Stage 1, despite falling from 2018, the percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard or greater depth in reading and 

writing in Lewisham is still above the England average. While Lewisham remains above or level with National averages for most 

measures, Lewisham is below their statistical neighbour and London averages for every Key Stage 1 headline indicator. 

 

4.3. In maths, the percentage of boys reaching the expected standard or above fell 4 percentage points and is 1 percentage point below the 

national average.  

 
4.4. Across all three subjects, the proportion of pupils achieving greater depth has fallen below National averages. In maths, only 18% of girls and 

24% of boys reached greater depth, ranking 10th amongst Lewisham’s statistical neighbours. This is an example of boys outperforming girls, 

a trend seen across England.  

P
age 34



 

21 

 

5. Key Stage 2 Summary of Outcomes 

 

Rank Rank Trend

0% 0%

KS2 reading expected or higher standard 72% 79% 76%  -3% 76% 5th 72% 76% 74%  -2% 44th

Male 67% 75% 71%  -4% 71% 5th 69% 72% 69%  -3% 50th

Female 76% 82% 81%  -1% 80% 5th 76% 80% 78%  -2% 45th

KS2 reading higher standard 25% 31% 29%  -2% 29% 6th 25% 28% 27%  -1% 49th

Male 22% 28% 24%  -4% 24% 7th 22% 24% 23%  -1% 55th

Female 29% 35% 34%  -1% 34% 6th 28% 33% 32%  -1% 46th

KS2 writing expected or higher standard 78% 79% 78%  -1% 81% 11th 77% 79% 79% - 91st

Male 71% 74% 72%  -2% 76% 11th 71% 73% 73% - 97th

Female 84% 85% 84%  -1% 87% 10th 83% 85% 85% - 94th

KS2 writing greater depth 17% 19% 16%  -3% 24% 11th | 18% 20% 20% - 130th

Male 13% 15% 12%  -3% 18% 11th | 13% 15% 15% - 133rd

Female 21% 23% 20%  -3% 29% 10th | 23% 25% 26% +1% 130th |

KS2 maths expected or higher standard 74% 79% 81% +2% 82% 5th 75% 76% 79% +3% 41st

Male 73% 78% 79% +1% 80% 7th 75% 76% 79% +3% 67th

Female 76% 81% 83% +2% 83% 6th 76% 76% 80% +4% 35th

KS2 maths higher standard 24% 28% 30% +2% 31% 5th 23% 24% 27% +3% 34th

Male 26% 29% 32% +3% 33% 6th 25% 26% 29% +3% 38th

Female 24% 26% 29% +3% 28% 6th 21% 22% 24% +2% 35th

KS2 RWM expected or higher standard 62% 69% 68%  -1% 69% 7th 62% 65% 65% - 44th

Male 58% 65% 62%  -3% 64% 7th 58% 61% 61% - 53rd

Female 66% 73% 73%  - 74% 5th 66% 69% 70% +1% 39th

KS2 RWM higher standard 9% 11% 10%  -1% 13% 11th 9% 10% 11% +1% 82nd

Male 7% 9% 8%  -1% 11% 11th 7% 8% 9% +1% 81st

Female 10% 13% 12%  -1% 15% 11th 10% 12% 13% +1% 87th

KS2 reading progress score +0.1 +0.2 -0.3 -0.5 +0.6 11th 0.0 0.0 0.0 - 113th

KS2 writing progress score -0.1 -0.6 -1.2 -0.6 +0.8 11th 0.0 0.0 0.0 - 147th

KS2 maths progress score +0.2 +0.3 -0.1 -0.4 +0.9 10th 0.0 0.0 0.0 - 91st

K
S

2
 A

tt
a

in
m

e
n

t

R
e

a
d

in
g

W
ri

ti
n

g
M

a
th

s
R

W
M

-2.0 -1.2

-1.0 -0.1

K
S
2

 

P
ro

g
re

ss -0.9 -0.3

+3%

 -3%  -1%

 -3%  -1%

 -8%  -4%

 -1% +2%

 -1% 0%

0% +3%

 -1% +3%

 -1% +3%

+1% +5%

 -3%  -1%

 -3%  -1%

 -2% +1%

 -1%

+5%

0% +2%

0% +2%

+1% +3%

0% +2%

0% +1%

0% +2%

 -3%  -1%

 -6%  -3%

 -9%  -6%

 -1% +3%

 -4%  -1%

Lewisham Statistical Neighbours England

2017 2018 2019
Latest 

Change
Trend

Latest 

Avg.

LA vs Stat. Neigh.
2017 2018 2019

Latest 

Change

LA vs England

Latest Diff. Latest Diff.

-5% +5% -5%

P
age 35



 

22 

 

5.1. Lewisham pupils outperformed National averages in reading and maths but were below National averages in writing. As in 2018, 
Lewisham pupils performed relatively worse compared to statistical neighbours in writing than in reading and maths.  

 
5.2. In the combined reading, writing, and maths (RWM) measure, Lewisham outperformed National averages for the percentage of pupils 

achieving the at least the expected standard. Girls in Lewisham performed particularly well, with 73% achieving at least the expected 
standard (level with 2018), 3 percentage points above the England average. Despite a 3 percentage points fall, 62% of boys achieving this 
standard places Lewisham just above the national average.  
 

5.3. Lewisham is below the London average, of 71%, and their statistical neighbour average, of 69%. This ranks Lewisham 28th in 
London and 7th amongst their statistical neighbours. 
 

5.4. Lewisham fell below the national average for the percentage of pupils reaching the higher standard in RWM. With 8% of boys 
and 12% of girls reaching higher standard, both are 1 percentage point below National averages, and 3 percentage points 
below Lewisham’s statistical neighbour averages. This means the gender gap in Lewisham for RWM higher standard is 4 
percentage points, level with the gap across England and across Lewisham’s statistical neighbours. 
 

5.5. Key Stage 2 maths performance in Lewisham has improved each year since 2016, and now 81% of pupils achieve the 
expected or higher standard. Girls performed particularly well with 83% achieving the expected or higher standard, and 29% 
achieving the higher standard. Both these percentages rank in the top quartile of local authorities in England. As in Key Stage 
1, a higher percentage of boys achieve the higher standard in maths than girls, although the gap is smaller than across 
England. 
 

5.6. In Key Stage 2 writing, Lewisham consistently ranks in the bottom two local authorities amongst its statistical neighbours. Only 
16% of Lewisham pupils reached greater depth in writing, 4 percentage points below the England average, ranking in the 
bottom quartile of local authorities in England. This is also 8 percentage points below Lewisham’s statistical neighbour average.  
 

5.7. The biggest fall in performance in Lewisham at Key Stage 2 is in reading, with 3 percentage points fewer pupils reaching the 
expected or higher standard. Despite this, Lewisham remains above the England average for both boys and girls, ranking in the 
top 50 local authorities in England for both. The percentage of pupils reaching the higher standard in reading also fell, however 
it is 2 percentage points above the England average.  
 

5.8. All three progress scores have fallen from 2018 and are now all lower than national averages. Progress was highest in maths, 
at -0.1, although this is 1.0 points below Lewisham’s statistical neighbour average. Writing progress is particularly low, at -1.2, 

P
age 36



 

23 

 

one of the lowest scores across all England local authorities, and the lowest in London. This is also notably lower than the 
average writing progress score amongst Lewisham’s statistical neighbours of +0.8. 

P
age 37



 

24 

 

6. Primary Phase Summary of Outcomes by Pupil Group1 

 

1 Dark blue bars are based on publicly available data, Light blue bars are based on Lewisham own data. Red lines show National averages. 

P
age 38



 

25 

 

 

6.1. Disadvantaged and FSM eligibility at primary 

6.1.1. At the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) in 2019, pupils eligible for free school meals (FSM) outperformed the national 
average by 9 percentage points for achieving a Good Level of Development (GLD). There is only a small difference between the FSM 
eligible and disadvantaged cohorts at EYFS. The gap between disadvantaged and other pupils for GLD at EYFSP is 13 percentage points.  
 

6.1.2. Only 57% of disadvantaged boys achieved GLD at EYFS, compared to 75% for disadvantaged girls, an 18 percentage point gap. By 
comparison, the gender gap for pupils other than disadvantaged is 10 percentage points. 
 

6.1.3. At the end of Key Stage 1 in 2019 the gap between disadvantaged and other pupils in Lewisham widened to 19 percentage points for 
pupils achieving at least the expected standard in Reading, Writing, and Maths Combined (RWM). This is larger than the 12 percentage 
point gap in 2018. There is a similar trend for FSM eligible pupils. The disadvantaged cohort in Lewisham at Key Stage 1 is much larger 
than at EYFS.  
 

6.1.4. At the end of Key Stage 2, disadvantaged and FSM eligible pupils in Lewisham outperform National averages for the percentage achieving 
at least the expected standard in RWM combined. The gap between disadvantaged and other pupils in Lewisham remains at 19 
percentage points. Disadvantaged and FSM eligible pupils in Lewisham make less progress in RWM than the national average. Across 
England, disadvantaged pupil average progress is -0.61, while Lewisham’s figure is -1.16. 
 
 

6.2. Ethnicity and language  
 

6.2.1. At EYFS, 80% of pupils who have English as a first language achieved a GLD. This is 9 percentage points better than their peers who have 
English as an Additional Language (EAL). This gap closes completely by the end of Key Stage 1, and reverses in Key Stage 2, so that EAL 
pupils slightly outperform other pupils. This is a pattern that is replicated across England. 
 

6.2.2. In 2019 Key Stage 2 EAL pupils in Lewisham made more progress in RWM than the non EAL pupil score (+1.36). 
 

6.2.3. EAL pupil progress in Lewisham is well below the national average. 

                                                

 P
age 39



 

26 

 

 
6.2.4. White pupils in Lewisham have the highest percentage achieving GLD at EYFS,  

 
6.2.5. Chinese and Asian or Asian British pupils have the highest percentages achieving at least the expected standard in RWM at Key Stage 1 

and Key Stage 2. 
 

6.2.6. Black or Black British pupils in Lewisham are above the national average for GLD at EYFS, but fall below the average for Key Stage 2 
RWM. RWM progress at Key Stage 2 for Black or Black British pupils is notably below the national average. 
 

6.2.7. At EYFS, Black Caribbean pupils perform at a similar level to Black – African and outperform Pakistani pupils. However, this group’s 
performance becomes relatively worse, and by the end of Key Stage 2 there is a 13 percentage points gap to Black – African, and a 30 
percentage points gap to Pakistani pupils in RWM at the expected level or above. There is similar trend across England but the gap is 
wider in Lewisham.  
 

6.2.8. White British, White and Black Caribbean, and White and Asian pupils all outperform the respective national averages at EYFS and Key 
Stage 2, except for progress in RWM combined. 
 

6.2.9. White and Asian pupils in Lewisham have the highest RWM progress score, at the end of Key Stage 2, followed by Pakistani pupils.  
 
 

6.3. Ethnicity with gender   
 

6.3.1. White British boys achieved well, with relatively small gaps to girls in the primary phases.  
 

6.3.2. Black Caribbean boys achieved less well and by Key Stage 2 were 22 percentage points below White British boys, and 15 percentage  
points lower than female Black Caribbean pupils at the expected standard in RWM,  
 

6.3.3. 60% of Black African boys achieved at least the expected standard in Key Stage 2 RWM. However, this is 15 percentage points lower than 
female Black – African pupils. 

 
6.4. Ethnicity with disadvantage  

 
6.4.1. Disadvantaged Black or Black British pupils tend to outperform disadvantaged White pupils throughout the primary phase. Disadvantaged 

Asian or Asian British pupils tend to outperform both disadvantaged White pupils and disadvantaged Black or Black British pupils.  

P
age 40



 

27 

 

 
6.4.2. At EYFS, 76% of disadvantaged Asian or Asian British pupils achieved GLD, compared to 66% of disadvantaged Black or Black British 

pupils, and 61% of disadvantaged White pupils. This is particularly surprising because White pupils have the strongest all pupil 
performance at EYFS of any ethnic group, 6 percentage points above all Asian or Asian British pupils.  
 

6.4.3. At Key Stage 2, only half of disadvantaged White pupils reach the expected standard or above in RWM, compared to 71% of 
disadvantaged Asian or Asian British pupils.  
 

6.4.4. Disadvantaged White British pupils in Lewisham achieved particularly poorly. At EYFS, 62% of disadvantaged White British pupils achieve 
GLD, compared to 88% of other White British pupils, a 26 percentage point gap. This is a pattern that continues throughout the primary 
phase.  
 

6.4.5. At Key Stage 1, only 38% of disadvantaged White British pupils reach the expected or higher standard in RWM, compared to 77% of other 
White British pupils. This is an even bigger gap of 39 percentage points.  
 

6.4.6. At Key Stage 2, the gap grows further, to 41 percentage points, with 45% of disadvantaged White British pupils reaching the expected or 
higher standard in RWM. 
 
 

6.5. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
 

6.5.1. At EYFS, SEN Support pupils in Lewisham outperform the national average. Pupils with an education, health, and care plan (EHCP) fall 
below the national average, though the cohort number is small. 
 

6.5.2. At Key Stage 1, the gap between SEN Support and EHCP pupils narrows, however the gap between SEN Support and pupils without SEN 
widens to 51 percentage points for the percentage achieving at least the expected standard in Key Stage 1 RWM.  
 

6.5.3. At Key Stage 2, SEN Support pupils in Lewisham outperform the national average for those achieving at least the expected standard in 
RWM, by 9 percentage points. EHCP pupils are 1 percentage point below the national average. The gap between SEN Support and pupils 
without SEN is narrower in Key Stage 2 than Key Stage 1.  
 

6.5.4. Male SEN Support pupils outperform their female peers, with 36% achieving the expected or higher standard in Key Stage 2 RWM, 
compared to 28% for girls. This may be partly down to the far larger male SEN Support cohort. Across England, boys aged 11 are around 
twice as likely to be on SEN Support than girls.  

P
age 41



 

28 

 

7. Secondary outcomes- Key Stage 4 Summary of Outcomes 

 

Rank Rank Trend

0% 0%

KS4 - Attainment 8 44.2 44.9 43.7 -1.2 46.6 11th | 46.4 46.6 46.8 +0.2 123rd |

Male 41.5 41.8 40.4 -1.4 43.7 11th | 43.8 43.9 44.2 +0.3 131st |

Female 47.2 47.9 47.2 -0.7 49.6 10th 49.1 49.4 49.6 +0.2 109th

KS4 - Progress 8 -0.28 -0.22 -0.27 -0.05 +0.10 11th -0.03 -0.02 -0.03 -0.01 132nd

Male -0.49 -0.45 -0.49 -0.04 -0.16 11th -0.24 -0.25 -0.27 -0.02 134th

Female -0.05 +0.02 -0.03 -0.05 +0.36 11th +0.18 +0.22 +0.22 - 128th

KS4 - 9-4 English & maths 59% 61% 58%  -3% 63% 11th 64% 64% 65% +1% 127th |

Male 56% 56% 55%  -1% 60% 11th 61% 61% 61% - 124th |

Female 62% 66% 61%  -5% 67% 11th | 68% 68% 69% +1% 134th |

KS4 - 9-5 English & maths 38% 41% 37%  -4% 43% 11th | 43% 43% 43% - 120th |

Male 36% 37% 34%  -3% 40% 11th | 40% 40% 40% - 123rd |

Female 40% 45% 41%  -4% 46% 11th 46% 47% 47% - 113th |

KS4 - English Baccalaureate APS - 4.0 3.9 -0.1 4.2 11th | - 4.1 4.1 - 102nd

Male - 3.7 3.5 -0.2 3.9 11th | - 3.8 3.9 +0.1 121st |

Female - 4.3 4.2 -0.1 4.4 9th - 4.3 4.3 - 80th

KS4 - English Baccalaureate Entries 40% 44% 41%  -3% 52% 11th | 38% 38% 40% +2% 58th

Male 33% 36% 31%  -5% 47% 11th | 33% 33% 34% +1% 91st

Female 48% 52% 53% +1% 58% 9th 44% 44% 46% +2% 36th }

KS4 - English Baccalaureate (9-4) 22% 25% 22%  -3% 29% 11th | 24% 24% 25% +1% 97th

Male 17% 18% 15%  -3% 24% 11th | 19% 19% 20% +1% 112th

Female 28% 33% 29%  -4% 34% 9th 29% 30% 31% +1% 73rd

KS4 - English Baccalaureate (9-5) 19% 16% 15%  -1% 20% 10th 21% 17% 17% - 86th

Male 15% 11% 10%  -1% 16% 11th | 17% 13% 13% - 100th

Female 23% 21% 20%  -1% 24% 8th 26% 21% 21% - 74th

A
tt

a
in

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 P

ro
g

re
ss

E
b

a
c
c

 -7%  -3%

 -9%  -5%

 -5%  -2%

 -5%  -2%

 -6%  -3%

 -10.3%  -9.1%

 -4.5%  -3.0%

 -11% +1%

 -16%  -3%

 -5% +7%

 -8%

 -6%  -6%

 -6%  -6%

 -5%  -6%

 -7.1%  -4.4%

+5% -5% +5%

K
S

4

 -6.2%  -6.6%

 -7.6%  -8.6%

 -4.8%  -4.8%

-0.37 -0.24

-0.33 -0.22

-0.39 -0.25

 -5%  -7%

 -5%  -6%

 -6%

 -4%  -1%

Lewisham Statistical Neighbours England

2017 2018 2019
Latest 

Change
Trend

Latest 

Avg.

LA vs Stat. Neigh.
2017 2018 2019

Latest 

Change

LA vs England

Latest Diff. Latest Diff.

-5%

P
age 42



 

29 

 

 
7.1. Key Stage 4 performance in Lewisham is down on 2018 across all headline measures. Lewisham now ranks 10th or 11th amongst 

their statistical neighbours for every headline measure, and falls in the bottom quartile of local authorities in England for 
Attainment 8, Progress 8, and English and maths outcomes.  

 
7.2. The average Attainment 8 score in Lewisham is 43.6, 2.9 points below Lewisham’s statistical neighbour average, and 3.1 points 

below the national average. This is also 6.0 points below the London average of 49.7. Lewisham ranks bottom amongst its 
statistical neighbours and 32nd in London for both Attainment 8 and Progress 8.  
 

7.3. The gender gap in Attainment 8 is larger in Lewisham, at 6.8 points, than across England (5.4 points). Lewisham’s gender gap 
in Progress 8, at 0.46 progress points, is very slightly smaller than the national average.  
 

7.4. 58% of pupils in Lewisham achieved 9-4 in English and maths, down from 61% in 2018. This is 7 percentage points below the 
national average, and 5 percentage points below Lewisham’s statistical neighbour average. The fall in Lewisham was mainly 
driven by a fall in the percentage of girls achieving 9-4, from 66% in 2018 to 61% in 2019. There was a similar fall in the 
percentage of pupils achieving 9-5, again with a slightly larger fall for girls. In 2019, only around a third of boys in Lewisham 
achieved 9-5 in English and maths.  
 

7.5. The EBacc entry rate in Lewisham fell 3 percentage points, to 41% in 2019. Lewisham’s female pupil entry rate increased to 
53%, staying in the top quartile of local authorities in England, 7 percentage points above the England average. Conversely, the 
male entry rate in Lewisham fell 5 percentage points and is now 3 percentage points below the England average.  
 

7.6. EBacc outcomes in Lewisham fell from 2018, with the APS down to 3.9, ranking bottom amongst Lewisham’s statistical 
neighbours, 0.3 points below the average. The percentages of pupils achieving 9-4 and 9-5 in EBacc also fell from 2018, for 
both boys and girls alike.  
 

7.7. There is some evidence that Lewisham’s relatively poor Key Stage 4 performance is driven by higher attainers attending 
schools outside the local authority. At 46.3, the average Attainment 8 amongst all Lewisham residents is 2.6 points higher than 
the average across Lewisham schools. This suggests that some high attaining pupils who live in Lewisham are attending 
schools in other local authorities, and some lower attaining pupils from other local authorities are attending schools in 
Lewisham. Only two London local authorities have a more extreme example of this (Harrow and Richmond upon Thames). 

 

P
age 43



 

30 

 

8.  Key Stage 4 Summary of Outcomes by Pupil Group2 

 

1 Dark blue bars are based on publicly available data, Light blue bars are based on Lewisham own data. Red lines show National averages. 

                                                

 P
age 44



 

31 

 

8.1. Disadvantage and FSM eligibility 

8.1.1. At the end of Key stage 4 in 2019 disadvantaged pupils in Lewisham have an average Attainment 8 score of 37.1. This is 11.4 points below 
other pupils and is a slightly smaller gap than the national average. Progress 8 scores for both groups are below the national average. A 
quarter of disadvantaged pupils achieved 9-5grades in English and maths, compared to 47% of other pupils. A very similar pattern across 
Key Stage 4 is true for FSM eligible pupils. 
 

8.2. Ethnicity and language 

8.2.1. At the end of Key Stage 4 in 2019 pupils with EAL in Lewisham made more progress than other pupils (Progress 8) At +0.05 this is, 
however, below the national average for EAL pupils.  
 

8.2.2. At the end of Key Stage 4 in 2019 pupils with EAL in Lewisham had a slightly higher Attainment 8 score and a higher percentage achieved 
9-5 in English and maths than non EAL pupils. 
 

8.2.3. In 2019 Chinese and Asian or Asian British pupils achieved the highest average Attainment 8 and Progress 8 scores in Lewisham. Both 
groups achieved an average Attainment 8 score above 50, and have positive Progress 8 scores.  
 

8.2.4. Black or Black British have the lowest scores at the end of Key Stage 4. 
 

8.2.5. Black Caribbean pupils achieved an average Attainment 8 of 36.0; 7.7 points below the all pupil average, and 9.5 points below Black – 
African pupils.  
 

8.2.6. 25% of Black Caribbean pupils achieve 9-5 in English and maths, 13 percentage points lower than Black – African pupils.  
 

8.2.7. White pupils in Lewisham have an average Attainment 8 score of 46.0, just below the national average of 46.2. Progress 8 score is -0.27, 
below the national average of -0.11. 
 
 

8.3. Ethnicity with gender  
 

8.3.1. The Attainment 8 gender gap is particularly large amongst Black Caribbean pupils, at 10.0 points, compared to 6.8 points across all pupils. 
 

8.3.2. 16% of Black Caribbean boys achieved 9-5 in English and maths, compared to 34% of girls. This 18 percentage point gap is far bigger than 

P
age 45



 

32 

 

the 4 percentage point gap between these two groups in 2018. 
 

8.3.3. The gender gap is far smaller for Black – African pupils, with 35% of Black – African boys, and 41% of girls achieving 9-5 in English and 
maths. 
 

8.3.4. White British boys achieve relatively well, with an average Attainment 8 of 43.0, and 40% achieving 9-5 in English and maths. The average 
Progress 8 score for this group is relatively low, at -0.64, reflecting the strong Key Stage 2 attainment of White British boys in Lewisham.  
 

8.3.5. Although the cohort is small, it should be noted that there is only a very small gender gap amongst Asian or Asian British pupils. There is a 
1.8 points difference in Attainment 8 (both over 50), and a 0.06 gap in Progress 8. 58% of male Asian or Asian British pupils achieve 9-5 in 
English and maths, compared to 57% of female Asian or Asian British pupils. 
 
 

8.4. Ethnicity and Disadvantage 
 

8.4.1. There is a large gap in attainment and progress at Key Stage 4 between disadvantaged White British pupils and other White British pupils. 
Disadvantaged White British pupils in Lewisham have an average Attainment 8 of 32.3 and Progress 8 of -1.06, compared to 56.8 and 
+0.09 for other White British pupils. 
 

8.4.2. 19% of disadvantaged White British pupils achieved 9-5 in English and maths, while 62% of other White British pupils achieved this, a 43 
percentage point gap.  
 

8.4.3. Disadvantaged Black Caribbean pupils at Key Stage 4, achieved lower average Attainment 8 of 31.3, and only 17% achieving 9-5 in 
English and maths. However, the gap to other Black Caribbean pupils is smaller than the equivalent gap for White British pupils.  
 

8.4.4. Disadvantaged Black – African pupils in Lewisham achieve well compared to other disadvantaged pupils. The average Attainment 8 of 
disadvantaged Black – African pupils, at 43.1, is only 0.6 points below the average for all pupils in Lewisham. The average Progress 8 
score of -0.14, is better than the average for all pupils in Lewisham. 

 

8.5. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
 

8.5.1. SEN Support pupils in Lewisham outperform the national average for Attainment 8 and the percentage achieving 9-5 in English and maths. 
Contrastingly, EHCP pupils fall below National averages for Attainment 8, Progress 8, and those achieving 9-5 in English and maths. The 

P
age 46



 

33 

 

gap between EHCP pupils and SEN Support pupils in Attainment 8 is therefore wider than the England average. 
 

8.5.2. Boys on SEN Support perform slightly less well than girls, with an average Attainment 8 of 32.3, compared to 35.3 for female SEN Support 
pupils. There is a relatively large gap between disadvantaged pupils on SEN Support and other SEN Support pupils, with a 9.8 points 
Attainment 8 gap. 
 

8.5.3. SEN Support pupils in Lewisham outperform the England average for Attainment 8 and the percentage achieving 9-5 in English and maths. 
Contrastingly, EHCP pupils fall below National averages for Attainment 8, Progress 8, and those achieving 9-5 in English and maths. The 
gap between EHCP pupils and SEN Support pupils in Attainment 8 is therefore wider than the England average. 
 

8.5.4. Boys on SEN Support perform slightly less well than girls, with an average Attainment 8 of 32.3, compared to 35.3 for female SEN Support 
pupils. There is a relatively large gap between disadvantaged pupils on SEN Support and other SEN Support pupils, with a 9.8 points 
Attainment 8 gap.  

  

P
age 47



 

34 

 

9. Key Stage 5 Summary of Outcomes 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Rank Rank Trend

0% 0%

KS5 - APS per entry - all level 3 28.6 28.1 29.3 +1.2 31.1 9th | 32.3 31.8 32.2 +0.4 129th |

Male 27.1 27.1 27.6 +0.5 30.4 11th | 31.2 30.9 31.3 +0.4 140th |

Female 29.8 28.8 30.4 +1.6 31.7 9th 33.4 32.6 33.0 +0.4 126th |

KS5 - APS per entry - academic 26.0 27.6 28.6 +1.0 31.4 11th | 31.3 32.3 33.0 +0.7 143rd |

Male 24.1 27.1 26.7 -0.4 30.7 11th | 30.2 31.3 32.2 +0.9 144th |

Female 27.2 28.0 29.7 +1.7 31.9 11th | 32.2 33.1 33.7 +0.6 141st |

KS5 - APS per entry - applied general 33.6 29.1 30.6 +1.5 29.7 4th 35.7 28.4 28.9 +0.5 27th }

Male 31.0 27.2 28.9 +1.7 29.0 6th 33.6 26.8 27.3 +0.5 38th }

Female 35.9 30.5 31.8 +1.3 30.2 3rd } 37.7 29.8 30.3 +0.5 32nd

KS5 - APS per entry - tech level 31.0 28.5 28.5 - 28.1 5th 32.3 28.1 28.6 +0.5 68th

Male 30.7 27.4 28.3 +0.9 28.8 6th 31.8 28.5 28.9 +0.4 82nd

Female 31.8 32.2 30.3 -1.9 27.3 6th } 32.8 27.8 28.4 +0.6 40th }

KS5 - 3 A*-A grades or better at A level 4% 5% 5% - 8% 7th 11% 11% 11% - 135th |

Male 3% 6% 6% - 10% 7th 13% 12% 12% - 133rd |

Female 5% 4% 5% +1% 7% 8th 10% 10% 10% - 128th

KS5 - AAB inc. two facilitating subjects 7% 7% 7% - 12% 9th 14% 14% 14% - 137th |

Male 6% 9% 9% - 14% 8th 17% 16% 16% - 133rd |

Female 7% 5% 6% +1% 10% 10th 12% 12% 13% +1% 134th |

Lewisham Statistical Neighbours England

2017 2018 2019
Latest 

Change
Trend

Latest 

Avg.

LA vs Stat. Neigh.
2017 2018 2019

Latest 

Change

LA vs England

Latest Diff.

 -3%

Latest Diff.

-5% +5% -5% +5%

K
S

5

A
P

S
 p

e
r 

e
n

tr
y

 -6%  -9%

A
 L

e
v

e
l

 -6%

 -4%  -6%

 -2%  -5%

 -5%  -7%

 -5%  -7%

 -4%  -7%

 -9%  -12%

 -4%  -8%

 -9%  -13%

 -13%  -17%

 -7%  -12%

+3% +6%

0% +6%

+5% +5%

+1% 0%

 -2%  -2%

+11% +7%

P
age 48



 

35 

 

9.1. Key Stage 5 outcomes in Lewisham have improved across academic and applied general qualifications. Lewisham continues to perform 
relatively well in applied general and tech level, but poorly in academic outcomes.  

 

9.2. The overall APS per entry for all level 3 pupils in Lewisham increased 1.2 points, to 29.3 in 2019. However, this, as well as the 
male and female figures, still ranks in the bottom quartile of local authorities in England. 
 

9.3. Lewisham’s APS per entry is 2.9 points below the London score of 32.2, and 1.8 points below Lewisham’s statistical neighbour 
average. The story is similar for academic APS per entry where, despite a 1.0 point increase, Lewisham ranks bottom amongst 
its statistical neighbours, and in the bottom 10 local authorities in England. 
 

9.4. Lewisham’s applied general APS is up 1.5 points from 2018 and now ranks in the top quartile of local authorities in England. This 
score is 1.6 points above the London average of 29.0, ranking 6th highest in London. The female pupil applied general APS ranks 
3rd highest amongst Lewisham’s statistical neighbours, and in the top quartile of local authorities in England. 
 

9.5. A level results were similar to 2018, with 5% of Key Stage 5 pupils in Lewisham achieving 3 A*-A grades, and 7% achieving AAB 
(including two facilitating subjects). Lewisham ranks in the bottom quartile of local authorities in England for both these indicators.  

 

  

P
age 49



 

36 

 

10. Level 2 and 3 attainment by age 19

 

Rank Rank Trend

0% 0%

Qualified to Level 2 by 19 - All Pupils 82% 83% 82% -1% 84% 11th 85% 84% 82% -2% 87th

Male 78% 79% 79% - 80% 8th 82% 80% 79% -1% 79th

Female 86% 86% 85% -1% 88% 11th 88% 87% 86% -1% 93rd

FSM Eligible 71% 69% 71% +2% 75% 10th 70% 66% 63%  -3% 29th }

Not FSM Eligible 86% 86% 85%  -1% 87% 11th 88% 86% 85%  -1% 87th

No SEN 89% 88% 87%  -1% 89% 11th 91% 89% 88%  -1% 95th

SEN Support 66% 69% 69% - 71% 10th 70% 67% 62%  -5% 29th }

EHCP 33% 38% 43% +5% 35% 1st } 36% 33% 31%  -2% 11th }

Qualified to Level 2 inc Eng & maths by 19 - All Pupils 64% 61% 64% +3% 68% 11th 69% 69% 68%  -1% 124th

Male 59% 59% 61% +2% 65% 9th 65% 65% 65% - 109th

Female 70% 63% 66% +3% 70% 11th 72% 72% 72% - 126th |

FSM Eligible 48% 44% 48% +4% 54% 11th | 46% 45% 43%  -2% 36th

Not FSM Eligible 70% 66% 68% +2% 72% 11th 73% 73% 72%  -1% 121st

No SEN 73% 68% 71% +3% 76% 11th 78% 78% 76%  -2% 125th

SEN Support 36% 39% 39% - 41% 8th 37% 37% 36%  -1% 49th

EHCP 14% 21% 20% -1% 15% 2nd 15% 15% 15% - 24th

Qualified to Level 3 by 19 - All Pupils 58% 58% 59% +1% 63% 10th 57% 57% 57% - 63rd

Male 52% 53% 56% +3% 58% 8th 52% 53% 52% -1% 40th

Female 64% 62% 61%  -1% 68% 11th | 62% 63% 63% - 88th

FSM Eligible 43% 41% 42% +1% 51% 11th | 36% 36% 35%  -1% 32nd }

Not FSM Eligible 63% 62% 63% +1% 67% 10th 61% 61% 61% - 52nd

No SEN 65% 64% 65% +1% 69% 10th 65% 65% 63%  -2% 60th

SEN Support 36% 39% 37%  -2% 42% 9th 31% 32% 31%  -1% 37th }

EHCP 15% 29% 22%  -7% 17% 1st 14% 13% 13% - 12th }

 -5%

 -2%

 -4%

 -5%

+3%

 -4%

 -4%

 -5%

+5%

+2%

+2%

+6%

+9%

 -6% +5%

 -4%  -4%

 -2% 0%

+7%

+12%

 -2%

 -2%

+8%

 -4%

Lewisham Statistical Neighbours England

 -1% 0%

 -3%  -1%

 -4% +8%

 -2% 0%

 -1%

2016 2017 2018
Latest 

Change
Trend

Latest 

Avg.

LA vs Stat. Neigh.
2016 2017 2018

Latest 

Change

LA vs England

Latest Diff.

L
e

v
e

l 
2

 &
 3

 b
y

 1
9

Latest Diff.

-5% +5% -5% +5%

L
e

v
e

l 
3

L
e

v
e

l 
2

 i
n

c
 E

 &
 M

L
e

v
e

l 
2

+5% +5%

 -4% +2%

 -2% +4%

 -7%  -2%

 -9% +7%

 -4%  -4%

 -4%  -6%

P
age 50



 

 

10.1. Lewisham’s outcomes by age 19 are mixed, generally above England averages, but ranking poorly amongst their statistical 
neighbours and compared to other London local authorities. Lewisham achieved relatively stronger outcomes for the EHCP, SEN 
Support and FSM eligible cohorts. 
 

10.2. 82% of all Lewisham pupils achieved level 2 by age 19 in 2018. This matches the England average, but is 2 percentage points below 
Lewisham’s statistical neighbour average, ranking bottom amongst this group. This ranked Lewisham 31st in London. The percentage of 
EHCP pupils achieving level 2 by age 19 was up 5 percentage points, to 43% in 2018, ranking top amongst Lewisham’s statistical 
neighbours, and 11th highest in England. This is also 6 percentage points above the London percentage. Figures for FSM eligible pupils and 
SEN Support pupils also rank in the top quartile of local authorities in England, although in the bottom half of London local authorities. 
 

10.3. The proportion of pupils achieving level 2 including English and maths by age 19 has increased by 3 percentage points in Lewisham, to 64%. 
This bucked the trend across England. Despite this, Lewisham remains ranked in the bottom quartile of local authorities in England, and 
bottom amongst their statistical neighbours. However, again performance of the EHCP and FSM eligible cohorts ranks in the top quartile of 
local authorities in England. 
 

10.4. The overall percentage of pupils qualified to level 3 by age 19 in Lewisham is also up to 59%, 2 percentage points higher than the England 
average. Despite a 7 percentage point fall Lewisham had 22% of EHCP pupils qualified to level 3 by age 19, the highest percentage 
amongst their statistical neighbours, and the 12th highest in England. 37% of SEN Support pupils, and 42% of FSM eligible pupils achieved 
this, also ranking in the top quartile of local authorities in England. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 P
age 51



 

38 

 

11. Lewisham 
Key Stage 2 school performance summary 2019 

      
 

Actual results Pupil progress 

 Cohort 
number 

% Expected 
standard+ 

(Re, Wr, Ma) 

% Expected 
standard+ 
Reading 

% Expected 
standard+ 

Maths 

% Expected 
standard+ 

(Re, Wr, Ma) 

% Expected 
standard+ 
Reading 

% Expected 
standard+ 

Maths    

National  65% 74% 79% 0% 0% 0% 

Lewisham  3470 68% 76% 81% 0% 0% 1% 

Adamsrill Pri  62 65% 73% 87% -7% -6% 4% 

All Saints' CoE Pri  29 69% 90% 86% -15% 1% -7% 

Ashmead Pri  59 73% 78% 83% -2% -3% -3% 

Athelney Pri  56 41% 50% 70% -18% -16% -2% 

Baring Pri  28 57% 75% 89% 1% 6% 15% 

Beecroft Garden Pri  60 62% 75% 73% -5% -1% -11% 

Brindishe Green  85 79% 85% 89% 2% 2% 0% 

Brindishe Lee  29 83% 90% 90% 7% 4% 5% 

Brindishe Manor  59 85% 92% 100% 2% 3% 8% 

Childeric Pri  54 65% 65% 83% 11% 0% 16% 

Cooper's Lane Pri  89 67% 78% 82% 5% 5% 7% 

Dalmain Pri  59 78% 86% 85% 10% 9% 4% P
age 52



 

39 

 

Deptford Park Pri  63 62% 71% 75% -10% -7% -10% 

Downderry Pri 84 70% 80% 85% -4% -1% -3% 

Edmund Waller Pri  55 75% 85% 82% -6% 0% -6% 

Elfrida Pri  79 49% 57% 70% -9% -11% -4% 

Eliot Bank Pri  103 77% 83% 90% 3% 3% 3% 

Fairlawn Pri  59 69% 75% 80% -14% -14% -11% 

Forster Park Pri  77 55% 62% 74% -11% -11% -8% 

Good Shepherd RC  29 66% 86% 97% -17% -1% 5% 

Gordonbrock Pri  87 78% 80% 85% 10% 4% 4% 

Grinling Gibbons Pri  53 57% 60% 74% -18% -20% -12% 

H Aske's Hatcham College  60 85% 88% 93% 19% 15% 14% 

H Aske's Knights Academy  35 40% 66% 49% -29% -13% -33% 

Haseltine Pri 86 59% 65% 81% -10% -12% 0% 

Holbeach Pri  57 72% 84% 84% 3% 7% 3% 

Holy Cross RC Pri  29 86% 90% 90% 13% 8% 4% 

Holy Trinity CoE Pri  25 56% 56% 84% -3% -12% 6% 

Horniman Pri  28 75% 82% 82% 1% 1% -4% 

John Ball Pri  59 75% 86% 81% -5% 1% -7% 

John Stainer Pri 53 79% 87% 85% 23% 20% 13% 

Kelvin Grove Pri  71 58% 73% 77% 1% 8% 5% 

P
age 53



 

40 

 

Kender Pri  44 68% 84% 77% 14% 20% 4% 

Kilmorie Pri  83 89% 95% 93% 2% 4% 0% 

Launcelot Pri  51 71% 76% 86% 9% 4% 7% 

Lucas Vale Pri  47 40% 66% 68% -29% -9% -13% 

Marvels Lane Pri  48 60% 69% 83% -1% 0% 9% 

Myatt Garden Pri  57 74% 86% 82% 5% 10% 1% 

Our Lady and St P N RC Pri  42 69% 76% 83% 2% 1% 4% 

Perrymount Pri  18 83% 83% 89% 22% 14% 14% 

Prendergast Vale  29 31% 69% 79% -37% -3% 1% 

Rangefield Pri  57 53% 61% 67% -8% -8% -7% 

Rathfern Pri  86 87% 94% 95% 22% 18% 13% 

Rushey Green Pri  84 58% 65% 65% 3% 2% -5% 

Sandhurst Pri  88 66% 78% 89% -6% -1% 6% 

Sir Francis Drake Pri  30 77% 77% 80% 14% 6% 3% 

St Augustine's RC Pri  25 76% 84% 92% 4% 5% 9% 

St Bartholomews's CoE Pri 52 73% 83% 79% 13% 14% 4% 

St George's CoE Pri  18 67% 78% 72% 17% 16% -1% 

St James's Hatcham Pri  25 88% 96% 96% 24% 24% 13% 

St J Baptist Southend Pri  30 77% 83% 90% -1% -1% 0% 

St Joseph's RC Pri  46 52% 59% 67% -20% -20% -17% 

P
age 54



 

41 

 

St Margaret's Lee CoE Pri  30 90% 93% 100% 5% 3% 6% 

St Mary Magdalen's RC Pri 23 61% 70% 65% -22% -23% -26% 

St Mary's Lewisham  Pri  27 56% 63% 63% -9% -12% -14% 

St Matthew Academy 47 62% 64% 70% 12% 1% 7% 

St Michael's CoE Pri  28 75% 79% 89% -4% -6% 1% 

St Saviour's RC Pri  29 93% 100% 100% 16% 16% 11% 

St Stephen's CoE Pri 52 69% 79% 81% -5% -2% -8% 

St William of York RC Pri 29 59% 72% 76% -9% -3% -6% 

St Winifred's RC Pri 47 79% 85% 83% 1% 1% -4% 

Stillness Jun  80 88% 90% 95% 7% 4% 5% 

Tidemill Academy  57 68% 72% 86% 11% 4% 13% 

Torridon Pri  87 59% 63% 78% -13% -15% -6% 

Turnham Academy  68 74% 85% 85% 7% 11% 5% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 55



 

42 

 

 

 

13.  

14.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12. Lewisham KS4 School performance summary 2019 

 Cohort 
number 

Attainment 8 
(Overall) 

% English & 
Maths (Grade 

4+) 

Progress 8 
(Overall) 

% English & 
Maths (Grade 4+) 

National   4.6 63% 0 0 

Lewisham  2187 4.4 58% -0.26 -6% 

Addey and Stanhope 99 4.4 63% -0.45 -4% 

Bonus Pastor RC College  145 4.6 56% 0 -12% 

Conisborough College  166 3.5 42% -0.97 -19% 

Deptford Green  145 3.7 51% -0.58 -6% 

Forest Hill  208 4.3 58% -0.72 -9% 

H. Aske's Hatcham College  200 4.8 65% -0.25 -8% 

H. Aske's Knights Academy 160 4.5 66% -0.12 2% 

Prendergast Ladywell  138 4.1 49% -0.1 -4% 

Prendergast School  108 5.5 81% 0.43 3% 

Prendergast Vale  107 4.3 58% -0.45 -8% 

Sedgehill School  195 4 48% -0.4 -11% 

St Matthew Academy 149 4.8 68% 0.53 7% 

Sydenham School  222 5.1 66% 0.16 -5% 

Trinity CoE School 108 4.4 60% -0.37 -3% 

P
age 56



 

43 

 

 

13 Range of sources 

13.1 Below is the list of data sources used in this report. Full footnotes and methodologies can be found within the individual sources. Note 
that if data in graphs is light blue, the data comes from Lewisham’s own sources and is therefore unpublished. 

Ofsted Ratings 

 https://www.watchsted.com/tables Ofsted inspection data as at 20/02/2020 

Primary Outcomes 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-early-years-foundation-stage-profile Section: Results at national and local-authority level 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-key-stage-1 Section: Phonics screening check and Key Stage 1 assessment - Phonics 
Tables 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-key-stage-1 Section: Phonics screening check and Key Stage 1 assessment - KS1 
Tables 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-key-stage-2 Section: National curriculum assessments at Key Stage 2 

Secondary Outcomes 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-gcses-key-stage-4 Section: GCSE and equivalent results, including pupil characteristics 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-attainment-at-19-years Section: A level and other 16 to 18 results 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-attainment-at-19-years Section: Level 2 and 3 attainment 

 

 

 

P
age 57

https://www.watchsted.com/tables
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-early-years-foundation-stage-profile
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-key-stage-1
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-key-stage-1
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-key-stage-2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-gcses-key-stage-4
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-attainment-at-19-years
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-attainment-at-19-years


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Children and Young People Select Committee 
 

 
 

1. Summary 

1.1. Lowering exclusion in Lewisham continues to be a key priority, and whilst there have 
been many positive changes over the past three years which have resulted in a 
reduction in exclusions, the external factors that pupils face day to day and present in 
school will continue to present challenges for Headteachers and staff, which in a small 
minority of cases may still lead to an exclusion. This is a whole system challenge and 
needs to be at the heart of the Lewisham Education Strategy and the Early Help 
Strategy.  

Report title: Update on the CYP Select Committee’s Recommendations 
from the Exclusions Review 

Date: 10th March 2020 

Key decision: No.  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Ruth Griffiths, Head of Access, Inclusion and Participation 

Outline and recommendations 

As part of its work programme the Committee has requested an update on progress 
against the recommendations of the CYP Select Committee’s Review of Exclusions.        

 This report provides an update against the recommendations of the CYP Select 
Committee Review of Exclusions.       

Recommendations   

The Committee is asked to note the update and progress against the 
recommendations of the CYP Select Committee Review of Exclusions which 
reflects the high priority of the Lewisham Children and Young People’s Plan 2019-
2022. 

  

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



  

1.2 The update on progress against the recommendations of the CYP Select Committee’s 
review of exclusions is attached at Appendix 1. 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is asked to note the update and progress against the 
recommendations of the CYP Select Committee Review of Exclusions which reflects 
the high priority of the Lewisham Children and Young People’s Plan 2019-2022. 
 

3. Policy Context 

3.1 The national exclusion data is published in the DfE Statistical First Release (SFR) in 
July each year and gives the annual exclusion data for local authorities.  Currently 
2017/18 data is available and 2018/19 is not available until July 2020. 

4. Background  

4.1 Locally collected data on permanent exclusions (PEX) and managed transfers (MT) 
2018/19 

Lewisham council is promptly notified by schools regarding the permanent exclusions 
and quality assure the circumstances surrounding managed transfers of pupils in 
Lewisham schools and of Lewisham residents in out of borough schools. 

As a result Lewisham council is able to collect data for the academic year of 2018/19.   
In 2018/19 there were 16 permanent exclusions from Lewisham secondary schools, 68 
per cent less than 2017/18.  Based on 2017/18 data this brings Lewisham figures much 
more in line with England, London and Inner London averages.  In 2018/19 there were 
42 managed transfers from Lewisham secondary schools. 

4.2 Since September 2019 there has been 11 Permanent exclusions and 17 Managed 
Transfers.  There have been, in addition, 10 withdrawals since September 2019. This is 
a slight increase on this period in 2017-18. 

  
4.2.1 Year Group breakdown 

Year 11 9 Increase on 2018/19 (5 MT/ 4 PEX) 

Year 10 4 Decrease on 2018/19 (3 MT/ 1 PEX) 

Year 9 8 Increase on 2018/19 (6 MT/ 2 PEX) 

Year 8 3 Increase on 2018/19 (1 MT/ 2 PEX) 

Year 7 4 Decrease on 2018/19 (2 MT/ 2 PEX) 

 
4.2.2 Highest proportion of exclusions 

 11 pupils excluded (6 MT/ 5 PEX) from Lewisham schools in December, an 
increase compared to December 2018.  

 14 pupils excluded for Persistent Disruptive Behaviour, with no identified 
SEN (9 MT/ 5 PEX).  Weapon offences (3) as a reason continues to reduce 
since a peak in 2015/16.  

 Gender – 13 (9 MT/ 4 PEX) Female / 15 (8 MT/ 7 PEX) Male. 
 FSM – 16 (9 MT/ 7 PEX) pupils excluded were eligible for FSM, this 

continues to increase. 
 Ethnicity – Black Caribbean and African pupils highest excluded – 12 (7 MT/ 

5 PEX). 
 Highest exclusions from schools: Haberdashers’ Aske’s Knights Academy 

(5) Conisborough College (4) Sedgehill (5). 
 
4.3 Managed Transfers are only offered to parents when the local authority has quality 

assured the schools exclusion file and is of the view that the school has considered all 

Page 60



  

options available before issuing a permanent exclusion. Families are not obliged to 
accept a Managed Transfer and can seek impartial advice from the local authority and 
independent advocacy services.   
 
However the data shows that more parents are accepting Managed Transfers as 
opposed to proceeding to a Governors Disciplinary Panel, this is often an indication 
that the parent does not contest the support given by the school to their child or that 
they feel the exclusion is justified. Lewisham continues to work with neighbouring local 
authorities as they offer similar transfers.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

6. Appendix 1 
 

 
 
 
  

Recommendation Proposed Response Update and actions to date 

1. That reducing school permanent 
exclusions to the unavoidable 
minimum be an explicit element of 
Lewisham’s published Children and 
Young People’s Plan. (Lewisham 
Council) 

Reducing exclusions has been included in the 
Lewisham Corporate Strategy and the draft CYP 
Plan 2019-22 - Priority 3: Children and young 
people develop, achieve and are ready for 
adulthood  
 The right support is in place to prevent 

exclusions from school. 
 

The Children and Young Peoples Plan 2019-22 - Priority 3: 
Children and young people develop, achieve and are ready 
for adulthood  
 The right support is in place to prevent exclusions from 

school. 
Lewisham Council continues to work collaboratively with 
Lewisham schools and the community to deliver on this priority 
and as set out below.   

2. The local authority take steps to 
remedy disproportionality and increase 
BAME representation on the following:  

a. primary Fair Access Panel 
b. Independent Review Panel 

(IRP) 
c. School governing bodies. 

a. This has already been actioned by inviting 
 and recruiting BAME Headteachers in 
 Lewisham to join the Fair Access panel. 
 
b. Recruitment to the pool of people who sit 
 on the IRPs is carried out by the local 
 authority’s Governance Support Team. 
 The next recruitment drive will target 
 BAME representatives and provide 
 training.  Lewisham governors have 
 recently been surveyed. 
 
c. This shows that BAME representation 
 across Lewisham is better than national 
 averages but is still short of being 
 proportionate with the school population. 
 Officers are working on a targeted 
 recruitment campaign by Spring 2020. 

a. This continues to be a priority for Primary and 
Secondary  Fair Access Panels with BAME 
membership and  representation at Headteacher 
level from Lewisham  schools. 

b. The Governance Support Team has advised that this 
is a  bi-annual recruitment and training drive for 
IRP members  (exclusions).  There last round was 
February 2019 and  the next is planned for 
February 2021.  The Team will  follow the statutory 
guidance and observe best practice  in the 
process. 

c.  April 2019 data showed 23% of governors were 
BAME (against a national average of 4%). Since 
then, a recruitment campaign has targeted BAME 
applications:  Governors for Schools have placed 16 
governors within Lewisham schools of whom 31% 
were BAME. Another 11 volunteers are in line to join 
governing bodies at their next meetings, of whom 
82% are BAME. 

 

P
age 62



  

3. That council officers are reminded of 
our statutory obligation to provide 
meaningful equality impact 
assessments to ensure such 
assessments are robust and 
comprehensive. (Lewisham Council) 

Equality implications are strongly addressed 
annually to CYP Select Committee in the 
exclusions report. The Lewisham Corporate 
Equalities Board is pursuing a whole borough 
strategy for more robust and comprehensive 
equality impact assessments. 

The Single Equality Framework 2020-24 has been launched.  

The strategic tool will be used to assess how the Council 
promotes equality and fairness through the performance of its 
functions and the provision of services. This will help council 
officers to understand the rationale and impact of decisions to 
enable them to determine what reasonable steps it might take to 
mitigate any negative impacts. Ultimately it will promote equality 
through the design and delivery of services and create a culture 
of aspiration in the Lewisham school population. 

4. That the local authority improves 
information packs for parents so the 
role of each aspect of the permanent 
exclusions process and each body 
involved is clearly explained in a 
concise and accessible way, and that 
support for parents is signposted. 
Interested parties, such as IRPs and 
community groups with experience and 
expertise in this area should be invited 
to contribute to these packs. (See also 
recommendation re Parental 
Advocates). (Lewisham Council) 

This is a continued priority with for Lewisham 
Council through the Reducing Exclusion Action 
Plan.  Lewisham Council will include Lewisham 
parents in the review and improvement of current 
information packs so that the exclusion process is 
clear and transparent for all interested parties. 
Through the Reducing Exclusions Group we aim 
to consult with a group of parents and ensure that 
the information packs are revised by Spring 2020. 

The Lewisham Inclusion Partnership has been reformed with the 
view to support the work of the Lewisham Education Strategy 
and the continued reduction of exclusions.  It remains a focus for 
the partnership to ensure effective communication with parents, 
in the spring and summer term 2020, to improve information 
packs. 

5. That the local authority ensures 
compliance with all statutory deadlines 
involved in the permanent exclusion 
process, in order to reduce to the 
minimum or eliminate altogether any 
loss of learning time or period of 
unstructured or unsupervised time 
which is known to increase the 
likelihood of risk-taking and/or anti-
social behaviour or offending. 
(Lewisham Council) 

Lewisham Council will continue to encourage and 
advise schools of all statutory deadlines and 
priorities in relation to exclusions.  Lewisham 
Council’s statutory duty is the responsibility to 
provide ‘sixth day provision’ to excluded pupils.   
On average it takes around six school days to 
place permanently excluded pupils into alternative 
provision. This is much quicker than in previous 
years. Pupils start sooner at the Lewisham PRU if 
the parents are fully engaged and supportive in 
the process. The PRU provides uniform for pupils, 
this speeds up their start date as there is no 
additional uniform costs to parents.  
However a few parents will delay their child’s 
admission to the PRU in the hope they will be 
successful at the Governors Disciplinary Panel 
and have their child reinstated into school. These 
panels must be arranged within 15 school days of 
the date of the exclusion.  Schools will aim to hold 

Case study 1:  ES Permanently excluded on 1st October, 
started at Abbey Manor College on 7th October. 
Case study 2: RA Permanently excluded on 13th December 
2019, referred to Abbey Manor College, Family refuse 
placement and do not attend initial appointment offered. 
Governors Panel took place on 30th January 2020, decision to 
exclude was upheld by Governors. Family indicated at the 
governors panel they will not send their child to our PRU and 
has privately sourced education, this was checked and 
confirmed by school and Education department.  
Case study 3: SG Permanently initially excluded in December 
2018. Exclusion was withdrawn by school to support child with 
managed move. Two managed moves were tried, both failed. 
Exclusion reinstated, Governors panel took place in May 2019, 
family were being supported by solicitor. Child is still not in 
provision, case is being progressed via Lewisham’s legal team. 
(Family are providing private tuition) Case is ongoing and 
possibly a School Attendance Order will be imposed. 

P
age 63



  

these panels as quickly as possible after the 
exclusion, ensuring less disruption to pupil. 

6. That training continue to be provided to 
school governors to build the 
confidence and skills necessary to 
provide effective scrutiny and 
challenge of headteachers’ decisions 
to permanently exclude. (Lewisham 
Council) 

Governor training on preventing and scrutinising 
exclusions is scheduled for this academic 
year2019/20. Bespoke training is also offered to 
individual governing bodies on request. The 
training programme will be revised to support 
building the confidence and skills necessary to  
provide effective scrutiny and challenge of 
Headteachers’ decisions. 

Governors Training takes place every two years and is offered 
via the Governors Services SLA with schools and in line with 
best practice. The last session was September 2019, the next 
one will take place in the next academic year, September 2021. 
Uptake for these sessions is poor and has only attracted 10 
governors at most.  
 
In order to ensure all schools have access to training, the 
Exclusion Officer offers bespoke sessions within schools to 
support the whole exclusion process for all of those that are 
involved. This includes school admin staff, Headteacher and 
school governors and will focus on specific areas of 
development for that school. 

7. That the local authority’s Children’s 
Social Care department and its 
partners in Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services regularly 
review their thresholds for intervention 
and ensure there are clear pathways to 
support so that all children and young 
people can receive the help 
appropriate to their level of need within 
a reasonable timescale. (Lewisham 
Council) 

The safeguarding thresholds were revised and 
fully disseminated to partners organisations at the 
beginning of 2019. 
Through a successful Trailblazer bid with NHS 
England Lewisham Council is improving 
interventions tailored to address mild to moderate 
mental health and emotional wellbeing needs in 
primary, secondary and special schools, with a 
focus on behaviour, anxiety, depression and 
primary to secondary transitions. The teams will 
provide support to senior mental health leads in 
the participating education settings, providing 
timely advice to staff and liaising with external 
specialist services so that children and young 
people can get the right support and remain in 
education. The programme aims to: 
Target schools affected with a high level of 
disadvantage  
Reduce pupil exclusion 
Target and tailor services for Black, Asian, 
 Minority Ethnic and Refugee (BAMER) CYP 

In May 2019, CYP Joint Commissioners worked with CYP, 
residents and partners to co-produce a bid that was 
successful in securing DfES funding for two Mental 
Health Support Trailblazer Teams (MHSTs) as set out in 
the Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health Green Paper, 2017. 
 
The proposal committed to targeting and tackling health 
inequalities, in line with the NHS Long Term Plan. The 
following three inequality drivers sit at the heart of 
Lewisham’s MHST approach: 

 Targeting schools affected by poverty and crime 
 Reducing pupil exclusion 
 Targeting and tailoring services for Black, Asian,  
 Minority Ethnic and Refugee (BAMER) CYP  

 
The new teams will carry out interventions alongside 
established provision such as counselling, educational 
psychologists, and school nurses building on the menu of 
support already available and not replacing it.  
 

P
age 64



  

Nineteen Lewisham schools have signed up for the 
programme and the project went live in January 2020.  The 
first year of the programme 2020/21, will allow incoming 
Education Wellbeing Practitioners, who are graduates, to 
establish themselves in Lewisham schools whilst attending 
King’s Collage in order or develop therapeutic skills.  The 
Education Wellbeing Practitioners will work within a robust 
architecture of support.  Experienced clinicians will 
supervise the Education Wellbeing Practitioners closely 
whilst providing support and consultation to schools.     
MHST will provide  

 Individual face to face work for example, effective brief, low-
intensity interventions for children, young people and families 
experiencing anxiety, low mood, friendship or behavioural 
difficulties, based on up to date evidence. 

 Group work for pupils or parents such as Cognitive 
Behavioural Therapy for young people for conditions such as 
self-harm, and anxiety.  

 Group parenting classes to include issues around conduct 
disorder, communication difficulties. 

 
 Expected Positive Outcomes from MHST 

 Improved quality of life for children, young people and their 
families and carers -including better functioning and greater 
continuity in education, leading to better educational 
outcomes and improved long-term job prospects.  

 A reduction in mental health problems extending into 
adulthood, leading to a reduction in the associated financial 
and social costs of mental health care across the lifespan. 

 Schools and colleges gaining further understanding of and 
support for the mental health and wellbeing needs of 
children and young people –including encouragement of self-
care and seeking help if needed. 

 Reduction in referrals and improved referral quality and 
pathways into NHS CYPMH services through improved 
identification of need and assessment, and by addressing 

P
age 65



  

emerging problems that would otherwise escalate and 
require treatment. 

8. That Abbey Manor College’s premises 
on both its sites be improved or 
replaced, ideally on a new site, so that 
there is sufficient indoor and outdoor 
space as well as appropriate design to 
best deliver its services.  (Lewisham 
Council) 

Given the reduction in permanent exclusions and 
the priority to improve early intervention, and 
reintegration into mainstream education, we will 
refresh our Alternative Provision Strategy, linked 
to place planning and sufficiency. This will set out 
options to improve the PRU accommodation with 
revenue and capital implications based on 
projections of demand. Target date April 2020 

The Children and Young People’s Directorate is currently 
working on an Asset Strategy which will include the need to look 
at all council delivered Alternative Provision. It is expected that 
this strategy will be completed by the end of April 2020. 
 
 

9. That schools are encouraged 
a. to tailor the local authority’s 

offensive weapons protocol to the 
needs of their school; and 

b. to adopt a flexible approach that 
takes into account the specifics of 
each individual case. (Schools) 

Lewisham Council and Lewisham schools 
launched the Offensive Weapons Protocol in 
September 2017 and which was reviewed by the 
Inclusion Board in September 2018.  The aim of 
this protocol is to set clear guidelines that enable 
schools, police and other services in Lewisham to 
ensure that learners and staff are protected and 
the carrying of offensive weapons and violent 
behaviour is discouraged through: 
 Early identification of potential problems. 
 Early intervention. 
 The support, agreement and collaborative 

approach of schools, police and other 
services.   

 Proactive enforcement. 
Schools are encouraged to adapt the protocol to 
support their own behaviour policy and ensure 
individual flexibility for each incident of offensive 
weapons. 
 

Schools approach to the Protocol: 
 Even with an inclusive approach and a clear behaviour 

policy, permanent exclusion is sometimes necessary to 
protect staff or pupils.  

 Takes a lot of digging out to find the truth of why somebody 
has brought in a weapon, sometimes you may never know 
the complete truth. Never enough info to make decisions on 
a case by case basis. Schools still have a zero tolerance 
approach.   

 Schools will try Managed Move or Managed Transfer and if 
successful withdraw of the PEX, but everyone who brings in 
knife or drugs receives a PEX letter.  

 Always involve the Safer Schools Officer, Police and 
Violence Reduction Team. 

 Difficult to identify pupils at risk of carrying a weapon when 
no evidence, and especially communicating this to parent 

 Have worked with XLP (https://www.xlp.org.uk), The Ben 
Kinsella Trust (http://www.benkinsella.org.uk/  

 Schools aware of community influences - pupils live closely 
to gangs even if not involved, experience of murders 
(friends, in community). School is where these issues collide. 

Case Study 1:  Year 10 pupil bought weapon into school, 
school believe he was bullied into doing so through association 
with an ex school friend who is known to be criminalised. Child is 
about to take his GCSE’s, the school didn’t want to obstruct this 
and offered support to pupil and family. Child was supported via 

P
age 66

https://www.xlp.org.uk/
http://www.benkinsella.org.uk/


  

The Violence reduction team and police to avoid a criminal 
charge for being in possession of a weapon. He was moved to a 
new school where he can be supported to continue his exams 
away from the area of the incident that may have continued to 
cause further concerns. This particular school’s view was to 
adopt the Offensive Weapons Protocol to support the school and 
the child’s best interests. 
Case Study 2:  Year 6 male child B brought a kitchen knife into 
school.  Based on mitigating circumstances the school has 
worked with child B and family to understand the actions.  Child 
B was offered support from Violence Reduction Team, the Safer 
Schools officer and Primary Alternative Provision in a restorative 
manner so child B could continue in the same school after a 
fixed term exclusion.  The whole Year 6 cohort have also been 
offered support and weapons safety awareness. 

10. That schools are signposted to local 
groups such as Lewisham Education 
Group and No More Exclusions, 
comprising of professionals and 
parents, in order to reduce the 
disproportionate rate of permanent 
exclusions of black Caribbean children. 
(Schools) 

Information has been provided to Lewisham 
Headteachers to enable them to access support 
from Parent groups to enrich school Inclusion 
Strategies and further prevent permanent 
exclusions. 

All schools have been provided with this information. 

11. That, in order to address the 
disproportionate numbers of Black 
children being excluded, schools are 
encouraged to choose from a menu of 
possible actions recommended by 
Lewisham Education Group and No 
More Exclusions, which is listed at 
paragraph 11.11 in the report. 

Officers are discussing with schools issues in 
relation to disproportionality in exclusions, 
especially for black Caribbean boys. This is a 
serious and long-standing issue on a national 
scale, sitting alongside the national attainment 
gap that the Council is keen to be part of 
addressing in a broader context working with 
other local authorities. 
It is proposed to develop collaboration with other 
local authorities with a high Caribbean population 
to lobby the Department for Education and 
government for specific resourcing of initiatives to 
address racial disparity and injustice. 

Deep Dive extract on Permanent Exclusions and ethnicity: 
 
2018/19 trends – National: Black Caribbean pupils had a 
permanent exclusion rate nearly three times higher (0.28 per 
cent) than the school population as a whole (DfE 2018).  
 
2018/19 trends – Lewisham: Pupils with Caribbean 
background had a permanent exclusion rate of 0.22 per cent 
and make up the biggest group of PEX / MTs.  
 
Schools’ strategies: All schools were aware of the 
disproportionality in exclusions statistics, particularly amongst 
young black boys. Schools are using strategies such as:  

P
age 67



  

Officers will continue to work with community 
groups for better representation on governing 
bodies, parent / carer forums, etc. 
Officers are also working to develop a deeper 
understanding of how unconscious bias impacts 
on behaviour management through pastoral and 
inclusion support within schools and how the roll 
out of unconscious bias training addresses this. 
Lewisham Learning will follow up the ‘Inclusive 
Curriculum Conference’, which aimed to share 
more effective evidence-based practice from 
Lewisham and beyond, and organise more events 
of this kind. 

 Analysing trends.  
 Inset – raising awareness of issues such as intersectionality 

with deprivation. 
 Headteacher receives a weekly breakdown about pupils’ 

ethnicity in relation to action taken via the DFL.  
 Unconscious bias, stereotyping and institutional racism - 

acknowledge that this can be a factor in schools and wider 
society.  

 What will close the gap is outstanding behaviour and 
teaching and learning overall. If gaps still exists then it is 
clear there is an issue. 

 
Since September 2019 the focus has been to provide early help 
and intervention for children at risk of exclusion.  This includes a 
Mentoring Programme funded by the London Mayor’s Violence 
Reduction Team and to support ‘at risk of exclusion’, YOS and 
Concern Hub children and young people. 
 
Lewisham Education Group and Parent Engage have been lead 
partners in consultation on Lewisham’s 2020 Education Strategy 
in Spring 2020. 

12. That all schools develop policies to 
facilitate successful transitions 
between primary and secondary 
school, so that transitions are well-
planned and well-managed in order to 
support all children, but particularly 
those with SEND or experiencing 
mental health challenges. That training 
on transition to secondary school 
continue to be provided to school 
governors.  (Schools) 

The local authority already issues guidance on 
transition and holds transition days for sharing 
information on vulnerable pupils.  Officers will 
develop this into a whole borough strategy on 
transition which supports the child and the family 
through this process. 

In February 2020 Lewisham Council hosted a workshop that 
focused on the challenges and long term solutions for successful 
transition.  Several work stands will feed into a strategy, for 
example information sharing, support from the Lewisham 
Outreach Inclusion Service and better support for children who 
are identified as vulnerable at transition.  
 
Lewisham Council has implemented some short term solutions 
which include:  
 Year 6 - 7 Transition Programme – ‘Stepping Stones’ funded 

by the London Mayor’s Violence Reduction Team which 
targets a Lewisham secondary school and the feeder 
Primary schools to support children who might struggle at 
year 6-7 transition. P
age 68



  

 Lewisham based Intervention Programme designed to 
support Year 7 children who are at risk of exclusion. 

13. That secondary schools include in their 
induction packs details of their 
behaviour policies including their 
permanent exclusion policies and 
processes. (Schools) 

This is practice that is already in place.  The 
school behaviour policy is required to be on the 
school website.   We regularly remind heads and 
governors of the website requirements as this is 
something that is checked by Ofsted as part of 
the inspection framework. 

This has been done. 

14. That schools review their provision of 
behaviour support units and internal 
exclusion units and seek to adopt best 
practice within the units such as 
providing a stimulating environment 
where learning takes place, offering 
therapeutic interventions where 
necessary, making use of the 
principles of restorative justice, etc. 
(Schools) 

Officers will encourage Lewisham Headteachers 
to identify and promote best practice from 
Lewisham and from other boroughs.  

This has been done. Headteachers are engaging in this as part 
of their individual strategies. 

15. That where schools are not doing so 
already, they be encouraged to 
consider use of the pupil premium 
payment where appropriate to fund 
preventative intervention measures to 
reduce permanent exclusions of 
eligible students. (Schools) 

This recommendation will be shared with 
Lewisham Headteachers and they will be 
encouraged to consider the best use of pupil 
premium to support children at risk of exclusion. 

Individual school case study: 
Transition work is intensive: 
 School staff get 100 per cent information about each pupil.  
 Three members of staff are removed from timetable for one 

week to look at the information and make decisions about 
timetable, SEN support, ethnicity, vulnerabilities, peer 
relationships and they balance classes very carefully.  

 By May they have a list of which pupils will need targeted 
support.    

 During the first half term in-house mentoring is available for 
year 7s. 

 Weekly panel meetings to monitor – discuss SEN support / 
referrals needed.  

Explorer classes for KS3 
 12 hours of small group teaching with TA support.  
 For vulnerable pupils (not bright and able pupils). 
 Length of time – could be for whole of KS3 if needed. P
age 69



  

 Ofsted note that improvements in expected progress of 
SEN pupils is the result of the support they receive in the 
explorer classes.  

16. That school governors routinely 
monitor the number of pupils who are 
removed from the school roll in Key 
Stage 4 in order to ensure that no 
students are unlawfully off-rolled. That 
school governors also track the 
reasons students are removed from 
the school roll, and their destinations 
(including elective home education). 
(Schools) 

Lewisham Council recently responded to Ofsted’s 
on an ‘off-rolling’ enquiry which went to all London 
boroughs.  After full investigation it is clear that 
we know the destination all our children who have 
been taken off roll during Key Stage 4, with clear 
and justifiable decision-making, and challenge by 
the local authority where appropriate.  This is also 
now a very important focus in Ofsted inspections. 

This has been done. 

17. That individual schools record an audit 
of managed transfers together with the 
reasons for these and students’ 
destinations. That this information be 
provided termly to school governors, 
and be included by the local authority 
in the annual report on attendance and 
exclusions that the Children and 
Young People Select Committee 
receives. (Schools and Lewisham 
Council). 

All schools already inform Lewisham Council of 
any managed transfers as part of a quality 
assurance process. Schools are required to 
provide termly detailed reports to governors on all 
permanent exclusions, fixed term exclusions and 
managed transfers. 

This is routinely provided by Headteachers at Governing Body 
meetings.  The Director of Education recently witnessed this at 
the Sedgehill School governing Body meeting.  

18. That Abbey Manor College be 
encouraged to continue on its 
trajectory of improving educational 
outcomes that are significantly above 
the national average for Pupil Referral 
Units, for its pupils. And that the 
measurable benefits for its pupils be 
promoted actively so as to counter its 
generally negative image. (Abbey 
Manor College, Lewisham Council) 

As part of Lewisham Learning school 
improvement framework Abbey Manor College 
will continue to be supported to further improve 
education outcomes its pupils.  The ethos and 
image of the provision will be considered as part 
of the refreshed Alternative Provision Strategy 
(referred to in the response to recommendation 
8).   

A school judged good at its most recent inspection will normally 
receive an inspection approximately every four years, to confirm 
that the school remains good. Therefore Abbey Manor College is 
In the Ofsted window.  The focus is on: 
 quality of education – intent, implementation and impact  
 behaviour and attitudes  
 personal development  
 leadership and management.  
Leaders are expected to ensure that all learners complete their 
programmes of study. Abbey Manor College remains in a good 
position to maintain the current Ofsted judgement. P

age 70



  

 
Report author and contact 
Ruth Griffiths, Head of Access, Inclusion and Participation 
Ruth.griffiths@lewisham.gov.uk 

19. That schools are requested to include 
unconscious bias and equalities 
training in continuing professional 
development for all school leaders, 
staff and members of governing 
bodies. That this training also be 
included in the training of Newly 
Qualified Teachers in Lewisham that it 
be built into Lewisham’s contracts with 
teacher training providers. (Teacher 
Training Providers, Schools, Lewisham 
Council.) 

Lewisham Council does not have contracts with 
teacher training providers. However Lewisham 
will offer Unconscious bias/ Equality training in 
future Primary NQT training programme. STEEP 
Teaching School Alliance (TSA) independently 
offers an Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 
NQT training programme and ATLAS Teaching 
School Alliance independently offers a Secondary 
NQT training programme which are both open to 
Lewisham NQTs. It is not a statutory requirement 
for schools to send NQTs to central NQT training 
sessions but the Council will recommend to 
STEEP TSA and ATLAS TSA that they offer 
Unconscious bias/ Equality training in their future 
EYFS and Secondary training programmes. 

This has been done. 

20. Lobby for independent advocacy being 
made available for families going 
through the statutory permanent 
exclusions process. (Department for 
Education) 

Currently Lewisham exclusions letters signpost 
the national and local sources of support but there 
is no funding for dedicated independent advocacy 
for this area and this is something which the 
council could lobby for. 

This is done for every family whose child is faced with 
permanent exclusion.  Families generally take of the offer of 
external and independent support. 

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Children and Young People Select Committee 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 As part of the work programme for 2019/20 municipal year, the Select Committee 
agreed to carry out a short review of how living in temporary accommodation affects 
children.  
 

1.2 The scope of the review was agreed in July 2019. Evidence has been gathered 
through meetings with officers, Ombudsman’s reports, desktop research, visits to 
Rathfern and Rushey Green Primary Schools, conversations with Lewisham families 
living in temporary accommodation. 
 

1.3 The Chair also visited Hamilton Lodge, a former care home that was converted to a 
temporary accommodation hostel in 2016. The hostel provides 74 bedspaces over 21 
units, including one after-hours emergency facility (2 bedspaces). The Chair will 
provide the Committee with an oral account of his visit, together with any thoughts or 
observations he may wish to share. 
 

1.4 Evidence was gathered from Housing Officers at the last meeting of the Committee on 
23 January. 
 

1.5 The attached report re-presents the information that the Committee considered on 23 
January with the inclusion of ethnicity data and information on Lewisham’s use of 
temporary accommodation in Harlow following the airing of a BBC Panorama 
programme entitled “Cashing in on the Housing Crisis”. 
 

1.6 A set of draft recommendations is provided at Appendix F. These were drawn up by 
the Chair and incorporate suggestions put forward by Members. 

How living in temporary accommodation affects children 

Date: 10 March 2020 

Key decision: No.  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Scrutiny Manager 

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

2. Recommendations 

2.1 Members of the Select Committee are asked to:  

 note the report and appendices A-F;  

 Comment on and agree a set of recommendations to be referred to Mayor and 
Cabinet.  
 

3.  Legal implications 

3.1 The report will be submitted to Mayor and Cabinet, which holds the decision making 
powers in respect of this matter. 

 

4. Financial implications 

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising out of this report. However, the 
financial implications of any specific recommendations will need to be considered in due 
course.  

 

5. Equalities implications 

5.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendations set out in this report. The Council works to eliminate unlawful discrimination 
and harassment, promote equality of opportunity and good relations between different groups 
in the community and to recognise and to take account of people’s differences.  

 

For more information on this report please contact Emma Aye-Kumi, Scrutiny Manager, on 020 
8314 9534.  

 

 

Page 74

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

Appendix A  How living in temporary accommodation affects children 
 
 

1. Purpose and structure of review  
 

1.1 At its meeting on 30 April 2019, the Children and Young People Select Committee 
agreed to look at how living in temporary accommodation affects children. 
  

1.2 The Committee agreed the scope and Key Lines of Enquiry on 11 July 2019. The 
following key lines of enquiry were agreed:  
 

2. Key Lines of Enquiry 

 
1. What are the homelessness and temporary accommodation rates in 

Lewisham? In London? What percentage of households living in temporary 
accommodation include school age children? 

2. What is the geographic spread of Lewisham families in temporary 
accommodation? 

3. How does living in temporary accommodation affect children? What data is 
available that illustrates the impact on children’s: 
a. Physical health 
b. Mental health 
c. Cognitive development 
d. Academic attainment and school attendance 
e. Opportunities in adulthood 
f. Engagement with Children’s Social Care, Missing, Exploited and 

Trafficked (MET) 
4. What impact does the quality and location of the temporary accommodation 

have (eg Out of Borough placements)? 
5. What can we learn from the lived experience of families living in temporary 

accommodation? 
6. How do schools support children living in temporary accommodation? 
7. What other support is available for children in temporary accommodation? 
 

2.1 Evidence was gathered from schools, parents living in temporary accommodation,  
officers in Children’s Social Care, Ombudsman’s reports, desk-based research and 
through a visit to one of Lewisham’s temporary accommodation hostels. 
 

3. Policy context 

 
3.1 The Council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-2022 sets out seven corporate priorities which 

drive decision making in the Council. Lewisham’s corporate priorities were agreed by 
full Council and they are the principal mechanism through which the Council’s 
performance is reported. This review supports the following corporate priorities: 

 Tackling the housing crisis – everyone has a decent home that is secure 
and affordable 

 Giving children and young people the best start in life – every child has 
access to an outstanding and inspiring education and is given the support 
they need to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential. 

 

Page 75



 

 
3.2 The Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP)  2015 – 2018 (currently being updated) 

also sets the strategic vision “Together with families, we will improve the lives and life 
chances of the children and young people in Lewisham”.  
 

3.3 One specific priority aim of the CYPP is 
 

 BR4 Mitigating the negative impact of insecure or unsuitable housing 
for children, young people and families 

 
3.4 A number of council policies are relevant to this report, namely: 

 Housing Strategy 2015-2020, which has an objective of helping residents at 
times of severe or urgent housing need 

 The Locational Priority Policy, which sets out the approach the council takes 
when placing households into temporary accommodation 

 The Private Rented Sector Discharge Policy, which details how the council 
operates the Housing Register and determines the allocation of properties 
to those in housing need as per an annually approved lettings plan 

 
 

4. Responsibilities of the council 

 
The main duty 
 

4.1 Where a council believes a person is homeless or threatened with homelessness it 
must carry out enquiries into that person’s circumstances and reach a decision as to 
what duty it owes to them. (Housing Act 1996, s184)  
 

4.2 If the council is satisfied an applicant is eligible, homeless, in priority need and 
unintentionally homeless it will owe them the main housing duty. Lewisham, like 
most councils, carries out this duty by arranging temporary accommodation until a 
suitable offer of social housing or private rented accommodation can be made. 
(Housing Act 1996, section 193) 
 

4.3 The council's Private Rented Sector Policy (Appendix B) sets out how it will 
discharge the main housing duty.  

 
No Recourse to Public Funds 
 

4.4 No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) is a condition imposed on someone due to 
their immigration status. The main housing duty does not apply in these cases, 
however families with children may qualify for limited support under s17 of the 
Children’s Act (for example in cases of destitution).  
 

4.5 Although not required to do so in law, Lewisham applies the same support standards 
and policies to NRPF families as it does to families owed the main duty.  
 
Suitability of accommodation 

  

Page 76



 

4.6 The council must ensure all accommodation provided to homeless applicants is 
suitable for the needs of the household. This duty applies to both emergency 
accommodation (accommodation provided while the council carried out enquiries to 
decide whether a duty is owed) and accommodation provided under the main 
homelessness duty. (Housing Act 1996, section 206) 

4.7 The council must consider whether the property is 

o affordable  
o in good enough condition 
o available in a suitable location – having regard to personal circumstances, 

including travel time to work, disruption to education, support networks, caring 
responsibilitues 

o the right size  
o suitable for any health issues or disabilities. 

4.8 If accommodation falls below certain minimum standards set out in the Housing Act 
2004, it is not suitable. The Homelessness Code of Guidance recommends that any 
accommodation should, as a minimum, be free of Category One hazards assessed 
under the Housing Health and Safety Rating system. A Category One hazard is a 
hazard that poses a serious threat to someone’s health or safety, such as exposed 
wiring, very cold bedrooms, mould, infestation, lack of security. 

4.9 The large range of nightly paid accommodation providers that the council uses 
makes it impossible for the council to inspect them all. Instead, the council has an  
agreement with nightly paid accommodation providers which includes a Code of 
Ethics governing the required property standards. The provider manages the 
properties, but the Council carries out quarterly sample inspections. It will also 
inspect a property if there are any ongoing or escalated issues. 

4.10 The Court of Appeal has confirmed that what constitutes “suitable” is a matter for the 
council; it can only be challenged where it is clearly inadequate1. 

Location 

4.11 The council is required under the Housing Act 1996 to find accommodation within the 
borough, as far as is reasonably practicable (and unless there are safeguarding 
concerns about doing so).  

4.12 Lewisham council operates a Location Priority Policy (Appendix C). It tries to place 
all households in temporary accommodation that is “within or as close as possible to 
Lewisham”, and assesses whether applicants have priority to be located “in” the 
Borough, “close to” the Borough, or have no priority as to the location of a property. It 
also says applicants may ask for assistance in relocating to more settled 
accommodation. 

                                                 
1  Codona v Mid-Bedfordshire District Council [2004] EWCA Civ 925 [2005] HLR 1, CA 

Page 77



 

4.13 The council must consider the location of accommodation when they consider if it is 
suitable for the applicant and members of their household. If a council places an 
applicant outside its district, it must consider, among other matters: 

o the distance of the accommodation from the “home” district (using Laurence 
House as the point from which distance is measured) 

o the significance of any disruption to the education of members of the applicant’s 
household 

o the proximity and accessibility to local services, amenities and transport 
(Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) Order 2012) 

 
5.1 Nationally, the number of homeless families living in temporary accommodation is 

rising, and this is reflected across London 
 

5.2 There are a number of reasons for this increase, including: 

 A lack of supply of affordable homes and a decline in the availability of social 
homes for let 

 The increasing cost of housing and reliance on the private rented sector 
(PRS)  

 Welfare reform, including the freezing of Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates 
to 2015 levels. LHA is the housing benefit ceiling rate for claimants in the 
PRS. 

 
5.3 The total number of households in temporary accommodation at the end of June 

2019 is 86,130, which includes 127,370 children.   The number of placements in 
London accounts for nearly a third of all placements. There are 59,950 households 
with 89,130 children in temporary accommodation in London.2 

 
5.4 At the end of June, Lewisham had 2,195 households in temporary accommodation 

with 4,464 children. This number continues to increase exponentially.    
 
Ethnic profile of homeless families 
 
5.5 Data regarding the ethnicity of homeless families is not routinely gathered or 

analysed. The Committee asked officers to look at how different communities, 
including Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities, are affected by 
homelessness. 

 

                                                 
2 MHCLG Live tables on homelessness - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85
2920/StatHomeless_201906.xlsx 
 

5. KEY LINE OF ENQUIRY 1 
What are the homelessness and temporary accommodation rates in Lewisham? 
In London? What percentage of households living in temporary accommodation 
include school age children? 

Page 78

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/852920/StatHomeless_201906.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/852920/StatHomeless_201906.xlsx


 

The tables below are drawn out of decisions on homeless cases since April 2018, 
including all acceptances, positive preventions and positive reliefs for households 
places into shared facility nightly paid accommodation. There are some gaps in the 
data due to difficulties cross matching cases across various systems. Around 90% of 
relevant applications are captured in these tables.   

 
 

By Volume Decisions Accepted 
Positive 

Prevention Positive Relief 
Ethnicity With 
Dependent Children (A-
Z) 

Count 
of 
Cases 

Total 
Dependen
t Children 

Count 
of 
Cases 

Total 
Dependen
t Children 

Count 
of 
Cases 

Total 
Dependen
t Children 

Count 
of 
Cases 

Total 
Dependen
t Children 

Asian or Asian British 
Bangladeshi 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 
Asian or Asian British 
Chinese 1 2 1 2 0 0 0 0 
Asian or Asian British 
Indian 2 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 
Asian or Asian British 
Other 7 9 7 9 0 0 1 1 
Asian or Asian British 
Pakistani 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 
Black or Black British 
African 71 113 64 99 0 0 4 9 
Black or Black British 
Caribbean 41 56 39 54 0 0 3 4 
Black or Black British 
Other 4 7 3 5 0 0 0 0 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic 
- Other 2 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic 
- White and Black 
African 2 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic 
- White and Black 
Caribbean 1  1 1 0 0 1 2 
Other ethnic group - 
Arab 2 3 2 3 0 0 0 0 
Other ethnic group - 
Other 21 34 21 34 0 0 0 0 
Refused / 
Unspecified 16 26 15 23 0 0 1 1 
White - 
English/Welsh/Scotti
sh/Northern 
Irish/British 44 58 42 56 1 1 4 5 
White and Black 
Caribbean 3 4 3 4 0 0 0 0 

White Other 12 19 12 19 0 0 1 1 

Grand Total 230 339 217 316 1 1 16 24 

         

By % Decisions Accepted 
Positive 

Prevention Positive Relief 
Ethnicity With 
Dependent Children (A-
Z) 

Count 
of 
Cases 

Total 
Dependen
t Children 

Count 
of 
Cases 

Total 
Dependen
t Children 

Count 
of 
Cases 

Total 
Dependen
t Children 

Count 
of 
Cases 

Total 
Dependen
t Children 

Asian or Asian British 
Bangladeshi 0.4% 0.3% 0.5% 0.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Page 79



 

Asian or Asian British 
Chinese 0.4% 0.6% 0.5% 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Asian or Asian British 
Indian 0.9% 0.6% 0.9% 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Asian or Asian British 
Other 3.0% 2.7% 3.2% 2.8% 0.0% 0.0% 6.3% 4.2% 
Asian or Asian British 
Pakistani 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.3% 4.2% 
Black or Black British 
African 

30.9
% 33.3% 

29.5
% 31.3% 0.0% 0.0% 

25.0
% 37.5% 

Black or Black British 
Caribbean 

17.8
% 16.5% 

18.0
% 17.1% 0.0% 0.0% 

18.8
% 16.7% 

Black or Black British 
Other 1.7% 2.1% 1.4% 1.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic 
- Other 0.9% 0.6% 0.9% 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic 
- White and Black 
African 0.9% 0.6% 0.9% 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic 
- White and Black 
Caribbean 0.4% 0.3% 0.5% 0.3% 0.0% 0.0% 6.3% 8.3% 
Other ethnic group - 
Arab 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Other ethnic group - 
Other 9.1% 10.0% 9.7% 10.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Refused / 
Unspecified 7.0% 7.7% 6.9% 7.3% 0.0% 0.0% 6.3% 4.2% 
White - 
English/Welsh/Scotti
sh/Northern 
Irish/British 

19.1
% 17.1% 

19.4
% 17.7% 

100.
0% 100.0% 

25.0
% 20.8% 

White and Black 
Caribbean 1.3% 1.2% 1.4% 1.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

White Other 5.2% 5.6% 5.5% 6.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.3% 4.2% 

Grand Total 
100

% 100% 
100

% 100% 
100

% 100% 
100

% 100% 

 
 

 
 

 

6. KEY LINE OF ENQUIRY 2 
What is the geographic spread of Lewisham families in temporary accommodation? 

Page 80



 

Map showing distribution of households in temporary accommodation

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

 
The Committee asked for the map (above) to be broken down by ethnic origin. This 
has not been possible because the volume of information that the map would need 
to show would make it illegible. Instead the information is provided in the tables 
below. Again, this represents applications since April 2018 where the family has 
been placed into nightly paid shared facility accommodation. 
 
There are some gaps in the data due to difficulties cross matching cases across 
various systems. Around 70% of relevant applications are captured in these tables.   
 

 
Table 1: % of each ethnic group placed in any given location 

Page 82



 

 
 
Table 2: % of all placements in a given location by ethnic group 

 
 

Page 83



 

Table 3: Volumes of placements by ethnic group

 
 
On 3 February 2020, the BBC aired a Panorama investigation called "Cashing in on the 
Housing Crisis", which gave a stark insight into life in converted office block accommodation 
in Harlow. The main issues brought out by the programme concerned lack of security, 
housing families alongside single occupants who may be exhibiting challenging behaviour 
due to addiction or mental health difficulties, problems with anti-social (ASB) and criminal 
behaviour such as drug dealing from the premises. 

 
Lewisham currently leases 40 self-contained 2-bedroom family units across two buildings in 
Harlow – Templefields House and Terminus House. These buildings were office blocks that 
were converted into residential flats under permitted development. The flats are leased from 
Caridon Property Limited on three year leases, which terminate between 2020- 21. 

 

There have been some reports of ASB received from Lewisham households to the housing 
reviews team, which have been passed on to Caridon by Lewisham. Caridon are not aware 
of any incidences of ASB caused by Lewisham families placed in the properties.  
 

The communal areas of Terminus House were inspected in January by a council officer. No 
signs of ASB in the form of smells or signs of drug use, graffiti, urine or congregations of 
gangs were evident at the time of the visit.  

 
In response to concerns raised by a Harlow Councillor, a number of senior officers, together 
with the Cabinet Member for Housing visited Terminus House on 27 January 2020. They 
concluded that the accommodation was suitable and more importantly safe for our residents, 
with adequate measures in place in terms of security and health & safety. 

 
A full briefing note is provided at Appendix E.  

Page 84



 

 

7.1 There is extensive evidence regarding the negative impact that living in temporary 
accommodation has on children. A list of sources is provided in the footnote3. 
 

a) physical health 

 

 

                                                 
3 Panos, Eleanor & Stuart 1998 
“Homelessness and its impact on children”, 2019, The Association for Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health 
Hambrick, Rubens, Brawner & Taussig, 2018 
Astone, McLanahan 1994; Hagan et al 1996 
“The impact of homelessness on children and their development” a presentation by Marcus 
McPhillips, Shelter 
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/39202/Chance_of_a_Lifetime.pdf  

 

 
 

7. KEY LINE OF ENQUIRY 3 
How does living in temporary accommodation affect children? What data is 
available that illustrates the impact on children’s: 
 

a. Physical health 
b. Mental health 
c. Cognitive development 
d. Academic attainment and school attendance 
e. Opportunities in adulthood 
f. Engagement with Children’s Social Care, Missing, Exploited and 

Trafficked (MET) 
 

 Difficulty sleeping, due bed-sharing or being disturbed by the noise of 
siblings or adults sharing the same room  

 Poor quality accommodation can increase the risk of severe ill-health or 
disability by up to 25% during childhood and early adulthood 

 Children living in overcrowded housing are up to 10 times more likely to 
contract meningitis, and as many as one in three people who grow up in 
overcrowded housing have respiratory problems in adulthood. 

 Children living in damp, mouldy homes are between one and a half and 
three times more prone to coughing and wheezing - symptoms of asthma 
and other respiratory conditions – than children living in dry homes. 

 

Page 85

https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/39202/Chance_of_a_Lifetime.pdf


 

b. mental health 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c. cognitive and physical development 

 

 Pregnant mothers are less likely to receive consistent early prenatal care 

 Exposure to long term stress affects foetal brain development 

 Poor maternal nutrition can increase risk of birth complications. Low birth 
weight, preterm and pre-term birth 

 Reduced access to health and dental care 

 Impaired parent/child bond due to frequent moves and an unpredictable or 
chaotic environment 

 Lack of access to toys resulting in understimulation 

 Late weaning due to lack of facilities to sterilise bottles and feeding 
equipment 

 Delayed crawling and walking due to lack of floor space   

  “buggy babies” – infants being left in prams for extended periods causing 
soft skull bones to become misshapen 

 Delayed toilet training, speech delays, bed wetting 
 

 Social isolation from peers – particularly acute in secondary children where 
lack of access to toilet and washing facilities can mean hair and uniform 
goes unwashed 

 Feeling self-conscious and ‘different’ to peers  

 Anxiety – younger children can be withdrawn and less social whereas 
older children become more aggressive and confrontational 

 Homelessness has long-lasting effects on mental health. Anxiety remains 
after permanent rehousing 

 Homelessness-related anxiety affects girls more than boys, thought to be 
because female-related puberty amplifies anxiety. 

 

 

 
 

Page 86



 

d. academic attainment and school attendance 

 
e. opportunities in adulthood 

 
 
 
f. engagement with Children’s Social Care, Missing, Exploited and Trafficked 
(MET) 
 

7.2 The Scrutiny Manager met with a representative from Children’s Social Care (CSC) 
who gave evidence that being in temporary accommodation does not necessarily 
make it harder for CSC to engage with a family, since they can be in TA for a 
number of years, and their whereabouts is known. 
 

7.3 TA is a factor in the lives of many children who are subject to a plan. While it is not 
usually the sole reason that a plan is necessary, chaotic and uncertain living 
arrangements can be an exacerbating factor. For all of the families it has dealings 
with, Children’s Social Care does gather information on the type of accommodation 
(temporary/ permanent/ hostel/ PRS) and how long they have been living there.  
 

7.4 For those children or young people who are Missing, Exploted or Trafficked (MET), 
TA is a recurring feature however there is no clear evidence that it is harder for CSC 
to engage with them or their families. 
 

 Falling asleep in class, or appearing physically fatigued and distracted.  

 Sleep has recently been shown to have a mediating effect between 
Adverse Childhood Experiences ACEs and delinquency 

 Behaviour – lack of personal belongings or “comforter” items, which can be 
lost or packed away during a rushed move. Children can become 
aggressively possessive with other pupils.  

 Frequent moves are associated with lower educational attainment by late 
adolescence 

 Lack of study or homework space impacts on academic progress 

 Missed school time – particularly if housed far away from school 

 Increased risk of exclusion 
 
 

 Long-term health problems and low educational attainment increase the 
likelihood of unemployment or working in low-paid jobs.  

 Opportunities for leisure and recreation are undermined by low income and 
health problems.  

 The behavioural problems associated with bad housing (including 
homelessness, overcrowding and poor quality housing) in childhood can 
manifest themselves in later offending behaviour. In one study, nearly half 
of young people who had offended had experienced homelessness. 

 

Page 87



 

7.5 Homeless families are not routinely referred to CSC for a s17 Child in Need 
Assessment unless they present as homeless on the day. In most cases a family has 
28 days notice that the tenancy will end and so no CSC intervention is needed. A 
CSC referral is automatically triggered where a family has No Recourse to Public 
Funds. 
 

7.6 CSC identified three areas where it was felt improvements could be made, namely: 
a. Homeless 16 & 17 year olds and care leavers being placed in 

inappropriate TA – eg B&B or out of borough accommodation - due to 
lack of suitable accommodation for Young People 

b. Working with families who are at crisis point but are not owed a 
housing duty because they are considered to be intentionally homeless 

c. Support for families in social housing who default on rent payments. 
Intervening early to prevent the ‘domino rally effect’ of eviction, 
requiring joint working between between Housing and Children’s Social 
Care. 

 

7.7 CSC suggested a Housing and CSC jointly funded post to address some of these 
issues and to implement automatic CSC referrals where social tenants with children 
default on rent, might be beneficial. 
 

 
Location 
 

8.1 During visits to Rathfern and Rushey Green Primary Schools, and in gathering 
evidence from parents living in temporary accommodation with their children, 
members of the Committee heard that where a family is placed outside the borough 
distance from school can be a major problem for families, both in terms of long 
travelling times and cost. The Committee heard of a family that had to leave the 
house shortly after 6am to get to school on multiple buses as the £8 per day cost of 
train travel was unaffordable.  
 

8.2 The early start can mean little time for breakfast and the children arriving at school 
hungry. Even if the child has eaten breakfast, a very early start means a long gap 
between breakfast and lunch, and hunger can affect concentration. 
 

8.3 Long journeys and very early starts are exhausting for children, and schools reported 
loss of learning time due to children falling asleep or being too tired to engage fully at 
school.  
 

8.4 A parent pointed out that if one child in the family, or indeed the parent in a single 
parent family, is too unwell to make the journey to school, it can mean all of the 
children missing school.  

 

8. KEY LINE OF ENQUIRY 4 
What impact does the quality and location of the temporary accommodation have 
(eg Out of Borough placements)? 

Page 88



 

8.5 Although the journey can make attending school difficult, schools reported that on 
the whole, families in TA make a huge effort to get their children to school.  

 
8.6 Changing schools may seem like the obvious solution. However, the temporary 

nature of the accommodationand lack of certainty about how long they will be there 
means families can be reluctant to change school. Plus many families hold onto the 
hope that they will secure settled accommodation back in Lewisham.  The 
Committee heard the experiences of one family that had moved between temporary 
accommodation four times in as many months, across four boroughs spanning 
London. Whereas a long-term gradual transition from one school to another may be 
appropriate in some situations, it is often not possible or beneficial to the child to 
move schools with each housing move. 

 
8.7 A key concern for parents living with the uncertainty of temporary accommodation is 

creating consistency in their children’s lives. Having a safe and familiar place to go, 
where the child and family is known to the school becomes increasingly important. 
When everything else in a child’s life is changing, school as the constant can be a 
protective factor mitigating the impact of homelessness.  
 
Quality of accommodation 

 
8.8 Parents commented on the quality of accommodation as being problematic, citing 

examples of condemned boilers, dangerous fixtures, rats and mice, landlords being 
slow to make repairs. Some reported feeling as though they were being treated in a 
derogatory way or in a way that undermined their dignity. 

 
8.9 Overcrowding was reportedly a problem too. Overcrowded conditions include 

situations where different sex children aged 10 or over have to share a bedroom, 
where parents have to share a bedroom with a child or children, where there are 
more than two children in a bedroom; and where rooms such as kitchens and living 
rooms are used as bedrooms. 

 
8.10 Some felt that PRS landlords were not being adequately held to account. Parents 

had experienced used condoms, syringes and other drug paraphernalia in communal 
spaces, rough sleepers in the hallway, and filthy foul-smelling common parts. One 
school shared that a 5 year old had seen a man with a gun in the building. All of the 
parents that gave evidence were single women. They reported feeling isolated and 
vulnerable in their accommodation. Several parents reported that their children were 
reluctant to go home from school, due to issues with the accommodation. 

 

 
9.1 Evidence suggests that better communication is needed, with clear signposting to 

housing advocacy services, details of named housing officer and details of how to 
deal with repair requests. 

 

9. KEY LINE OF ENQUIRY 5 
What can we learn from the lived experience of families living in temporary 
accommodation?  

Page 89



 

Lack of clarity 
9.2 A recurring theme in the discussions the Committee had with schools and parents 

was lack of clarity of information. This is also reflected in two Ombudsman’s4 
decisions. Evidence indicates a lack of clarity over 

1. likely time in emergency or temporary accommodation (the parents we spoke 
to did not differentiate between the two). One parent said she had been 
advised she would likely spend between 6 weeks and 6 months in temporary 
accommodation but had in fact been in temporary accommodation for 8 years. 
Another reported living in one room with her 2 children for 4 months, having 
been told she would be there for no more than 6 weeks. 

2. likelihood of being offered settled accommodation in the borough. 
3. who to deal with regarding repairs, pest control and other complaints, and 

how to escalate. 
4. whether being in temporary accommodation out of the borough impacts on 

chances of being offered social housing within the borough – one family felt 
that they had been deliberately housed in out of borough TA so that the 
council could claim they had not been resident in the borough for 5 years and 
therefore did not qualify for social housing in Lewisham 

5. who to go to for independent housing advice, since the Citizen Advice Bureau 
in Catford had closed. 

6. the role of local MPs and ward councillors, and how to contact them. 
7. Rights and responsibilities of tenants, landlords and the council. Parents gave 

examples of bad practice from PRS landlords such as threatening tenants 
with eviction for spurious reasons such as “complaining too much”, or 
landlords not dealing with repairs in a timely fashion. One parent had been 
caught in a dispute between a letting agency and the council. Another had 
had problems with a previous tenant trying to gain access to the 
accommodation. 

 

9.3 When asked what would help, parents wanted that support to move forward, with 
better representation, to help them have a voice. 

 
9.4 Through their casework some Members had themselves experienced difficulties in 

contacting named Housing officers, including disconnected phone numbers, phones 
ringing out, mailboxes full and unable to take messages, having to ask the Operator 
to email caseworkers to request that they empty their voicemail. 

 
9.5 Housing officers are often away from the office attending properties, however  

service users need to be able to contact the service, leave a message and be 
confident of receiving a response. 
 

10.1 As  support services such as Children’s Social Care and CAMHS become harder to 
access, schools say they are left with little choice but to try to meet the needs that 

                                                 
4 https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/17-013-673 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/17-012-265 
 

10. KEY LINE OF ENQUIRY 6 
How do schools support children living in temporary accommodation? 

Page 90

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/17-013-673
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/17-012-265


 

they are presented with. To receive an effective education, the child needs good 
school attendance, to be punctual, to have space to do homework and space to play, 
to have a healthy diet and lifestyle, to be well rested and able to engage in lessons. 
Adequate living accommodation is at the heart of this. While schools endeavour to 
support families as best they can, the knock-on effect for children goes wider than 
school achievement, affecticing mental and physical health, development, wellbeing. 

 
10.2 Schools reported a shift in the support needs of families. Whereas previously support 

was needed in the form of additional lessons, increasingly families needed additional 
play opportunities, emotional and mental health support, somebody to talk to, 
support with job applications, CV preparation, benefits applications, housing 
advocacy. 

 
10.3 Practice in schools varies on a school by school basis. The Committee heard details 

of some of the measures put in place to support families, including making an 
extended day available to families struggling with long journeys to enable children to 
have time before school to eat breakfast, and after school to play or do homework. 
One school described a child becoming very possessive when toys were brought 
out. The child’s toys had all been packed away because the  the family was in very 
cramped temporary accommodation. The school responded by making toys 
available to be played with after school. 

 
10.4 One school gives out recycled uniform to all Reception children regardless of need, 

and subsidises school dinners so that all children can have second or third helpings. 
Both of the schools visited are part of the Magic Breakfast5 programme, and give out 
bagels for breakfast before school.  

 
10.5 Schools can only offer support to families living in temporary accommodation if they 

are aware of their living arrangements. Schools reported that families often take a 
long time before they open up to the school, whether because of embarrassment – 
one parent said “I feel like a failure for not providing a nice home for my children” - or 
fear of officialdom, particularly if they have No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF). 
Usually, schools find out through dealing with SEN. If the child does not present with 
needs, then the school would not know. However schools felt it was important to 
identify early help needs sufficiently early in order to break trajectories and see 
academic success and to avoid exclusions. 

 
10.6 Both schools acknowledged that while social work is not the school’s responsibility, 

they have no choice but to take on that role, supporting parents, signposting to 
specialist services, writing letters to help resolve housing problems. Often, letter 
writing has little practical effect other than giving the parent a voice and offering 
much needed reassurance. Both schools reported increasing demand for foodback 
vouchers. 

 
10.7 Both schools said that the majority of their families start off in emergency 

accommodation in Ilford, before being moved on to temporary accommodation as far 
away as Strateford, Whitechapel, Redbridge, Croydon, Watford, Romford. 

 

                                                 
5 www.magicbreakfast.com  

Page 91

http://www.magicbreakfast.com/


 

10.8 Families and school expressed frustration about their dealings with Housing officers. 
According to schools, families cannot always name their Housing Officer. Schools 
also reported that families do not know how long they will be in temporary 
accommodation, and think that if the school writes on their behalf they will be moved 
back into the borough.  

 
10.9 Staff had experience of working in other schools in the borough and the Committee 

heard that good practice in supporting families living in temporary accommodation is 
not consistent across all Lewisham primary schools. They felt families could benefit 
from examples of good practice being shared across the borough’s schools via 
Lewisham Learning. 

 
10.10The Committee heard that the waiting list at Kaleidoscope does not feel any better to 

schools, who are having to find alternative ways of supporting mental health needs, 
such as through charities.  
 

10.11Shelter has recommended a number of good practice examples that schools can do 
to effectively support homeless children6. While some of the references are out of 
date – Connexions no longer exists – the recommendations are still useful. Many 
schools in Lewisham will be doing some of these things already, but this will vary on 
a school by school basis.  Shelter’s recommendations are available at Appendix D. 

 
 

 
 
11. No evidence was collated on this during the course of the review. 

 
  

                                                 
6 
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/81010/Engaging_with_homeless_children_-
_Guidance_for_education_professionals.pdf 

11. KEY LINE OF ENQUIRY 7 
What other support is available for children in temporary accommodation 

 

Page 92



 

Appendix B   Location Priority Policy 
 
Appendix C  Private Rented Sector Policy 
 
Appendix D  Shelter report: Engaging with Homeless Children 
 
Appendix E  Briefing – use of temporary accommodation in Harlow 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



1

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM

LOCATION PRIORITY POLICY

General

1.1. This Location Priority Policy will provide a framework for the fair allocation of 
affordable temporary accommodation within and close to the London Borough of 
Lewisham. This policy applies to the allocation of temporary accommodation 
secured under Part VII, Housing Act 1996 and under Part III, Children Act 1989.

1.2. Officers will endeavour to place all households within or as close as possible to 
the London Borough of Lewisham. This policy outlines which households will 
have priority for accommodation in these areas.

1.3. This policy does not prevent a household from considering other housing options, 
including asking the Council for advice, support and assistance in relocating to 
more settled accommodation.  

Categories of Location Priority

2.1. If the local authority has a duty to secure accommodation, an assessment will be 
carried out to determine the location priority of the applicant. The assessment will 
determine whether the applicant has:

 Priority to be located in the London Borough of Lewisham
 Priority to be located close to the London Borough of Lewisham
 No priority as to the location of a property.

2.2. The award of an ‘In-borough’ or ‘Close to Borough’ location priority does not 
guarantee the provision of temporary accommodation within those areas, rather 
priority for such accommodation should it be available and suitable.

2.3. Where the household is in receipt of welfare benefits, this may place additional 
constraints on the availability of affordable accommodation, including constraints 
on its type and location. 

Page 95



2

2.4. The Council will have due regard to the principal needs of any children in the 
household, and the need to safeguard and promote the children’s welfare. In 
particular, regard will be had to any disruption to schools, medical care, social 
work, other key services and other support. 

In-borough Priority

3.1. Priority for available in-borough accommodation will be given to certain 
households who have a particular need to be housed within the London Borough 
of Lewisham. Applicants and their household members to be housed with them 
who satisfy one or more of the following criteria will qualify for ‘In-borough’ 
priority:

a. They are receiving treatment for a physical or mental health condition from a 
specialist hospital unit which cannot be transferred to another NHS service or 
they are at a critical point in their treatment.

b. Children subject to a Child Protection Plan in the London Borough of 
Lewisham which cannot be transferred to another local authority without 
causing serious detriment to a child’s welfare.

c. Children subject to an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) or a 
Statement of Special Educational Needs in the London Borough of Lewisham 
which cannot be transferred to another local authority without causing serious 
detriment to the child’s welfare. 

d. They have a longstanding arrangement to provide essential care to another 
family member in the London Borough of Lewisham who is not part of the 
household. Carers must be in receipt of Carer’s Allowance.

e. Other circumstances which demonstrate an exceptional need which cannot 
be met outside of the London Borough of Lewisham. 

3.2. An ‘In-borough’ priority does not guarantee an in-borough placement, but should 
suitable and affordable accommodation be available within that area, it does give 
that household priority over others without this assessed priority. 

Close to Borough Priority

4.1. ‘Close to Borough’ priority is defined as priority for accommodation located within 
90 minutes travelling distance of the London Borough of Lewisham by public 
transport.

Page 96



3

4.2. Such priority does not guarantee a placement within 90 minutes travelling 
distance of the London Borough of Lewisham by public transport, but should 
suitable and affordable accommodation be available within that area, it does give 
the household priority over others without that assessed priority.

4.3. Applicants or their household members to be housed with them who satisfy one 
or more of the following criteria will qualify for  ‘Close to Borough’ priority:

a. They have been continuously employed close to the London Borough of 
Lewisham for 16 hours or more per week in a role which cannot be 
transferred to another area. Applicants must have been employed in this role 
for six months prior to the date of application and remain so employed. 
Wherever practicable, the Local Authority will seek to place such households 
within 90 minutes travelling distance, by public transport, from the place of 
employment at the time of application.

b. Women who are on maternity leave from employment and meet the above 
criteria will also be prioritised for placements close to the London Borough of 
Lewisham. Wherever practicable the Local Authority will seek to place such 
households within 90 minutes travelling distance by public transport from their 
place of employment. 

c. Children who are enrolled in GCSE, AS, or A level courses in the London 
Borough of Lewisham, with public exams to be taken within the current or 
next academic year. Wherever practicable the Local Authority will seek to 
place such households within 90 minutes travelling distance by public 
transport of their school or college.

d. Other exceptional circumstances, where applicants demonstrate an 
exceptional need to be housed close to the London Borough of Lewisham.

No Locational Priority

5.1. Applicants who meet none of the ‘In-borough’ or ‘Close to Borough’ criteria will be 
offered properties further afield than 90 minutes travelling distance of the London 
Borough of Lewisham by public transport, when no suitable property is available 
within these areas. 

5.2. The Council will have regard to the principal needs of any children in the 
household, and the need to safeguard and promote the children’s welfare. In 

Page 97



4

particular, regard will be had to any disruption to schools, medical care, social 
work, other key services and other support.

Page 98



1 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
PRIVATE RENTED SECTOR POLICY 

 
DRAFT – Subject to approval by Mayor and Cabinet  

 
Scope 
 
1.1 This Private Rented Sector Discharge Policy will provide a framework for the way 

in which the London Borough of Lewisham (‘the Council’) will discharge the main 
housing duty under s.193 Housing Act 1996 (‘the main housing duty’) by arranging 
an offer of suitable accommodation in the private rented sector.  The policy 
therefore applies to applicants for housing assistance under Part VII Housing Act 
1996 (‘HA 1996’) and not allocations under Part VI HA 1996. 

                              
1.2 All PRSOs secured by the Council must satisfy the requirements as to suitability 

under the HA 1996 and delegated legislation (which includes affordability).  In 
addition, the Council will apply the locational priorities set out in its Location 
Priority Policy to PRSOs. 

 
1.3 When making decisions under this policy, in accordance with section 11(2) Children 

Act 2004, the Council will have regard to the principal needs of any children in the 
household, and the need to safeguard and promote the children’s welfare.  In 
particular, regard will be had to any disruption to schools, medical care, social work, 
and other key services and support.  

 
1.4 The Council will also have regard to the circumstances of the entire household and 

will have due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (‘PSED’) under s.149 
Equality Act 2010 when making decisions under this policy which affect those with 
a ‘protected characteristic’ as defined under the Act.  This policy will be monitored 
and reviewed, as set out below. 

 
When PRSOs will be arranged 
 
2.1 The Council will normally seek to bring the main housing duty under Part VII to an 

end by arranging a PRSO, subject to the exceptions set out below, and provided that 
the Council can identify available accommodation which it is satisfied is suitable for 
the circumstances of the individual household. 

 
2.2 A PRSO will not normally be offered where there are exceptional circumstances 

which make a PRSO inappropriate.  Such cases may include the following: 
 

(a) Where a household requires adaptations to meet health and disability related 
needs which it is not reasonably practicable to achieve in private rented sector 
accommodation. 

 
(b) Where a household is unable to manage a tenancy in the private rented sector 

without a substantial level of tenancy related support. 
 
 

Page 99



2 
 

Duty accepted before Pre-November 9th 2012 
 
3.1 Where an applicant has applied to the Council for accommodation or for assistance 

in obtaining accommodation under Part VII HA 1996 Act; and the duty to secure 
that accommodation is available for the applicant’s occupation under Part VII has 
arisen and not ceased, before 9th November 2012, no PRSO will be made.   

  
Viewing and Offers 
 
4.1 So far as is reasonably practicable, applicants will be given an opportunity to 
 view a property proposed to be subject to a PRSO before deciding whether to 
 accept or reject it.  Where this is not reasonably practicable, an Information Pack 
 will be provided. 

 
Monitoring & Review of this Policy 
 
5.1 The Council will monitor the application of this policy and it will be reviewed 

within 12 months of the date of its commencement.   
 
 

Dated 22nd March 2017 
 

Page 100



Appendix D  Shelter report: Engaging with Homeless Children 
 

 
 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Briefing note: Use of temporary accommodation in Harlow 
(as at 17.02.20) 

 
Key overview: 
 

 Lewisham Council currently leases 40 flats across two buildings in Harlow, Terminus 
House, and Templefields House. These buildings were office blocks that were 
converted into residential flats under permitted development. 

 The flats are leased from Caridon Property Limited on three year leases, which 
terminate between 2020- 21. 

 The properties leased by Lewisham are all 2 bedroom properties suitable for families 
(rather than studio / single person accommodation). Lewisham chose to lease family 
sized unit properties only so as not to place a significant burden on the host borough. 

 Lewisham Council is assured that the properties meet strict compliance and safety 
requirements. The properties are completed to a high standard. 

 Caridon Property Limited have confirmed that they are not aware of any specific 
cases of ASB caused by households placed by Lewisham Council. 

 Lewisham Council has assigned a dedicated Resettlement Officer to be a point of 
contact for all Lewisham residents placed in Harlow.   

 

 

1. Placements in Harlow – Templefields and Terminus House 
 

1.1. The Council is currently leasing 40 flats across two buildings in Harlow, Templefields 
and Terminus House. Lewisham leases the flats from Caridon Property Limited on 
three year leases. The leases contain a break clause allowing the Council to 
terminate the lease with one month’s notice. 

 

1.2. Both buildings were originally out of use office blocks. Caridon Property Ltd 
purchased both buildings and converted them from commercial to residential 
properties.  

 

1.3. Terminus House is located in Harlow Town centre and is surrounded by good 
transport links and a wide array of amenities. The building is spread over 11 floors 
totalling 222 self-contained studio & 2 bedroom flats. The Council is leasing 24 x 2 
bedroom properties in Terminus House.  

 

1.4. Templefields House is spread over two floors (Ground and 1st Floor) totalling 122 
self-contained studio flats and 50 two bedroom flats. The Council is now leasing 16 x 
2 bedroom properties in Templefields House, after handing 3 properties back in 
November 2019.  

 

1.5. Caridon are responsible for the building and tenancy management. Caridon are a 
well-established company with a strong reputation among local authorities as a 
company that provide good quality accommodation and provide a comprehensive 
and responsive property management service. 

 

1.6. Lewisham was mindful from the outset not to place an excessive number of families 
in these two locations so as not to place a significant burden on the host borough. 
Lewisham Council only lease family sized accommodation and not studios or single 
person units. 

 
1.7. Lewisham residents are occupying 32 out of the 40 properties that are being leased 

from Caridon Property Limited. 8 self-contained units are void and Lewisham 
Council is in the process of nominating new suitable households to be placed in the 
void properties.  

Page 103



 
1.8. Terminus House is well placed in the Town Centre and provides residents with a 

number of local amenities within short walking distance. Amenities such as 
restaurants, banks, post offices, local supermarkets and GPs are all within walking 
distance of Terminus House. There are a number of schools and colleges in the 
area, giving residents a varied choice of educational institutions for their children. 
Harlow Town and Harlow Mill Rail Station are situated within a mile of Terminus 
House and both have direct trains that go to Liverpool Street Station in London. 
There is a bus garage situated at the bottom of Terminus House with a number of 
buses that run around Harlow and other local areas.  

 
1.9. Templefields House is situated a little further out from the town centre but is only 

approx..10 mins walk to the Tesco superstore. The local bus service is also approx.. 
10 mins walk from Templefields House. There are schools and nurseries within easy 
reach, for example the local primary school is 0.8m, approx. 15 minutes walk. 

 
1.10. To safeguard the welfare of tenants and to better manage the placement process, 

there is an out of London (OOL) placements protocol being developed by London 
Councils. Once fully developed it will be considered by London authorities including 
Lewisham.  

 

2. Compliance and Safety 
 

2.1. Prior to entering into a lease agreement, Lewisham were assured as to the safety of 
the buildings in relation to statutory building regulations, fire risk assessments and 
gas and electrical safety. The safety of the block and leased flats are monitored on 
an ongoing basis by Caridon Property Limited and Lewisham Council. 

 

2.2. The recent conversion of both buildings means that all properties within these 
buildings are newly refurbished, with brand new appliances, electrics, bathroom, 
flooring and kitchens. All properties have been completed to a high standard. 

 
2.3. The Council has an improved compliance process which has been recently 

implemented for all privately managed leased accommodation, including Terminus 
House. Terminus House has no gas in the individual flats as they are all electric. 
This new process now sees a new NICEIC EICR certificate carried at the change of 
tenancy, which is reviewed by the Councils compliance officers and qualified 
electricians at Lewisham Homes. This ensures that households are being placed 
into accommodation that is safe. 

 

3. Anti-Social Behaviour 
 

3.1. A number of reports of ASB have recently been highlighted by media eg the recent 
Panorama documentary. Caridon Property Limited have confirmed that they are not 
aware of any specific cases of ASB where households placed by Lewisham Council 
have been the cause. There have been some reports of ASB received from 
Lewisham households to the housing reviews team, which are passed on to Caridon 
by Lewisham. 

 

Page 104



3.2. As the accommodation provider, Caridon is responsible for monitoring and 
managing ASB within their buildings. Both buildings are secure with a key/fob 
required for entry. Security is present on both sites from 10am – 3am Monday to 
Friday and then 6pm to 3am Saturdays and Sundays, with additional office staff on 
site Mondays to Friday from 7:30am-6pm. CCTV systems are installed and 
operational at both sites. 

 

3.3. Caridon have an ASB policy in place and encourage all residents to report any form 
of ASB via phone, email or to a member of the Caridon onsite staff. Once reported 
Caridon will undertake an investigation into the allegations and proceed with the 
required actions, such as eviction, or referral to the placing authority or police. 
Caridon work closely with the police in Harlow and have assisted the police on a 
number of occasions, which has resulted in the arrest of a number of offenders. 

 

3.4.  A recent inspection of Terminus House was undertaken by a Resettlement Officer 
from the Property and Business Accounts Team. During the inspection, the 
communal areas, were looked at. The Resettlement Officer confirmed at the time of 
his visit that there was no signs of ASB in the form of smells or signs of drug use, 
graffiti, urine or congregations of gangs. The Resettlement Officer will continue to 
undertake scheduled inspections to monitor this, in addition to the onsite staff from 
Caridon Property Limited. To ensure our residents are being placed in safe and 
secure accommodation which is managed to an acceptable standard, a visit of 
Terminus House was undertaken as a result of the concerns raised by Cllr Mark 
Ingall of Harlow Council. This visit was conducted on Monday. 27th January 2020, it 
was attended by Cllr Paul Bell, Madeleine Jeffery – Director of Housing Services, 
Fenella Beckman – Head of the Private Sector Housing Agency and Sukhi Nijjar – 
Property & Business Accounts Service Manager. 

 
Upon inspection of Terminus House, it was found the accommodation was suitable 
and more importantly safe for our residents. There is adequate measures in place in 
terms of security and health & safety measures, such as sprinkler systems, fire 
extinguishers and all floors entrances are fob controlled. 
 

3.5 There have been two incidents where police attended Templefields House regarding 
drug use/intent to supply. The police first attended Templefields House on 25th 
November 2019 on the basis of the information provided by Caridon staff members 
and then there was a follow up on 1st Dec 2019. As a result the police arrested a 
tenant (not Lewisham) and two other non-resident individuals.  

 
3.6 Similarly, our understanding is that the police also attended Terminus House, again 

regarding drug use/intent to supply. The police first attended Terminus House in or 
around Sept 2018 and then in or around May 2019, again, it was on the basis of the 
information provided to the police by Caridon. The perpetrator targeted by police in 
May 2019 was the partner of a Lewisham resident. The partner was suspected of 
supplying drugs within Templefields House complex. The partner has been banned 
from the building, although our resident is still in occupation of her accommodation. 

 
3.7 Both Terminus House and Templefields House have sufficient security measures in 

place to provide safe and secure accommodation for our residents but there are no 
guarantees. Some of the current measures in place are:- 

 

 CCTV in all hallways, lifts and communal parts monitored on site. 

 Full time security staff at Templefields House from 10am – 3am weekdays 
and from 10am – 2am weekends.  

 Full time security staff at Terminus House from 10am – 3.30am 

 Reception offices which are staffed during working hours. 

 Hourly patrols of all hallways and communal areas. 

Page 105



Fob access to each floor, so people just cannot go from one floor to the next. 

 Regular liaison meeting with police and Harlow Council. 

 All security staff wear body cams. 
 

4. Our children and families in Harlow 
 
4.1 Lewisham Officers want the best for our children in temporary 
accommodation and work to minimise any adverse impact on the children and 
their families 
 
4.2 Caridon are working closely with local nurseries and primary schools to 
ensure that the children who live in Harlow have access to nurseries and schools 
as soon as they arrive. 
 
4.3 The schools are within walking distance of both Terminus House and 
Templefields Houses. There are also play areas that are covered by CCTV so 
that children can play in a safe environment 
 
4.4 Recently over Xmas Caridon converted one of their flats into a Santa’s Groto 
for a month so that children could visit Santa (for free) to get their Xmas pressies. 
There are regularly children’s discos and other activities specifically aimed at 
supporting and enhancing the quality of life for our children. 
 
4.5 Lewisham’s Resettlement Officer and Caridon also work with families on 
preparing them for work either through undertaking skills courses and other 
training or getting work placements 
 

5. Resettlement in Harlow 
 

5.1. Lewisham Council have assigned a dedicated Resettlement Officer, who will act as 
a point of contact for all residents that Lewisham has placed in Harlow. The remit of 
this function will be to provide support and address any concerns that households 
may have about their housing. This dedicated Resettlement Officer will also work 
with households placed in Harlow to help them secure private rented 
accommodation, in order for them to settle into more secure housing.  
 

5.2. The appointed Resettlement Officer recently carried out an inspection of Terminus 
House on 21/11/2019. The purpose of this inspection was to inspect the communal 
areas, liaise with the onsite Caridon staff and meet residents that Lewisham Council 
had housed there. The Resettlement Officer was able to gain access into 9 
properties (Flat 39, 41, 42, 44, 131, 133, 137, 136 and 139) and confirmed the 
condition of the properties was of a good, suitable standard. A number of residents 
also advised that they were happy and had formed a close knit community with other 
Lewisham residents. The same Resettlement Officer will be working closely with our 
residents in Templefields House to move them into the private rented sector in order 
to discharge our full housing duty, unless they are successful in bidding for social 
housing. 

 
5.3. The Resettlement Officer has been making efforts to engage with local estate 

agents to establish working relationships, in order to secure private rented 
accommodation for residents in Terminus House. This project will enable 
households to access more secure and settled private rented accommodation. Due 
to the location of Terminus House, households have had to change key services to 
Harlow, such as schools, GP’s and hospitals. By being placed in more secure 

Page 106



private rented accommodation, it will allow households to continue to lay down roots 
and will reduce the threat of disruption to households day to day living.  

 
5.4. In an attempt to engage with local estate agents in Harlow, the Resettlement Officer 

has used property portals such as Zoopla and Rightmove to search for properties 
that are priced similarly to the local housing allowance rate in Harlow. The agents 
are then contacted via the phone. The feedback received so far have mainly been 
that a number of estate agents do not have any landlords on their books that are 
willing to accept households on universal credit. The Resettlement Officer will 
continue to engage with estate agents and will meet with households in Terminus 
House and encourage them to do the same.  

 
5.5. As well as landlords reluctance to accept households on universal credit, another 

challenge to accessing private rented accommodation in Harlow, is the difference 
between the local housing allowance rate and the market rent for the area. The local 
housing allowance for a 2 bedroom property is £174.82 per week (£757.68pcm). 
Searches on property portals such as Rightmove show that 2 bedroom rents in 
Harlow range from £1,000pcm- £1,200pcm, which is considerably more than the 
available local housing allowance for the area. The Council, however offer a one off 
cash incentive to local estate agents which can make up for the difference in rent.  

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix F 

How living in temporary accommodation affects children and young people – Draft 

recommendations 

The Children and Young People Select Committee recommends:  

1. That the Housing Department collects data on types of placements, numbers of 

children, ethnic profiles which they update at reasonable intervals and make 

available on request to relevant Members/ Committees 

2. That the Housing Department responds swiftly and thoroughly to enquiries from 

Members, officers outside the Department and other stakeholders, including schools, 

Citizen’s Advice Bureaux etc. 

3. That the Homelessness Reduction team seeks to identify early where children are 

more likely to be evicted and a Liaison Officer be appointed to work with Children’s 

Social Care and Housing to facilitate joint preventative work where a potential 

eviction is anticipated to lead to a child being referred to CSC. 

4. That 

a. prior to placing tenants, properties are inspected in person by or on behalf of 

Lewisham Council, with a written condition report and photos; and  

b. no family be placed in unsatisfactory accommodation. When deciding whether 

a property is satisfactory, due regard should be given to 

i.  the fabric of the building – including a range of qualities such as state 

of repair, natural light, space 

ii. the appropriateness of the other residents and building users. 

5. That all reasonable steps be taken to avoid placing 

a. families with children under 18 

b. 16 & 17 year olds 

c. Care leavers 

 in nightly paid accommodation with shared amenities. 

6. That clear and accessible information be provided to all households on their rights, 

pathways for resolving issues with temporary accommodation, the location of local 

amenities such as the GP, dentist, shops, library, together with regularly updated 

advice on the anticipated length of stay so families can make informed decisions 

around school placements.  

7. That communication with service users be more open and a culture that builds trust, 

transparency and information-sharing be encouraged. This includes seeking and 

recording feedback from service users which is then acted upon, and service users 

kept informed, where appropriate. 

8. That placing a family in temporary accommodation outside the borough should not 

contain an assumption in advance as to the location of their settled/ permanent 

accommodation. 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

  

 

Children and Young People Select Committee 

 

 

22. 1 Summary 
 

1.1. In July 2019, Lewisham Children’s Services was subject to an unannounced three 

Report title: Safeguarding 6 Monthly Update 

Date: 10 March 2020 

Key decision: No.  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Pauline Maddison, Interim Executive Director Children & Young People’s 
Services. Lucie Heyes (Director of Children’s Services), Risthardh Hare (Interim Director of 
Children’s Commissioning & Early Help.  

Outline and recommendations 

This report provides a summary of safeguarding activity and the quality of services being 
provided by Children’s Social Care Services (CSC) in the time period between June 2019 
and January 2020.  

This report does not include information on Early Help, Child Sexual Exploitation, 
investigations undertaken by the Local Authority Designated Officer, or Children Looked After  
and Care Leavers. These areas are subject of a separate reports to either the LSCP and/or 
CYP Select Committee. 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 7



 

week inspection under the Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services 
(ILACS) framework. The inspectors judged that safeguarding services ‘required 
improvement’ to be good, this was in line with the council’s own self-assessments in 
January and June 2019.  
 

1.2. This report provides a summary of safeguarding activity and the quality of help and 
protection services being provided by Children’s Social Care Services (CSC) in the 
time period between June 2019 and January 2020, after the Ofsted inspection. As at 
the end of December 2019. Children’s Social Care (CSC) was working with a total of 
2595 children and young people. Of these 590 were in the process of being assessed, 
827 are receiving services children in need, including those with disabilities. 212 are 
subject to child protection plans and though the year 65 children have been subject to 
court proceedings. These children are being provided services by the following teams: 
 

MASH  A multi-agency team that receives all incoming contacts where 
there may be concerns about the wellbeing or safety of a child. 
The MASH shares information to make a decision to direct the 
child and family to the most suitable service within 1 day. 

Assessment 
teams  

These 5 teams undertake Child & Family statutory social work 
assessments to establish the needs of the child and identify any 
risk of harm through Section 47 child protection enquiries. 

Safe Space 
teams 

The dedicated vulnerable adolescent team works with children 
and young people 11+ years, at risk of criminal and sexual 
exploitation 

Family Social 
work teams  

These 7 teams provide medium term services to children in 
need, children subject to child protection plans and initiate court 
proceedings where children cannot remain safely with their 
families. 

Quality & 
Improvement 
Service 

The Child Protection Conference co-ordination and quality 
assurance team is located in the QI service. These are the 
independent chairs of conferences. 

 
1.3 What’s going well: 
 
1.3.1 Performance across many areas of Children’s Social Care safeguarding practice has 

improved, some areas more acutely than others. In the MASH, performance and 
practice is much improved over the last 6 months, targets to make decisions within 24 
hours are being met, half of the practice is now judged to be of a ‘good’ quality and the 
remainder requires some improvement to be good. This reduces delay for families 
receiving the right service to best meet their needs. 

 
1.3.2 Risk is identified and responded to promptly, appropriate action is taken when young 

people are at risk of exploitation and processes for tracking missing children are robust. 
Children with complex needs are receiving a good service. Children in Need are being 
visited more frequently, their plans are being updated more regularly, review meetings 
are happening more routinely and fewer are open for over 18 months as a result of 
drift. 

 
1.3.3 Fewer families are now unnecessarily subjected to statutory interventions, evidenced 

by falling child protection enquiries, conferences, plans and court proceedings. 

Page 112



 

Observations/audits of child protection conferences through 2019 and feedback from 
parents indicates they have moved away from what was described as punitive practice 
in the January 2019 self-assessment.  CAFCASS feedback the quality of practice in 
Lewisham is improving, the standard of court reports is well regarded and through the 
last 6 months there were fewer late notice applications.   

 
1.3.4 Signs of Safety practice framework is changing our approach to families. Social workers 

have good relationships and know their families well, more fathers and wider family are 
being included. Social workers feel supported by their managers and supervision is 
regularly happening.  

 
1.4 What needs to be improved: 
 
1.4.1 When assessing children, we need to promptly see and assess children where the risk 

is less prominent.  The quality of assessments is too variable, they need to be better 
informed by the history, be more inclusive of the wider family. Social workers need to 
develop their professional curiosity and how they work with resistance. We need to 
have stronger analysis which is not over-optimistic about parenting capacity and 
provides a clear rationale for decisions about the best service for the child and family. 

 
1.4.2 Whilst performance for children in need is improved, it needs to be more consistent and 

the quality of child in need and child protection plans needs to improve and developed 
‘with’ the engagement of the family, all associated activity (visits) needs to be more 
purposeful and the progress of the plan needs to be regularly and robustly reviewed to 
avoid drift. Children subject to child protection plans need to be seen more frequently 
and Core Group meetings need to be more effective. All of the above needs to be 
supported by management oversight and supervision that is more reflective & 
challenging.  

 
1.5 What we are doing to improve: 

1.5.1 Improvements through 2019 have been aimed at re-establishing the basics of practice, 
through 2020 the priority is to improve the quality of our interventions. The improvement 
plan has a strong focus on workforce development to address this. Top 12 priority areas 
for improvement through 2020/2021: 

 

1. Workforce development, so staff have the skills & tools to do their jobs effectively.   

2. Having clear, updated practice standards, policies and procedures.  

3. Recruitment & Retention of staff, to improve continuity for children and families. 

4. Strengthening targeted Early Help for vulnerable families. 

5. Providing a range of services and help for children living with Domestic Abuse. 

6. Safeguarding young people at risk of exploitation in the community. 

7. Increasing family support, to reduce the need for children to come into care. 

8. Good Corporate Parenting for looked after children and our care leavers.  

9. Placement sufficiency, for our looked after children and care leavers. 

10. Stable ICT to support practice, performance & financial management. 

11. Having reliable performance information to monitor practice and plan services.  

12. Enhanced Business Support, allowing social workers to spend time with families.   

1.5.2 The details of the Ofsted judgement and the service response was provided in a report 

to CYP Select Committee in January 2020, this report provides more detail about how 

the above priorities will be delivered. 

 

 

2 Recommendations 

 

2.1 Members are recommended to note and comment upon the contents of this report.  

Page 113



 

 

23. 3 Policy Context 
 

3.1 Children’s Social Care (CSC) is governed by statutory legislation, regulation and 
guidance. The key legislative framework and guidance for this are outlined below via:  

 The Children Acts of 1989 and 2014, and subsequent guidance and regulations, 
impose a statutory duty on local authorities to safeguard children in their area.   

 The London Child Protection Procedures 2017 have been adopted by all London 

Local Authorities and LSCBs.  

 Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, HM Government, provides a 
national framework and the core requirements which agencies and professionals 
must satisfy in order to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.   

3.2 Lewisham CSC contributes to the priorities in the Council’s Corporate Strategy, in 

particular “Giving children and young people the best start in life - every child has 
access to an outstanding and inspiring education and is given the support they need 
to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential”. 
 

3.3 CSC helps deliver against the following commitments: 
- We will improve our children’s social care services to provide support for families 

at the earliest opportunity. 
- We will ensure that the children in our care are safe and supported to achieve the 

very best in life.  
- We will work tirelessly with our partners to keep Lewisham’s children and young 

people safe from exploitation, violence and serious youth crime. 
- We will monitor the services we provide for children and young people to ensure 

they deliver the best outcomes and best value.  
- We will ensure that families from our BAME communities have equal access to 

care and support. 
- We will work with our partners to ensure that young people transitioning into 

adulthood achieve the best possible outcomes in relation to education, work, 
healthy lives and strong community connections.  

 
 

24. 4 Background  
 

4.1 A series of reviews in Children’s Services conducted in the spring of 2018 identified the 
intended impact of the changes were not being realised. In the summer of 2018, 
Children’s Social Care revisited its approach and began reshaping the improvement 
programme. An Improvement Board was established, chaired by the Lead Member for 
Children’s Services to drive change forward. In September 2018 the new permanent 
Director of Children’s Social Care took up post. With the support of the Improvement 
Board, the Director developed the vision and values for the service, Strategic and 
Operational Improvement Plans were aligned to the introduction of the Signs of Safety 
Practice Framework. The improvement programme, has driven forward changes to 
improve our services to become consistently good. A summary of key milestones linked 
to improving safeguarding services is available in the appendices. 
 

4.2 In July 2019, Lewisham Children’s Services was subject to an unannounced three week 
inspection under the Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) 
framework. The inspectors judged that safeguarding services ‘required improvement’ 
to be good, this was in line with the council’s own self-assessments in January and 
June 2019. The Ofsted report was published in August 2019 and can be found online 
at: https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50101634 A summary of key Ofsted findings 
that relate specifically to children in need of help and protection and the impact of 
leaders is provided in the appendices.  

Page 114

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/1
http://www.londoncp.co.uk/
http://www.londoncp.co.uk/
http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/
http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/
https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50101634


 

 
4.3 The last Safeguarding report provided to CYP Select Committee was June 2019, 

covering the reporting period of January 2019 to June 2019. This covered the 6 month 
period before the July 2019 Ofsted inspection. The details of the Ofsted judgement and 
the service response was provided in a report to CYP Select Committee in January 
2020. This report provides a summary of safeguarding activity and the quality of 
services being provided by Children’s Social Care Services (CSC) in the time period 
between June 2019 and January 2020.  
 

4.4 The report does not include information on Early Help, Child Sexual Exploitation, 
investigations undertaken by the Local Authority Designated Officer, or Children 
Looked After  and Care Leavers. These areas are subject of a separate reports to either 
the LSCP and/or CYP Select Committee. 
 

25. 5 Children who require safeguarding in Lewisham  

 

5.1 As at the end of December 
2019. Children’s Social 
Care (CSC) was working 
with a total of 2595 
children and young 
people.  

5.2 The CWCN service is 
working with 338 children. 
303 are receiving children 
in need services, at the 
time of this report 2 
children were subject to 
child protection plans, 33 
were Looked After. The 
numbers of children 
receiving disability 
services are similar to that 
during 2018/19. 

 

26. 5.3 For children being assessed, with child in need or protection plans 
(No.1629) the numbers are the same as this time 6 months ago. However, there 
has been an increase of c200 more children compared to January 2019.The 
overall increases are seen in children requiring an assessment, more children in 
need and more care leavers. This is believed to be a combination of; changes in 
the MASH applying the revised LSCB thresholds, a change in approach to 
families where domestic abuse is a factor, increasing complexity of cases 
particularly in relation to adolescents. Increased children in need (+90)  is 
thought to be as a result of more children being assessed (+100), and fewer 
children being subject to Child Protection plans (-65). Increased care leavers is 
understood to be as a  result of improved recording and performance reporting. 

  

Being assessed or 
receiving short 

term advice
590

Children in Need 
receiving disability 

services
303

Children in Need 
receiving medium/long 

term help
524

Children subject to 
Child Protection 

plans
212

Looked After 
Children

471

Care Leavers 
aged 18 - 20

289

Care Leavers aged 
21 - 24 206

Page 115



 

27. 6 The workforce providing safeguarding services in Children’s Social Care 
(CSC) 
 

6.1 The CSC teams working with children who require safeguarding are the MASH, x5 
Assessment Teams, x2 Safe Space (Adolescent) teams, x8 Family Social Work Teams 
and x3Children with Complex Needs teams. In total there are 189 social workers and 
managers working in these teams.  

 

6.2 Approximately 65% of the service is staffed by permanent social workers and 
managers. Vacant posts are mostly filled with agency social workers and there are a 
small number of vacancies as we struggle to recruit practitioners of good enough quality 
in a very competitive market. There is little movement on the permanent rate, from the 
previous 6 months, because recruitment activity through 2019 has been focused on 
establishing permanent management and the staff group has slightly expanded through 
2019, in order to maintain manageable caseloads. 

 

6.3 Our caseload management guide sets out that social workers should be allocated 
approximately 15 children. This enables sufficient time for relationships to be 
developed and good practice to be delivered, it is also an important recruitment and 
retention factor.  Overall caseloads are much improved through 2019 and have been 
stable at around 15 for most of the service. However, in this has not been the case in 
the Assessment service over the last 6 months, which has seen an increase in cases 
as a result of more families being referred from the MASH. This has been monitored 
closely and actions have been taken to manage the volume, as at December 2019 the 
average was 20 and we are continuing to keep this under review to bring it in line with 
the rest of the service. 

 

28. 7 How we know about the quality and impact of our services.   
 

7.1 The findings from a broad range of performance information and quality assurance 
activity is scrutinised on a monthly and quarterly basis. Highlights are fed up to the 
Directorate Management Team, Executive Management Team, the Improvement 
Board, council meetings, committees and the LSCP as required.  
 

7.2 Twice a year Listening & Learning events are held, which are concentrated periods of 
quality assurance. The information gathered from all of this activity is collated to 
produce a bi-annual self-assessment of CSC services. The self assessment was last 
updated in June 2019 and is in the process of being collated for the whole of 2019 
following a Listening & Learning event in the last week of January. 

 
7.3 The detailed findings of all our quality assurance activity is provided throughout this 

report. In addition, in July 2019 Lewisham Children’s Services was subject to an 
unannounced three week inspection under the Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority 
Children’s Services (ILACS) framework. Summaries of what Ofsted found are included 
throughout the report.  

 

  

Page 116



 

8 MASH and Out of Hours Emergency Duty Service 

 

8.1 Lewisham MASH has representation from the following agencies: CSC, Police, Health, 
Education, Probation, Drugs Misuse services, housing and Youth Offending Service 
(virtual). The MASH receives all incoming contacts from members of the public and 
professionals where there may be concerns about the wellbeing or safety of a child. 
Advanced Practitioners in the MASH review all contacts to decide the most appropriate 
service for the child and family (Within 24 hours). Where additional information is 
required to make this decision, enhanced information sharing will be undertaken with 
the MASH partners. The Emergency Duty Service is available between 5pm & 9am 
weekdays and over weekends.   

 

8.2 The table below shows a summary of key performance data  

Indicator  
Q4 

18/19 

Q1 

19/20 
Q2 

19/20 
Q3 

19/20 
Average 

per 

month 

Target  

No. of Contacts received in MASH  4171 4063 3654 3774 1276 No Target  

No. of Children (Some events lead 

to  more than one contact being 

received for the same child)  

 

3241 3258 3206 3244 

 

1078 
No Target  

% Contacts progressing to a CSC 

referral  
16% 18% 28% 23% 21% 20-25%  

No. of Contacts progressing to a 

CSC referral for a CSC assessment  
695 725 1006 880 275 No Target  

MASH decision made on Contacts 

in 24 hours   
60% 58% 83% 92% N/A 90%  

No of Contacts subject to 

enhanced MASH checks 
131 318 351 495 N/A No Target 

Rate of CSC referrals (10k pop) 

rolling 12 months  
443 459 489 534 N/A No Target  

% Re-referrals (In the last 12 

months rolling)  
10% 15% 15% 15% N/A 

No higher 

than 15%  

 

8.3 A total of 15,662 contacts were processed by MASH during Jan–Dec 2019. This related 

to 12,949 children. For approximately 50% of the children, we were contacted more 

than once over a 12 month period. There was no increase in volume of children who 

have come to our attention over the course of 2019. However, we have no ability to 

compare with whether there has been a change on previous years, because of the 

different ways contacts were previously recorded prior to the improvements being 

made in the MASH (Jan. 2019).  

Page 117



 

 

8.4 The proportions of 

contacts from agencies is 

largely in line with the 

previous 6 months, with 

the exception of a 

moderate increase in 

contacts from various 

health agencies.    

 

8.5 Police are always the 

highest contributor of 

contacts, as all incidents 

they respond to involving 

a child and where there 

may be any safeguarding 

issue are reviewed by the 

MASH.    

 
 

8.6 Not all cases referred to MASH will require partner agency checks. However for 

complex cases we have been increasing the number of enhanced information checks 

to maximise the benefits of co-located professionals. We are now refining when MASH 

checks are carried out to ensure they are proportionate and enable better decisions to 

be made.  

 

8.7 There have been significant improvements in the timeliness of decision making in the 

MASH across 2019 (92% in Q4). We were unable to report on this until this year, 

therefore there is no comparison data from 2018.  

 

8.8 Not all contacts result in family being referred for a CSC service. A percentage are 

requests for information, a large proportion of professionals and/or families will be 

provided with information, advice and signposted to an early help service in the 

community.     

 

8.9 3306 children have been referred onto CSC for a Child 

& Family Assessment this year. Lewisham’s rate of 

referrals has increased from 440 at the end of 2018/19 

to 534 in Q3 of 2019/20.  

 

8.10 The 2018/19 National CIN Census benchmarking data 

indicates this referral rate is still low, but we are 

gradually coming to be more in line with others.  It is also 

worth noting that while Lewisham’s rate of referral is 

within the range of our immediate neighbours in the 

region and our assessment rate is slightly higher. 

 

8.11 Ofsted found our thresholds generally right and having 

reviewed approximately 270 MASH decisions in the 

recent Listening & Learning week (Jan 2020), 88% of 

the threshold decisions were found to be correct and the 

quality of practice was judged to be 50:50 at the higher 

end of ‘Requires Improvement’ and ‘Good’.  

 

Area/ Borough Rate of 

referral 

2018/19 

Inner London 580 

Outer London 528 

Statistical 

Neighbours 

604 

England 544 

Greenwich 485 

Bexley 493 

Southwark 506 

Lambeth 624 

Croydon 651 

Lewisham 

2019 (Q3) 

534 

 

43%

13%

17%

9%

6%

6%

6%

Source of Contacts Q2/3 

Police

Education

Health

Internal

Public

Other LA

Various

Page 118



 

8.12 What the audit did highlight was that with stronger early Help services, more children 

could be diverted to preventive community services instead of requiring a statutory 

service.  

 

% of referrals to CSC from 

source 

Health Schools/ 

Education 

Police 

London 18/19 
 

17% 22% 30% 

Lewisham 18/19 
 

16% 19% 23% 

Lewisham Q3 19/20 
 

12% 22% 28% 

 

8.13 We have noticed some slightly changing patterns in the source of the referral. We are 

now more in line with the rest of London on the proportion of Police notifications that 

result in CSC referrals, we believe this is associated with changes to how we respond 

to domestic abuse notifications in MASH. Since last year there has been a 5% 

reduction of referrals from Health, despite the contact rate remaining the same, this 

may be an indication that understanding of CSC thresholds needs to be better 

improved with health partners.  

 

8.14 In conclusion, we are confident the practice and performance in our MASH has much 

improved and the service will continue to develop, calibrating threshold decisions in 

response to learning and changing practice influences.  

 

Ofsted said 

Most children receive a timely service at the point of referral and there have been 
some improvements since the focused visit in September 2018.  
 

The co-location of police, health and education partners within a confidential space 
and the introduction of daily information-sharing meetings have increased partner 
confidence and enhanced the understanding of children’s needs when they are 
referred for help. These improvements add value to decision-making at the ‘front 
door’.  
 

Appropriate and timely action is taken on referrals regarding children who are 
suffering or are likely to be suffering significant harm. This includes children who 
need a service out of hours. However, for some children who managers deem to be 
at lower risk, decision-making takes too long.  

 

9 Assessments, Strategy Meetings and Section 47 Enquiries  

9.1 Lewisham Assessment Service includes 9 teams of social workers who undertake 
assessments of children & families to establish whether they are ‘in need’ of services 
(s17 Children Act 1989) and/or are suffering ‘significant harm’ (s47 Children Act 1989). 
This includes x5 Assessment Safeguarding teams, x2 Safe Space (Adolescent) teams 
and x2 Children with Complex Needs teams.  

9.2 Children’s Social Care has a duty to assess any child that may be in need or at risk of 
harm. The length of the assessment should be proportionate to the presenting need 
but should not take longer than 45 working days (Statutory Guidance: Working 
Together to Safeguard Children 2018).  

 

 

 

Page 119



 

Indicator  
Q4 18/19 Q1 19/20 Q2 19/20 Q3 19/20 

No. of Assessments started   

(NB. Whole service) 794 906 1071 1062 

 

9.3 Through 2019 CSC assessed a total of 3833 children, an average of 320 assessments 

were started every month, an increase from an average of 285 through 2018. This 

corresponds with the increase in referrals from MASH and the additional demand has 

placed pressure on the Assessment teams, increasing caseloads for social workers, 

which negatively impacts on our ability to deliver good quality and timely services. 

9.4 Benchmarking data shows our rate of 
assessment, for every 10,000 children is 
increasing. In Q3 of 2019/20 it was 582, which is 
an increase from 545 at June 2019 and 539 the 
previous year.  

9.5 The assessment rate across London in 2018/19 
was 512, which suggests we are carrying out 
slightly more assessments than we should be. 
We will continue to explore this to ensure our 
practice is calibrated in the right way.  

9.6 In summary we think that we are should be within 
an assessment rate range of 520 – 560 which is 
the equivalent of 5-10% reduction and this could 
potentially be achieved with the strengthening of 
targeted Early Help services. 

Area/ Borough Rate of 

Assessment 

2018/19 

London 512 

Inner London 522 

England 539 

Greenwich 482 

Bexley 546 

Southwark 481 

Lambeth 589 

Croydon 693 

Lewisham  539 

Lewisham 

2019 (Q3) 

582 

 

9.7 We aim to see children within 10 working days of them having been referred. 

Timeliness of the first visit is of course dependent on the seriousness of the presenting 

situation and the availability of the family. In Q3 performance data suggests the visit in 

10 days was being met in 60% of occasions and this is an area of priority for 

improvement. However reporting on this indicator is still requires adjustment for 

accuracy (e.g. data does not capture attempted visits).  

 

Area/ Borough Assessments completed in 

45 days. 2018/19 data 

9.8 In Q3 an average of 80% of 

assessments are completed 

within 45 days. A small 

remainder take longer. Whilst 

we would like to see this 

performance improve further, 

it is recognised reasonably 

good performance has been 

maintained despite demand 

and caseloads increasing 

through 2019, which is 

illustrated in the table below. 

Inner London 81% 

Outer London 86% 

England 83% 

Stat. Neighbours 85% 

Lewisham 18/19 80% 

Lewisham Q3 

2019/20 

80% 

 

9.9 At the outcome of the assessment, a large proportion of families are provided with 
advice and signposted to community services. The percentage of families who go on 
to be provided with a medium term social work service as a child in need, child 

Page 120



 

protection or looked after is low (data accuracy under review). Whilst we do not have 
a reliable figure for this, we do know that in the last 6 months, 58% of children’s cases 
are closed within 3 months and this is 4% increase from Q4 of 2018/19.  

9.10 Audit activity also informs us that too many families are being closed prematurely and 
redirected to community services when a CSC intervention would have been more 
appropriate. In the January Listening & Learning week an audit of 126 assessments 
found in approximately 80% of the cases, auditors judged that a CSC assessment 
service concluded with the correct decision. We know from our quality assurance 
activity and Ofsted’s feedback the areas that are working well are:  

 Practice is being positively influenced by the Signs of Safety practice framework 

 Immediate risk is identified and addressed in a timely way 

 The application of statutory authority is more proportionate, with fewer families 
experiencing mandatory interventions unnecessarily. 

 There are pockets of good strengths based work, challenging supervision, 
management oversight, including fathers, tenacity around engagement, use of 
family history. 

9.11 The areas that need improvement are:  

 Practice needs to be more consistent. Assessments need less description and 
stronger analysis, which includes better account of history. 

 Wider family need to be better engaged in the process, especially the inclusion of 
fathers. 

 Practitioners need to be more curious about the child’s experience and not taing 
information at face value. 

 Thresholds for families who require an ongoing CSC service needs further review. 
 

Ofsted said: 
The quality of assessments is variable…In weaker assessments, there 
is…insufficient analysis. While ethnicity, culture and faith are stated, their 
importance and impact on children’s identity and experiences are not 
consistently explored.  

 
Assessments for unborn babies …demonstrate an overly positive view of 
parental ability to make the necessary changes...  

 

 

10 Section 47 Enquiries  

10.1 Whenever there is reasonable cause to suspect a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer 
significant harm, a strategy meeting/discussion is held. The Local authority has a 
statutory duty to lead Section 47 enquiries (Children Act 2019), police, health 
professionals, teachers and other relevant professionals support the enquiries. (LSCB 
London Child Protection Procedures 2017). 

 
Lewisham London 

 

Indicator 
Total 

18/19  

Q4 

18/19 

Q1 

19/20 

Q2 

19/20 

Q3 

19/20 

18/19 

No. of Section 47 CP 

Investigations started 1010 206 177 239 276 N/A 

Rate of s47 per 10,000 

(rolling) 148 154 138 132 135 153 

 

Page 121



 

10.2 Through 2019, 898 Section 47 enquiries (s47)  were started in total. The introduction 
of the Signs of Safety (SoS) practice framework (Jan 2019) promotes working with 
families in a strength based way and managing risk through a more proportionate use 
of formal statutory processes. This has had a positive impact on our rate of s47 
enquires falling quite significantly over the last 9 months (135) and is now below the 
London average. It is of note that our neighbouring boroughs who use similar strength 
based models of practice and are rated as ‘Good’ or better, by Ofsted all had rates in 
2018/19 that are similar to Lewisham’s current 19/20 YTD rate: Greenwich = 129,   
Southwark = 137,    Bexley = 137 

10.3 In order to assure ourselves that our threshold decision making for initiating s47 
enquiries was correct, in July 2019 the senior management team audited 126 cases 
to examine the decisions being made. 92% were judged to be correct and in the 
Ofsted inspection they agreed our thresholds were justified. Therefore, we are 
satisfied that working with less families through the use of mandatory statutory 
processes is where we want to be. We will be keeping this under review through 2020, 
to ensure that we are calibrating our threshold decisions correctly. 

Ofsted said: 

Appropriate and timely action is taken on referrals regarding children…likely to 
be suffering significant harm. This includes children who need a service out of 
hours. However, for some children…at lower risk, decision-making takes too 
long.  

 
Child protection enquiries are timely and children are seen promptly. Risk is 
recognised and effective multi-agency information-sharing…leads to 
appropriate decision-making. Most strategy discussions are timely and partner 
agencies are consulted, although they are not always in attendance.  

 
Timely screening of police notifications leads to prompt recognition of domestic 
abuse. However, the response to…families in these circumstances is not 
sufficiently robust and the options for support are not clear.  

 

10.4 A separate multi-agency annual report referring to young people who are missing 
and/or at risk of criminal and sexual exploitation is presented to the Lewisham 
Safeguarding Children’s partnership. Therefore details are not provided here, a 
summary of key information from this will be provided in a future CYP Select report. 
In Children’s Social Care key milestones for strengthening this area of practice have 
been as follows: 

 The dedicated vulnerable adolescent team ‘Safe Space’ became operational in 
August 2019 (Phase 1), this team works with children and young people 11+ 
years and includes edge of care prevention workers, missing officers, homeless 
16/17 year old SHIP worker and social workers. Safe Space aims to be closely 
aligned to the multi-agency Concern Hub (Jun ’19) which co-ordinates multi-
agency responses to children at risk of exploitation and gang violence.   

 The commissioned service for Return Home Interviews (RHI) will cease, co-
ordination and delivery of RHI’s will be absorbed into Safe Space team.  

 Phases 2 and 3 of developing Safe Space will focus on developing a multi-
professional service, a different caseload management mechanism and a 
complex safeguarding operating protocol suitable for young people at risk of 
harm in the community. 
 

Page 122



 

10.5 A summary of Ofsted’s findings in this area are provided below. 

Ofsted said: 

…for young people identified as being at risk of …exploitation, appropriate 
action is taken. However, a small number of children continue to be exposed to 
ongoing risk and harm as a result of an overly optimistic view of parental 
willingness and capacity to protect their children from risks presented by other 
family members.  

 
Processes for… missing young people are robust. …However, the completion 
of return home interviews…is not consistent, and this means that the 
experiences and the risks that some children face are not fully understood.  

 
Staff are tenacious in tracking and following through all reported cases of 
children missing education….Monitoring arrangements for assessing the quality 
of provision for children who are electively home educated have improved over 
time.  
 

 

11 Children in Need (including Children with Complex Needs 

11.1 Where a child has been assessed as being a child ‘in need’ of services the child and 
family is transferred to one of the 7 teams in the Family Social Work Service. Every 
child will have a Child in Need (CIN) plan which outlines the services and support. The 
plan should be reviewed every 3 months, until the child’s needs are met and/or the 
family no longer require statutory services. 

 
Lewisham Inner 

London 

 

Indicator 
Total 

18/19  

Q4 

18/19 

Q1 

19/20 

Q2 

19/20 

Q3 

19/20 

18/19 

Rate of CiN per 10K 

population  (AS per DfE 

definition) 
344 292 300 290 300 398 

% CiN in FSW service only 

with an up-to-date plan N/Av 62% 72% 80% 88% - 

% of CIN in FSW service 

only visited within 20 days N/Av 69% 69% 70% 80% - 

% of CIN review meetings 

held in last 3 months.   N/Av N/Av N/Av N/Av 76% - 

 

11.2 As at the end of December 2019, 847 children were receiving CSC services as a ‘Child 

in Need’ (CIN). Of these 303 were children with a disability.  The rate of CIN as specified 

by the Department of Education is a wider category and includes all children that are 

not looked after. Therefore specific CIN comparisons are a challenge, however as a 

guide it is worth noting Lewisham’s relatively stable DfE defined CIN rate (300) in 

comparison the others in the region: In 2018/19: Greenwich CIN rate = 371, Southwark 

= 394, Bexley = 280, Lambeth = 464.  

11.3 The chart below shows the length of time CIN cases are open i.e. how long CSC is 

working with the family. The 54-58% of families whose case was open less than 4 

months are mainly those who have been assessed and redirected to community 

Page 123



 

services. What the trend shows is of those families who are referred to CSC, assessed 

and go on to receive a service as a CIN, 25% receive a service for up to 1 year.  11% 

receive a service for up to 2 years and for 7% the service continues for longer. This is 

not significantly different to Q4 2018/19, although there has been a 5% improvement 

in families receiving services beyond 18 months. This is a likely indication that there is 

less drift in CIN cases, but we are also mindful that some cases may be closed 

prematurely.  

 

11.4 The majority of children with a CIN plan are allocated in the Family Social Work Service. 

Performance for CIN in relation to visits, up to date plans and reviewing is all much 

improved from 2018.  Through Listening & Learning week findings indicated social 

workers had good relationships and knew their families well (also found by Ofsted), 

more fathers and wider family were being included. The priorities through 2020 are to 

improve the quality of the practice, ensuring the CIN plans are developed with families, 

they have clear and timely goals, social work activity is purposeful, impactful and CIN 

plans are meaningfully reviewed. 

 

Ofsted said: 

Children in need are regularly visited by social workers, who know their children 
very well. Children’s ….experiences mostly inform plans and decision-making… 
plans are not sufficiently detailed and do not help families to understand what 
needs to change…Some cases have been closed prematurely, or stepped down 
to early help…  
  

 

12 The Children with Complex Needs Service  
 
12.1 This service includes 3 Disabilities Social Work Teams, located at Kaleidoscope, 

Children and Young Person’s Centre and sits within the Education Directorate with 
close links to Social Care.  Two of the teams undertake Child & Family Assessments 
and carry out Section 47 safeguarding assessments. The third team undertakes the 
reviews of the Short Break packages, care co-ordination and works closely alongside 
the two social work teams. The assessed impact of the child’s disability determines the 
level and nature of the support the family are provided with.    

 
12.2 The Social Work Service for Children with Disability criteria is as defined in the Equality 

Act 2010; a disabled person is someone who has a physical or mental impairment, and 
that impairment has a long term adverse effect on the person’s ability to carry out 
normal day to day activities.  

54%

19%

7% 5% 6%
9%

58%

14% 11% 8%
3%

7%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

up to 3m 4-6m 7-12m 13-18m 19-24m 2+years

Length of time CIN open 

Q4 18/19 523 282 Q2/3 19/20 1146 661

Page 124



 

12.3 Examples are physical or mental impairments 
which might (depending on the individual’s 
circumstances) fulfil the criteria for the children with 
disabilities social work team:  

The following conditions would not 
normally lead to a child being 
considered as disabled, but as 
having additional needs: 

Multiple and complex health needs; 

 A significant learning disability   

 Autistic Spectrum Disorder and Communication 
Disorders with significant impairment of 
communication or intellectual functioning;  

 Child would usually meet the eligibility threshold 

for DLA (usually higher rate)  

 Sensory impairment: hearing loss, visual 

impairment, deaf-blind  

 A chronic physical illness  

 Dyslexia  

 Dyspraxia  

 Speech and Language 

difficulties.  

 Emotional and behavioural 

difficulties that are not sue to 

one of the areas listed above 

(this includes ADHD)  

 Mental Health conditions  

 

 

Ofsted said: 

Disabled children … benefit from effective services…The well-trained team 
undertakes regular direct work with children and their families using a range of 
communication methods. This informs assessments and plans, and, as a result, 
the lives of disabled children are improving.  
 

 

13 Young Carers 

13.1 Young Carers are children under 18 who provide regular practical, personal care and, or 
emotional support to a family member who has a physical, learning or mental disability, 
or who misuses substances, or where there is domestic violence. The term young carer 
does not apply to the everyday and occasional help around the home, a young carer 
becomes vulnerable when the level of care-giving becomes excessive or inappropriate. 
Local authorities have a duty to carry out a Child & Family Assessment of young carer’s 
and provide services where the child is in need. In Lewisham there are two small services 
funded by the council who provide support:  

13.2 Carers Lewisham Young Carers 

Programme: consists of a range of support 

and interventions for ages 5-25 as below: 

 Young Carers Holiday Club (5–16 yrs) 

 Young Adult Carers Transition to 
Adulthood Programme (16-25 yrs) 

 Wednesday After-School Drop-In 
Sessions (8–16yrs: started Oct. 2019) 

 Assistance with applying for grants and 
additional supports 

 Coordinating family supports with CSC 

 Signposting to other agencies/services 

 Home or school visits for new referrals 
(started in October 2019) 

 Raising awareness about Young 
Carers around Lewisham 

Family Action: run a family support 
project offering holistic family intervention 
to young carers aged 8-18 years and 
other family members.  Delivering 
activities: 
 

 121 mentoring - fortnightly or three 
weekly for 6-9 months, facilitating the 
young carer to identify and follow their 
interests   

 Group activities a year providing a 
range of activities including; theatre 
visits, outdoor sport activities, BMX’ing; 
swimming, ice skating, tennis, 
badminton, zoo trips, science museum 
visits and cycling. 

 Health and Wellbeing Workshops  

 Family Assessments 

Page 125



 

3.4 Measuring the number of young carers in Lewisham is challenging, in part because 

they often wish to remain hidden. It can also be difficult to identify where there are 

children or young people with caring roles, as it is often the adults in each situation that 

come into contact with  services. Carers Lewisham estimates there are 3,357 school-

age young carers providing moderate or high levels of caring responsibility in 

Lewisham. We do know that as of Feb 2020:  

 

13.5 Carers Lewisham: 

 Over 375 families with Young Carers are registered with Carers Lewisham. 
Before the GDPR rules came into effect in May 2018, this number was over 700.  

 About 160 families engage with Carers Lewisham on a regular basis. Many of 
these families have several children registered with Carers Lewisham 
programmes. 

 The majority of Carers Lewisham families have Young Carers between the ages 
of 8-16 and engage because of the Holiday Club respite trips 

 About 60% are listed as parent carers and 35% are sibling carers. The number 
of sibling carers registering with Carers Lewisham has been increasing  

 About 85% of the Young Carers are BME. 

 

13.6 Family Action: In 18/19 Family Action supported 32 young carers (target was 18) and 
their families through a range of activities including: 

 One-to-One mentoring - fortnightly or three weekly for 6-9 months, facilitating 
the young carer to identify and follow their interests   

 X6 group activities a year providing a range of activities 

 X4 Health and Wellbeing Workshops  

 X18 Family Assessments  

 Up to Q3 19/20 18 Young Carers were accessing intensive support  
 

 
Total number of children 
supported by age in 18/19  

Aged 9-11 Aged 12-15 Aged 16-18 

8 21 3 

 

13.7 At this point in time it is not possible to say whether the same children feature across 

these services and are double counted.  There is insufficient performance and quality 

assurance information on this area of practice to understand the full impact and reach 

of our current offer and the needs our young carers face, and this is being considered 

through the development of Lewisham’s Early Help Approach and ongoing social care 

improvement programme.   

 

14 Private Fostering  

14.1 A privately fostered (PF) child is ‘a child who is under the age of 16 years old (18 if 

disabled) and who is cared for, and provided with accommodation, by someone other 

than: the parent, a person who is not the parent but who has parental responsibility, or 

a close relative defined in this context as a brother, sister, aunt, uncle, grandparent or 

step-parent. The Local Authority has a duty to assess and monitor the PF arrangements 

when a PF notification is received or the local authority becomes aware that a PF 

arrangement already exits.    

14.2 A separate annual report is due to be submitted to the LSC Partnership which provides 

an overview of practice in this area. A summary will be provided in the next 

safeguarding report.  

Page 126



 

 

Ofsted said: 

Private fostering is promoted effectively…This leads to timely initial visits, 
detailed assessments and appropriate checks and oversight of private 
fostering arrangements. Children are visited regularly, and there is appropriate 
liaison with a range of relevant agencies. The views of children and their 
parents are well considered.  
 

 

15 Child Protection Conferences, Child Protection Plans & Core Groups  

15.1 Where a child is judged to be suffering harm an initial child protection conference 

(ICPC) is convened and should take place within 15 working days of the strategy 

discussion at which s47 enquiries were initiated. The ICPC brings together the family, 

supporters, advocates and professionals involved with the family, to plan for the child’s 

future safety. If it is decided at ICPC the child remains at risk of significant harm a Child 

Protection Plan (CPP) is put in place to support the family to safeguard the child.  

Where a child has been made subject of a CPP the child and family is transferred to 

the Family Social Work Service.   

15.2 As at the end of December 2019 

Lewisham had 216 children subject 

to a CPP, under the categories 

seen here.  

15.3 The numbers and rate has fallen 

considerably from 48 at the end of 

2017/18 to 34 in 2018/19, there has 

been a smaller drop this year and 

numbers are now levelling out.  

 

 N P S E 

Lon (18/19) 41% 10% 4% 44% 

Lew (Dec19) 38% 7% 0% 54% 
 

 

 

 
Lewisham London 

 

Indicator 
Total 

18/19  

Q4 

18/19 

Q1 

19/20 

Q2 

19/20 

Q3 

19/20 

18/19 

Rate of children becoming 

subject of a  CPP (rolling) 

per 10,000   
34 37 32 28 30 36 

No. of CP plans lasting 2 

years or more  0% 2% 1% 3% 1% 3% 

% of children visited within 

10 working days (Average 

across the quarter)  
- 83% 80% 79% 69% N/A 

 

 

 

82

16

1

117

Categories of 
Child Protection Plans

Neglect

Physical

Sexual

Emotional

Page 127



 

15.4 The drop in CPPs has been an intentional service development and connected to the 

introduction of our Signs of Safety practice framework. In July 2019 the senior 

management team audited 126 cases to examine the decisions being made. 92% were 

judged to be correct and in the Ofsted inspection they agreed that our thresholds were 

justified. Therefore, we are satisfied the rate of child protection plans is in the range of 

where we want to be and we will be keeping this under review through 2020, to ensure 

that we are calibrating our threshold decisions correctly.  

 

15.5 We will be looking more closely this year at plan categorisation, to better understand 

the reason for the low percentage of sexual abuse and higher percentage of emotional 

abuse categories. Children can only be registered under one primary category, 

therefore Lewisham’s differences compared to London may be a recording issue, we 

want to assure ourselves our response to these areas of practice is where it should be.  

 

15.6 There has been a slight increase in children becoming subject to CPP for 2nd or 
subsequent time in 2 year period from 13% last in 18/19 to 15% in Q3 of 19/20. In May 
all these cases were reviewed and no link was found between reducing numbers of 
CPP and an increase in second time re-registrations. Whilst it has risen, this is the 
case across the country and Lewisham is still below the London 18/19 average of 18% 
 

15.7 London Children Protection Procedures require visits to children on CPP to be a 
minimum of every 20 working days. Lewisham locally determines they should be 
visited no less than every 10 working days, performance here has taken a dip in the 
last quarter and is a priority for the service, but would still meet statutory guidance.  

15.8 The ‘Core Group’ of professionals working with the child on a CPP are required to meet 
every 6 weeks between conferences (every 6 months), this is called the Core Group 
Meeting. Our performance on this is 62% and there are a range of reasons for this, 
some of which are not in our control, nevertheless, both visits and Core Groups are 
areas of practice we are prioritising for improvement. New monitoring arrangements 
were introduced in January to address this. 

15.9 Child Protection Conferences have been adapting to the introduction of Signs of Safety 
through 2019 and progress has been limited as a result of changes in management 
and staff capacity. Observations/audits of conferences through 2019 and feedback 
from parents indicates they have moved away from what was described as punitive 
practice in the January 2019 self-assessment.  Improvements have been made that 
enable parents to better participate. 95% of review conferences continue to happen 
within the required timescales and only 1% of children are subject to a plan for over 2 
years and fewer are subject to plans for over 18 months compared to Q4 of 18/19.  

 

Ofsted said: 

Child protection plans are not sufficiently detailed and do not help families to 
understand what needs to change to improve circumstances for their children, 
or what will happen if these changes are not made…Multi-agency core groups 
meet regularly to consider children’s progress…However, not all plans are 
written using language that parents can easily understand.  
  

 

15.10 The quality of child protection plans and child in need plans to be developed ‘with’ 
families, be SMART and purposeful requires improvement as is at the top of the list of 
priorities for practice improvement. To do this through Q3 of 2019 and through 2020 
we are concentrating on plans and delivering a range of practice learning activities to 
raise the quality of practice in plans.  

Page 128



 

16 Public Law Outline: Pre Proceedings & Care Proceedings in Court  

16.1 The Local Authority can initiate care proceedings (s31 Children Act 1989) where a child 

is suffering or is likely to suffer significant harm attributable to the care being given to 

the child, or because the child is beyond parental control.  The Public Law Outline 

(PLO) initially came into force in 2010 and aimed to streamline court procedures by 

introducing a pre-proceedings period to divert the need for proceedings in some 

instances and to ensure preparatory work facilitated the smooth running of court cases, 

within a 26 week timescale. Before a decision can be made to initiate Care or 

Supervision Proceedings, a Legal Planning Meeting is held where a decision is made 

about whether the threshold criteria have been met and whether a legal order is 

necessary to protect the child. Children subject to pre and care proceedings are 

allocated in the Family Social Work Service.   

  

16.2 In line with our falling rates of 

children subject to child protection 

plans, Lewisham is also reducing 

the number of children that it is 

seeking to remove through court 

orders. In 2018/19, 93 court 

applications were made (152 

children) Source: CAFCASS 

Care Applications 

Rate per 10,000   

2017-18  2018-19  

England  12.2  11.4  

London average   9.8  8.6  

Lewisham   14.1  13.2  
 

16.3 In 2018/19 applications were on average of 23 per quarter and Lewisham was the 4th 

highest of the 32 London Boroughs. Through 2019/20 (Q1-3), 47 proceedings (relating 

to 65 children) have been commenced, this has reduced to an average of 16 per quarter 

and we have fallen to 9th highest of the London Boroughs. This reduction is in line with 

other London Boroughs, where care applications are falling overall. 

                        

 Average 

duration  

2017/18  2018/19   2019/20 (Q1-2) 

England  31  29  Not yet available 

London  31  29  35 weeks 

Lewisham  27 weeks  28 weeks  30 weeks 

 

16.4 The timeliness of proceedings has been falling outside the court recommended 
timescales, but this has been a challenge across the country. Delays are most 
commonly caused by court and judge availability, late presentation of family members 
coming forward to be assessed for suitability as carers, additional assessments 
requested at court.  

 
16.5 Quarterly meetings with CAFCASS feedback that their experience of the quality of 

practice in Lewisham is improving, the standard of court reports is well regarded and 
through the last 6 months we have had fewer emergencies and late notice applications.  

 
16.6 Our aim is to further strengthen our PLO pre-proceedings activity, the PLO and court 

tracking panel has been refreshed to oversee pre-proceedings progress and minimise 
drift. We are revising practice guidance to help improve the quality of decision making 
and the recording thereof. We also aim to reduce applications by strengthening our 
edge of care family support services through 2020-21. Through a successful 
Department of Education ‘innovation’ bid, Lewisham will be introducing a Family Group 

Page 129



 

Conference (FGC) service for some families entering pre-proceeding, in April 2020. 
This is part of a national research project with the What Works Centre 
https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/ to test the effectiveness of FGC’s in reducing care rates. 
We hope that this will contribute to reducing further the need for court orders and 
delays in court proceedings.  Approximately half of all proceedings result in the child 
remaining in local authority care, under a Care Order, approximately half again go on 
to be adopted.  

 
Ofsted said:  
…pre-proceedings is properly initiated... The access to resources panel 
provides oversight …children’s cases are appropriately stepped down when 
there is evidence of change. However, in a minority of cases, children continue 
to experience drift…because planning is unfocused.  
 

 

17 What we are doing to improve  

17.1 The improvement plan focus through 2019 was aimed at re-establishing the basics of 
practice, through 2020 the priority is focusing on improving the quality of our 
interventions. The improvement plan has a strong focus on workforce development to 
address this.  

17.2 Top 12 priority areas for improvement through 2020/2021: 

 Workforce development, so staff have the skills & tools to do their jobs 
effectively. 

 Having clear, updated practice standards, policies and procedures.  

 Recruitment & Retention of staff, to improve continuity for children and 
families. 

 Strengthening targeted Early Help for vulnerable families. 

 Providing a range of services and help for children living with Domestic Abuse. 

 Safeguarding young people at risk of exploitation in the community. 

 Increasing family support, to reduce the need for children to come into care. 

 Good Corporate Parenting for looked after children and our care leavers.  

 Placement sufficiency, for our looked after children and care leavers. 

 Stable ICT to support practice, performance & financial management. 

 Having reliable performance information to monitor practice and plan services. 
Enhanced Business Support, allowing social workers to spend time with 
families.   
 

29. The activity associated with delivering the above was provided in the CYP Select 
Report (January 2020) on the response to the Ofsted report, therefore I refer 
members to this earlier report for further details.  

  

Page 130

https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/


 

30. 18 Financial implications  

19.1 The Children’s Social Care budget has been increased in 2020/21 by £800,000 to 
provide sufficient staff to maintain reasonable caseloads and management oversight. 
A further £600,000 has been committed to fund one off development activity to maintain 
the pace of change in the improvement programme. These additional funds for 2020/21 
are being met from within the Children and Young People’s Directorate.  

19.2 The 2021/22 financial position will need to be reviewed again in Quarter 2 of 2020/21, 
following the completion of the Workforce Development Strategy (WD) and the Family 
Support Feasibility Review (FSF). The first WD strategy will examine whether additional 
pressures emerge in the staffing budget as a result of reviewing and benchmarking 
social worker pay. The second FSF review will identify whether there is sufficient 
existing resource to develop an in-house Family Support Service, to strengthen Edge 
of Care provision to prevent children becoming looked after unnecessarily, or whether 
an invest to save business case is required. 
 

31. 20 Legal implications 

Not applicable 
 

32. 21 Equalities implications 
The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme for 2016-20 provides an overarching 
framework and focus for the Council’s work on equalities and helps ensure 
compliance with the Equality Act 2010. 

 

33. Climate change and environmental implications 
Not applicable 

 

23 Crime and disorder implications 

23.1 Investment in the Safe Space, Leaving Care and additional Domestic Violence 
services are specifically aimed at reducing rates of crime and violence in the 
community.  

 
24 Health and wellbeing implications  

24.1 The improvement plan seeks to improve conditions and support for social work 
practitioner’s which aims to better staff welfare and reduce sickness levels. 

 

25 Background papers 

25.1 The Ofsted report was published in August 
2019:https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50101634  
 
 

26 Report author and contact 

26.1 Lucie Heyes, Director Children’s Social Care, 0208 314 8140, 
Lucie.Heyes@lewisham.gov.uk 

26.2 Quality Assured by interim Executive DCS Pauline Maddison. Contributions from: 
Risthardh Hare (Director Early Help & Commissioing), Sean Maguire (Head of Service 
– MASH, Assessment & Safe Space), Rebecca Hare (Head of Service – Family Social 
Work), Jan Kamil (Service Manager – Children with Complex Needs) 

  

Page 131

https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50101634
mailto:Lucie.Heyes@lewisham.gov.uk


 

34. Glossary  
 

Term Definition 

ILACS 

Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services. Details of the 
framework for inspection can be found here: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government 

MASH  
Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub, 

The multi-professional team based in Children’s Services that provides a 
referral point for all professionals and members of the public requesting 
services for vulnerable children. 

CAFCASS 

Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service represents 
children in family court cases. Family Court Advisers and Guardians are 
independent of the Local Authority and advise the court on the best 
interests of the children involved in private law proceedings, where parents 
or carers can’t agree on arrangements for their children. Public law care 

proceedings and adoption. https://www.cafcass.gov.uk/about-cafcass/ 
 

CSC 
Children’s Social 
Care. 

The service area of Children’s Services that provides statutory social work 
services to children in need, including those with complex disabilities, 
children in need of protection, children who are looked after (in care) and 
young people who her previously been in care. 

FGC 
Family Group 
Conference 

A meeting of the extended family and friends to make decisions and plans 
for resolving problems around a child or young person. More information 
can be found here: http://www.daybreakfgc.org.uk/what-is-an-fgc 

Signs of Safety  
The practice framework for children’s social work that guides a particular 
approach to working with families. More information can be found here: 
https://www.signsofsafety.net/signs-of-safety/ 

KSS 
Knowledge & Skills 
Statements 

The children’s social work national standards set by the Department of 
Education. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government 

Tri – X  
Internet based online procedures manual, used by a number of Local 
Authorities to host all practice procedures.  

LSCP  
Local 
Safeguarding 
Children’s 
Partnership  

Replacing the former Local Safeguarding Children’s Board in 2019. The 
partnership ensures member agencies work together to keep children and 
young people safe, hold one another to account and ensure that 
safeguarding remains a priority. More information can be found here: 
https://www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lscp/lscp 

EHM/LCS 
ControCC 

EHM/LCS  - Electronic case file recording and management system for 
Children’s Social Care. Provided by Liquidlogic suppliers.  
ControCC – Electronic  Finance management system linked to LCS 

35.  
 

 

 

  

Page 132

https://www.cafcass.gov.uk/about-cafcass/
http://www.daybreakfgc.org.uk/what-is-an-fgc
https://www.signsofsafety.net/signs-of-safety/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government
https://www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lscp/lscp


 

Key milestones in the CSC Improvement Plan since June 2019  

What we have done Why we have done it When 

Transition from LSCB to new 
partnership arrangements developed  

Launched: As required by changes in 
legislation. 

Jul 2019  

Transfer process revised. New transfer 
panel introduced. 

Minimise delays and ensure good quality 
transitions between workers and teams.   

Q1 
2019/20 

Service wide appraisal targets linked to 
the Knowledge & Skills Statements 
(KSS) for Social Work for 2019/2 

Set practice expectations, embed Vision, 
Values & KSS 

Jun 2019 

Establishment of Inter-agency Concern 
Hub, lead by Community Safety & Police. 
(Formerly the MET group) 

Improve identification, information 
sharing and safety planning for young 
people experiencing exploitation 

Jul 2019 

OFTSED ILACS Inspection  Jul 2019 

Recruitment campaign for Senior 
Managers (Group Managers & HOS) 

Stabilise leadership team to take forward 
improvement programme. 

New senior management team in post: 

Aug 2019 
 

Nov 2019 

Creation of Safe Space adolescent/ 
contextual safeguarding team, to work 
alongside the Concern Hub. 

Improve response and services to young 
people experiencing exploitation.  

Aug 2019 

Interim senior management team in place transitioning from previous permanent 
HOS to new team & introduction of new management layer (Group Managers) 

Aug-Nov 

2019/20 

Department of Education (DfE), 
successful bid for innovation grant set up 
Family Group Conference service. 

Enhance our family support offer to keep 
more children safely with their families. 

Sep 2019 

Recruitment campaign for Team 
Managers 

Improve permanent, stable workforce & 
strengthen management oversight 

Sep/Oct 
2019 

New post of Director of Early Help, CYP 
Commissioning & Placements 
established. Interim appointment made 

Drive forward Early Help & 
commissioned services for children and 
young people  

Oct 2019 

 

Introduction of CSC service wide 
Practice Standards workshops and Core 
KSS skills training sessions.  

Establish minimum standards and 
improve consistency of practice in core 
areas i.e. recording, assessment & 
planning.  

Start  

Oct 2019. 

Signs of Safety (SoS) managers on 5 
day Practice Leaders training 

Establish shared practice approach 
aligned with vision and values 

Nov 2019 

Page 133



 

Phase 2: Re-design programme to 
improve the Liquidlogic Children’s 
Recording System (LCS & EHM) 
approved 

Reduce bureaucracy, simplify convoluted 
systems, to increase capacity for more 
direct work with children and families 

Agreed 
Nov 2019 
to start in 
Dec 2019 

Staffing establishment reviewed and 
reset. Additional capacity agreed to 
expand staff group, staffing budget 
rightsized. 

Better alignment of existing resources. 
Increasing capacity to manage demand 
and maintain reasonable caseloads. 
Introduction of Advanced Practitioners 

Agreed 
Nov 2019 
to start 
Jan 2020 

New Interim Executive DCS appointed Dec 2019 

Recruitment campaign for Advanced 
Practitioners 

Improve permanent, stable workforce & 
strengthen management oversight and 
practice development  

Jan 2020 

Team managers 12 month training and 
development programme commences 

Supporting the professional development 
for frontline managers 

Jan 2020 

Listening & Learning event (5 days): 
auditing, observing & feedback 

Concentrated activity to gain a clear 
picture of practice quality & impact  

Jan 2020 

  

Page 134



 

29 Summary of Ofsted Findings for children in need of help and protection and the 
impact of leaders 

The inspectors judged that services ‘required improvement’ to be good across all three 
headings, this was in line with the council’s own self-assessments in January and June 2019. 
The Ofsted report was published in August 2019 and can be found online at: 
https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50101634  

 

What is going well: 

 “The pace of improvement has significantly accelerated” 

 There has been and improvement in management capacity, including the reinstatement 

of a layer of management (Service Group Managers) 

 The decision to introduce a practice model (Signs of Safety) is having a positive impact 

 Social workers feel well supported by their managers. 

 Threshold decisions are generally accurate 

 Additional social work capacity has reduced caseloads 

 Newly qualified social workers are well supported 

  At the front door/MASH most children receive a timely service and there have been 
improvements since Ofsted last visited in September 2018. The MASH is helped by the 
co-location of police, health and education partners. 

 For the children at greatest risk, action is appropriate and timely.  

 Children in Need and those children on Protection Plans are regularly visited and social 

workers know children well. 

 Private fostering arrangements are well promoted and supported. 

 Services for 16 to 17 year olds at risk of homelessness are effective. 

 Support for disabled children is praised and as a result of the work of the team based 

at Kaleidoscope “the lives of disabled children are improving”. 

 When children and young people are identified as at risk of criminal or sexual 

exploitation, appropriate action is taken to reduce risk. 

 Staff in the education team are tenacious in tracking and following through cases of 

children missing from education and monitoring arrangements for children electively 

home educated have improved. 

 

Issues that need to be addressed: 

 Casework audits are too positive and the quality assurance framework is not yet 

embedded 

 Not all performance reports are reliable 

 The Ofsted Team saw social workers experiencing significant IT (server) problems 

 Commissioned services need to be improved, as has already been recognised 

 Social worker caseloads are still too high in some areas 

 Training and professional development of social workers has not had enough priority 
but this is changing 

 Early help services need to be better developed, with more capacity, better systems 

and stronger management oversight. 

 For children at lower risk, decisions in the MASH can take too long. 

 While domestic abuse is recognised promptly, the response is not sufficiently robust 

and options for support need to be clearer. 

 The quality of assessments needs to be improved. 

 Children’s Plans need to be more detailed and better quality. 

 Supervision and management oversight of social workers needs to improve. 

 

Page 135

https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50101634


 

 

 Our 

Vision 

 What good children’s social 
work looks like in Lewisham  

Families will tell us they understand why we are involved, the reasons for our decisions and the actions 
we take 
We will make sure children/young people, parents, carers and others are clear about why we are involved, 
what needs to change and what we are doing to help. We will work ‘with’ families and support everyone to 
participate by listening to their views and encouraging them to find their own solutions. We will always 
respect that families are all different and they know themselves best, we will be balanced and recognise 
their strengths, seeking to build on what is working well to help change happen.  
 
Children & young people will tell us their social worker spent time getting to know them and has made a 
difference to their lives 
We will always make sure we spend enough time with the child/young person so we understand their 
experiences and what is important to them. The child/young person will always know that we are looking 
out for them, that we care about what is happening to them and that their wellbeing and safety is our top 
priority. We will explain to children and young people what we are doing and why, in a language they will 
understand and will encourage them to participate and help them make good choices to shape their own 
experience and futures.   
 
Families are respected and supported to stay together whenever there is enough safety 
Through building trust and relationships, families will be helped to find their own solutions and become 
more resilient. We will always recognise the importance of the child and young person’s network and 
strengthen support for families to stay together wherever it is safe to do so. We will always look for care 
for children and young people in the naturally occurring network as the first option. We will work with 
families, their communities and other agencies to help young people navigate the challenges they face to 
keep safe in their homes, schools and in the community. 
 
Children and young people who are in our care know we care and we won’t give up on them 
When a child or young person comes into our care we will do everything we can to make them safe and 
secure. We will talk with them about their life story, to help them understand and make sense of the 
difficulties they may have experienced. We will keep them connected to their family, culture and 
community. We will always champion their interests, celebrate their achievements and have high 
aspirations for them, to help them grow and to do the best they can in their lives.  
   
Young people who have been in our care feel confident about themselves and their future 
The young adults who have been in our care will be provided with the tools and support they need to build 
their knowledge, skills and confidence to lead successful, independent lives. We will help them access 
services and keep connected in their culture and communities. We will encourage and support them to 
realise and achieve their hopes and ambitions. We will ensure they always have someone to turn to if they 
need advice or help.  

Page 136



 

 

 

Children & Young People Select Committee 

 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership                                              
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements Update 

Date: 10 March 2020 

Key decision: No.  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Mick Brims – Interim Strategic Safeguarding Lead, Lewisham Safeguarding 
Children Partnership  

Outline and recommendations 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership was established in September 2019, in line 
with reforms contained within the Children & Social Work Act (2017) and replaces the 

former Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board. 

The purpose of this report is to update the Children & Young People Select Committee on 
the progress of the new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in Lewisham. 

The Children & Young People Select Committee is requested to note the contents of this 
report. 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 8



 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

02.09.2019 – Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP) formally constituted. 
Previous Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board dissolved.  

 

1. Summary 

1.1. This report covers the period 02.09.2019 to 27.02.2020, since the inception of the 
Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership. The LSCP has worked since September 
2019 to implement new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements focused on specific 
safeguarding priority areas to make a positive impact on the lives of children and 
families.  

1.2. This report outlines how the LSCP is currently structured, its key areas of focus at this 
time (domestic abuse and adolescent safety) and how different arms of the LSCP seek 
to address these safeguarding priority areas.  

1.3. This report also provides an outline of statutory framework that the Lewisham 
Safeguarding Children Partnership resides within, moving forward from the former 
Lewisham Safeguarding Board statutory framework.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1. Members of the Children & Young People Select Committee are requested to note the 
contents of this report. 

3. Policy Context 

3.1. Statutory Guidance within ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018)’ contains 
key changes to multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in local authority areas. As a 
result of reforms in the ‘Children & Social Work Act (2017)’, overall responsibility for 
safeguarding children within Lewisham is now shared equally by three ‘safeguarding 
partners’. These partners are Lewisham Council, NHS Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and the Chief Officer of the Metropolitan Police South-
East Basic Command Unit (SE-BCU).  Statutory guidance in Working Together to 
Safeguard Children (2018) also stated that the three safeguarding partners must also 
work closely with other ‘relevant agencies’ in Lewisham who are involved in 
safeguarding children.   

3.2. Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018) also calls for the Lewisham 
Safeguarding Children Partnership to publish its arrangements about how safeguarding 
agencies will work together, and hold one another to account and share learning to 
improve safeguarding work. This statutory guidance also calls for the LSCP to forge 
links with other safeguarding boards (eg. Health & Well-Being Boards, Adult 

Page 138

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Safeguarding Boards) to be effective in safeguarding children.  

3.3. Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018) also provides for the creation of the 
role of ‘Independent Scrutineer’ to replace the former LSCB Independent Chairperson.  
The role of the Independent Scrutineer is to “…consider how effectively the 
arrangements are working for children and families as well as for practitioners, and 
how well the safeguarding partners are providing strong leadership and agree with the 
safeguarding partners how this will be reported.” (Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2018, p.77).  

3.4. The LSCP is directed to provide an annual report in within this statutory guidance, 
reporting on the activity of the partnership and how effective multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements have been in practice. This annual report will be also be subject to 
review by the Independent Scrutineer. 

4. Background  

4.1. As noted above, the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership has moved to a 
model of multi-agency (Police, Local Authority, Health) oversight and responsibility for 
safeguarding. This responsibility was previously held wholly by the Local Authority. 

5. Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership Structure & 
Activity 

5.1. The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership has developing a safeguarding 
priority-based approach to challenging and developing practice in Lewisham. Currently, 
the LSCP is focusing on domestic abuse and adolescent safety as its key safeguarding 
priority areas. Within these areas, the LSCP is developing a number of specific 
objectives to achieve that will create meaningful impact for children and families in 
Lewisham. 

5.2. The LSCP is structured by way of an overarching Executive Partnership, comprised of 
the safeguarding SE-BCU Detective Superintendent (Metropolitan Police), Executive 
Director for Children & Young People (Lewisham Council) and the Managing Director 
of the NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). This group meets on a 
monthly basis and has oversight of the wider LSCP.  

5.3. The ‘Safeguarding Partnership’ is a broader range of senior managers and clinicians 
across selected from both statutory, non-statutory and voluntary safeguarding agencies 
in Lewisham. LSCP subgroups currently report to this broader partnership for oversight 
and to consider emerging safeguarding themes from LSCP Subgroup work.  

5.4. The LSCP has four Subgroups that respectively:  

5.4.1.1. Review multi-agency data and complete multi-agency audits (Monitoring, 
Evaluation & Service Improvement Subgroup); 

5.4.1.2. Complete Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and multi-agency learning reviews 
of safeguarding cases (Learning From Practice Subgroup);   

5.4.1.3. Provide operational and strategic responses to children and young people at risk of 
going missing, exploitation, trafficking and serious youth violence (Concern Hub); 

5.4.1.4. Creates a conduit for safeguarding concerns from within schools and educational 
settings to the wider LSCP and provides for learning and safeguarding trends from 
other parts of the LSCP to be shared with teachers and education providers 
(Schools Safeguarding Network). 

5.5. The LSCP is also point of a joint Subgroup administered by the Lewisham 
Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) named the Housing Provider Forum. This subgroup 
gives the opportunity to work with housing providers in Lewisham around safeguarding 

Page 139

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

issues for children and their families across a full age range.  

5.6. The LSCP has taken the approach of looking to create real world, positive impact and 
change for children and families in Lewisham. The LSCP will achieve this by focusing 
in on specific areas around addressing domestic abuse and adolescent safety 
concerns in Lewisham.  

5.7. In addition to challenging safeguarding practice and sharing learning identified in the 
subgroups above, the LSCP will agree arrangements with its member agencies to 
return to each group (whether via audit, consultation or other activity) to fully 
understand the impact of any challenge or learning shared for children and families. 
The LSCP will use this impact evidence to guide where it will next focus its attention to 
create further impact for children and families.  

6. Financial implications  

6.1. There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.  

7. Legal implications 

7.1. Section 16(E) of the Children & Social Work Act (2017) contains key amendments to 
the Children Act (2004). These amendments outline the abolition of Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards and formalise the role of the ‘Safeguarding Partners’ (Lewisham 
Council, NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and the Chief Officer of 
the police within a local authority area). 

7.2. The revised regulatory framework indicates that Safeguarding Partners have a range of 
roles and statutory functions, including developing multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements in Lewisham and providing for scrutiny of these arrangements.   

7.3. As noted above at paragraphs 3.1 & 3.2, the Safeguarding Partners “…should agree 
co-ordinate their safeguarding services; act as a strategic leadership group in 
supporting and engaging others; and implement local and national learning including 
from serious child safeguarding incidents.” Working Together to Safeguard Children 
(2018) 

7.4. The Safeguarding Partners must also report upon how effective multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements are and provide for scrutiny these arrangements, as 
outlined at paragraphs 3.3 & 3.4 above. 

8. Equalities implications 

8.1. Equality, diversity and disproportionality are key principles that the LSCP must keep in 
mind at all times.  

8.2. When considering safeguarding practice and the impact that the LSCP will try to 
achieve for children, all LSCP work specifically considers these principles in 
understanding safeguarding need, sharing learning and when considering how to 
create impact for children. This applies to data analysis, case review learning and other 
LSCP work. 

8.3. The LSCP has an ongoing, overarching duty and commitment to elimination of 
discrimination, advance equal quality opportunity and foster good relationships.  

8.4. The LSCP is committed to considering all implications within the Equality Act (2010) for 
children and families in Lewisham. Whilst this report does not have specific 
implications for persons with specific protected characteristics or within wider groups of 
persons suffering from inequality or discrimination, the LSCP is focused on challenging 
and addressing any such activity in all aspects of its work. 

Page 140

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

9. Climate change and environmental implications 

9.1. There are no specific climate change and environmental implications arising from this 
report  

10. Crime and disorder implications 

10.1. There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report.  

10.2. The LSCP (particularly via its Concern Hub subgroup) works to reduce risk of harm to 
children and young people at risk of crimes perpetrated against them. This includes 
child criminal and sexual exploitation, trafficking and serious youth violence. The 
LSCP’s work in this area seeks to reduce the impact of violence and reduce risk of 
violence to children and young people.  

11. Health and wellbeing implications  

11.1. There are no specific health or well-being implications arising from this report.  

11.2. Health and well-being implications are an intrinsic and ongoing element of all LSCP 
work in working to support and improve safeguarding practice in Lewisham. Achieving 
positive health and well-being outcomes remains a key element of the LSCP multi-
agency approach to safeguarding children in Lewisham. 

12. Background papers 

12.1. Appendix 1 - Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership Structure Chart 

12.2. Appendix 2 - Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership ‘Memorandum of 
Understanding’ Document 

12.3. Appendix 3 - Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership ‘Learning From Good 
Practice, Near Misses & Serious Safeguarding Incidents’ document  

13. Glossary  

Term Definition 

LSCP 
‘Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership’. This is the 
new multi-agency body overseeing safeguarding of children 
within Lewisham from September 2019 onward. 

LSCB 
‘Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board’. This was the multi-
agency body overseeing safeguarding of children in Lewisham 
until September 2019. 

LSAB 
‘Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board’. This is the multi-
agency safeguarding body that oversees safeguarding of 
adults within Lewisham.  

Page 141

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Term Definition 

Safeguarding Partners 

This term is used in this document to reference the lead 
safeguarding officers within Lewisham Council, NHS 
Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group and the Metropolitan 
Police that are responsible for safeguarding in the Lewisham 
area. 
 
These three persons share equal responsibility for the 
effectiveness of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in 
Lewisham. 

14. Report author and contact 

14.1. Mick Brims – Interim Strategic Safeguarding Lead – Lewisham Safeguarding 
Children Partnership 

14.2. mick.brims@lewisham.gov.uk  

Page 142

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:mick.brims@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 

NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group  

Martin Wilkinson, Managing Director, LSCP Chairperson 2020-21 

London Borough of Lewisham  

Pauline Maddison, Executive Director for Children and Young People 

Metropolitan Police  

Jim Foley, Detective Superintendent, Southeast BCU 

 

The Learning from Practice Group has responsibility 

for reviewing cases that raise issues of improvements 

to practice, notifying Serious Incidents to the National 

Safeguarding Practice Review Panel, conducting Rapid 

Reviews and, where appropriate, commissioning and 

publishing local Child Safeguarding Practice                                   

Reviews.  

This group also implements                                          

Case Review Action Plans and                                    

shares learning from case                                             

reviews to safeguarding                                           

partners across Lewisham. 

 

  

EXECUTIVE PARTNERSHIP 

 

 

Learning  

From  

Practice 

Concern  

Hub 
 

Monitoring, 

Evaluation & 

Service 

Improvement 

 
Schools  

Safeguarding 

Network 

Housing 

Provider 

Forum  and work with young people who have experienced trauma, 

whilst also seeking to disrupt and cease exploitative activity 

and reduce physical risk for young people that may be being 

affected by contextual safeguarding factors in the community. 

The Monitoring, Evaluation & Service 

Improvement (MESI) subgroup reviews 

performance data to evaluate the 

effectiveness of multi-agency safeguarding 

practice in Lewisham. The MESI subgroup 

also commissions multi-agency audits to 

understand specific areas where practice 

can be improved and shares audit learning 

with the wider Safeguarding Partnership.   

In Lewisham, it is recognised that 

exploitation can take different forms. 

We know that children and young 

people are at significant risk of many 

different forms of exploitation when 

they are missing, are associated with 

criminal exploitation, serious youth 

violence or are missing from education. 

The Concern Hub provides a multi-

agency response to actively support 

SAFEGUARDING 

 PARTNERSHIP 

 The Housing Provider Forum provides a key multi-agency opportunity 

to engage with housing providers in Lewisham and to work with 

partners to address safeguarding concerns for children and adults 

arising from housing issues.  This subgroup is administered by the 

Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB). 

 

Schools are a vital and central part of the 

safeguarding partnership and have a crucial 

role to play in safeguarding and promoting 

the welfare of children. The Schools 

Safeguarding Network provides a conduit for 

safeguarding information and for initiatives 

to be developed in 

educational settings,        

whilst also ensuring that 

safeguarding information 

and trends in education 

reach the Safeguarding 

Partnership swiftly for 

strategic review and action. 

P
age 143

https://www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lscp


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

 

 

LSCP 

MEMORANDUM  

OF UNDERSTANDING 

2019/20 

Page 145



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

INTRODUCTION  

Effective safeguarding is achieved by putting children at the centre of the 

system and by every individual and agency playing their full part. Everyone 

and every agency who comes into contact with children has a role to play in 

identifying concerns, sharing information and taking prompt action to 

protect them. 

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 places new duties on the police, 

clinical commissioning groups and the local authority to make arrangements 

to work together and with other partners locally to safeguard and promote 

the welfare of children in their area. 

The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership has published its 

arrangements which are available on the LSCP and Lewisham CCG websites. 

At the heart of those arrangements are our shared values; the beliefs and 

aspirations that drive our behaviours.  

This Memorandum of Understanding between the three statutory partners is 

written to provide clarity on how the partnership will work in practice. 

Specifically, it covers: 

 The safeguarding partners 

 Roles and statutory responsibilities 

 Operational activity and risk management 

 Relationship with other boards and partnerships  

This Memorandum of Understanding can be revised at any time, but must be 

reviewed annually in conjunction with publication of the Annual Report.  

 

 

Jim Foley 

Page 146



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

Sara Williams 

 

Martin Wilkinson 

 

 

 

  

Page 147



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

THE SAFEGUARDING PARTNERS 

As defined by the children and Social Work Act 2017, the safeguarding 

partners are: 

 The local authority  

 A clinical commissioning group for an area, any part of which falls 

within the local authority area 

 The chief officer of police for an area any part of which falls within the 

local authority area 

All three safeguarding partners have equal and joint responsibility for local 

safeguarding arrangements. 

In Lewisham, the safeguarding partner organisations and their lead 

representatives are: 

  Borough of Lewisham – Chief Executive 

 Lewisham NHS Clinical Commissioning Group – Accountable Officer 

 Metropolitan Police Southeast Basic Command Unit – Commander 

Locally, the lead representatives have delegated their functions to: 

 Sara Williams, Executive Director for Children and Young People, 

Borough of Lewisham  

 Martin Wilkinson, Managing Director NHS Lewisham CCG 

 Jim Foley, Superintendent Southeast Basic Command Unit  

The three safeguarding partners will act as a strategic leadership group in 

supporting and engaging others and implement local and national learning 

including from serious child safeguarding incidents. 

 

  

Page 148



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

ROLES AND STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES  

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 gives the police, CCG and local 

authority equal and joint responsibility for local safeguarding arrangements.  

Therefore, the lead representative from each of the partners will play an 

active role in: 

 determining how they will coordinate their safeguarding services 

 taking decisions on behalf of the organisation and committing them 

on policy, resourcing and practice matters 

 holding their own organisation to account on how effectively they 

participate and implement the local arrangements  

 supporting and engaging others to facilitate and drive action beyond 

institutional and agency constraints and boundaries 

 ensuring that the effective protection of children is founded on 

practitioners developing lasting and trusting relationships with 

children and their families 

 implementing local and national learning including from serious child 

safeguarding incidents 

In order to achieve this, the three safeguarding partners will  

 Work with Relevant Agencies  

Relevant agencies are those organisations and agencies whose 

involvement the safeguarding partners consider is required to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of children in their local area. A list of statutory 

relevant agencies is contained in The Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018.  When selected by the 

safeguarding partners to be part of the local arrangements, relevant 

agencies must act in accordance with the arrangements.   

For local arrangements to be effective, he lead representatives will 

individually and collectively be responsible for: 

Page 149



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 determining which agencies to include in the arrangements 

regardless of whether they are listed in relevant agency regulations 

and annually reviewing the list 

 ensuring that relevant agencies are aware of the expectations under 

the new arrangements and their obligation to act in accordance 

 achieving active engagement of all relevant agencies in a 

meaningful way  

 satisfying themselves that relevant agencies have robust 

safeguarding policies and procedures in place  

 working with relevant agencies to support them to develop, 

monitor and challenge practice 

In Lewisham, relevant agencies are represented at senior level Partnership 

which meets quarterly. Terms of reference are included as Appendix B. 

They are also represented through membership of the Monitoring, 

Evaluation and Service Improvement Group, Learning from Practice Group, 

Schools’ Safeguarding Network and the Concern Hub as well as (when 

required) task and finish groups. Terms of Reference for these groups are 

included as Appendices C, D, E and F.  

 Thresholds for Support   

It is important that there are clear criteria among organisations and 

agencies working with children and families for taking action and 

providing help at all levels of need to ensure that the right help is given 

from the right service at the right time.  The safeguarding partners will 

ensure that these criteria are understood and appropriately applied in 

their own and relevant agencies.  

Safeguarding partners will agree and publish a threshold document, 

ensuring that it is disseminated, understood and reviewed annually. The 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership Threshold Document was 

revised in December 2018 and be updated in 2019.  

Page 150



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 Agree Funding 

The safeguarding partners, through the Executive Partnership, will set a 

yearly budget that provides sufficient resources to undertake their 

responsibilities, including the cost of local safeguarding practice reviews.  

They will agree equitable and proportionate funding from each partner, 

and any contributions from relevant agencies.  

In 2019/20 the local authority will act as the host agency for funding, 

receiving contributions and making payments for expenses incurred on 

behalf of the partnership but this is an area for early review with the 

expectation that other options will be explored in time for 

implementation in 2020/21.  

 Oversee Multi Agency Learning and Development Within the 

Partnership 

The safeguarding partners are responsible for commissioning multi 

agency training that supports collective understanding of local need and 

the response to it and evaluating the effectiveness of that training.  

In addition, they will ensure that learning from audits and child 

safeguarding reviews has an impact on practice.  

 Lead on Safeguarding Practice Reviews  

The responsibility for how the system learns the lessons from serious 

child safeguarding incidents lies at a national level with the Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review Group and at a local level with the 

safeguarding partners.  

The safeguarding partners will: 

 make arrangements to identify and review serious child 

safeguarding cases which in their view raise issues of importance in 

relation to Lewisham 

Page 151



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 ensure that Rapid Reviews are undertaken in a timely manner, and 

where purposeful delay is recommended by the Strategic 

Safeguarding Lead monitor progress until completion  

 send a copy of Rapid Reviews to the National Panel and share with 

the Panel their decision about whether a national or local child 

safeguarding practice review is appropriate or whether they think a 

different form of learning may be appropriate 

 commission and oversee a review of those cases that in their 

opinion require a local child safeguarding practice or alternative 

learning review  

 agree the methodology of the review and ensure that practitioners 

are fully involved and are able to contribute their perspectives 

without fear of being blamed for actions they took in good faith 

 seek to ensure that families, including children, are invited to 

contribute to reviews and that their expectations are managed 

appropriately and sensitively  

 ensure that the final report includes an analysis of any systemic or 

underlying reasons why actions were taken or not in respect of 

matters covered by the report as well as a summary of 

recommended improvements to safeguard and promote the welfare 

of children 

 

 Learn Lessons from the Child Death Review Process 

Although Child Death reviews are outside the remit of the new 

arrangements, there is an expectation that the lead representatives will 

take note of patterns and trends in child deaths and consider any 

implications for safeguarding.   

 Implement a System of Scrutiny 

Page 152



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

Safeguarding partners will commission and review a robust system of 

independent scrutiny that is objective, acts as a constructive critical friend 

and promotes reflection to drive continuous improvement. 

 Report on Their Arrangements   

The safeguarding partners will publish a report on the effectiveness of 

their arrangements at least once a year that sets out what they have done. 

The partners will ensure that this report is widely shared and used to 

drive improvements.  The report will include: 

 Evidence of the impact of the work of the safeguarding partners 

and relevant agencies, including training, on outcomes for 

children and families from early help to children in our care and 

care leavers  

 An analysis of areas where there has been little or no evidence 

of progress on agreed priorities 

 A record of decisions and actions taken, or planned to be taken, 

to implement the recommendations of any local and national 

child safeguarding practice reviews 

 Ways in which the partners have sought and utilised feedback 

from children and families to inform their work and influence 

service 

 Any updates to the published arrangements and the proposed 

timescale for implementation  

The safeguarding partners are responsible for ensuring that a copy of the 

Annual Report is sent to the Child Safeguarding Review Panel and the What 

Works Centre for Children’s Social Care within seven days of publication.  

In order to meet their obligations, the lead representatives from the 

Safeguarding Partners will form an Executive which meets regularly. Terms 

of reference are included as Appendix A. 

Page 153



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

  

Page 154



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

OPERATIONAL ACTIVITY AND MANAGEMENT  

Funding  

Funding will be agreed at the beginning of each financial year and a budget 

set and agreed by the Executive. The three safeguarding partners and 

relevant agencies in Lewisham should make equitable and proportionate 

contributions to support the safeguarding arrangements.  

If any safeguarding partners do not fulfil their funding responsibilities, the 

dispute resolution process will be deployed.  

Practice and Business Unit 

There is no requirement for the safeguarding partners to employ dedicated 

staff to support their arrangements.  However, in Lewisham the safeguarding 

partners have agreed that there will be a Business Unit funded through 

contributions. The unit will support the partners in meeting their statutory 

responsibilities and in developing and implementing the safeguarding 

arrangements.  

Initially the local authority will act as the host agency for the unit and will 

employ staff on behalf of the three safeguarding partners who are 

responsible for deciding the composition, structure and remit of the unit.    

Members of the Business Unit will be supervised by a Strategic Safeguarding 

Lead who will report to the and appraised by the Director of Commissioning 

and Early Help in the London Borough of Lewisham and day to day control 

will lie with that post. The Executive should inform each other and the 

Director of Commissioning and Early Help of any significant matters that 

concerns the Business Unit as soon as is reasonably possible.  Any costs 

associated with recruitment, training and redundancy will be the 

responsibility of the Safeguarding Partnership.  

Page 155



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

Members of the Unit will be assigned to attend all partnership and subgroup 

meetings to provide organisational and administrative support but are not 

members of the groups. 

Responsibility for Public Statements and Press Releases 

The safeguarding partners will cooperate when issuing any public statement 

or press release relating to the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership 

or any activity relating to its activities.   

On some occasions, a single point of leadership is required. The three 

safeguarding partners will agree on a single partner who will act and speak 

on behalf of, and in the interests of, the Lewisham Safeguarding Children 

Partnership.  This decision will normally be need to be made through contact 

outside of formal meetings, but there is an expectation that the decision will 

be documented and recorded at the next Executive Meeting.  

 

Decision Making and Dispute Resolution 

There is a commitment to resolving any dispute between in the safeguarding 

partners, relevant agencies and other organisations and agencies quickly.  

All members of the Partnership are committed to openness and a balance of 

respect and challenge. All groups within the partnership will use a model of 

consensus decision making wherever possible to weave together everyone’s 

best ideas and key concerns to arrive at creative solutions that will allow us 

to progress towards our common goal. 

We recognise however that there will be circumstances where consensus 

cannot be reached and under those circumstances a formal vote will be 

taken. 

In the Executive group, each of the safeguarding partners has one vote and 

decisions will be decided by a majority.  

Page 156



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

Where one of the members of the Executive not only disagrees with a 

decision, but believes that if it implemented it will either put children at risk 

and/or expose the partnership to reputational damage, they may ask the 

Scrutineer for consideration and resolution.  

Where it is believed that one of the delegated lead representatives of 

partners is not ensuring that their agency is fulfilling its obligations, the 

matter should first be discussed within the Executive.  

Should the matter not be resolved, it should be escalated to the Chief 

Executive of the Borough of Lewisham, the Accountable Officer of NHS 

Lewisham CCG and the BCU Commander as appropriate.  

If the matter cannot be resolved, the Scrutineer should be called in for 

mediation and resolution.  

At practitioner and individual case level, where there are disputes about the 

best way to safeguard children, the Lewisham Safeguarding Children 

Escalation Policy on resolving professional differences should be used.  

Information Sharing and Information Governance  

The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership recognises the critical 

importance of effective information sharing in safeguarding and promoting 

the welfare of children. Organisations with within the Lewisham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership will adopt their own information sharing protocols and 

these will vary according to specific needs e.g. MASH, Concern Hub. 

In Lewisham we recognise that safeguarding children requires more than the 

sharing of facts. It also requires the exchange and use of a diverse range of 

professional judgements to engender shared understanding and 

collaborative learning.  

All organisations in the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership are 

expected to contribute to a culture where appropriate information sharing is 

Page 157



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

the norm and adhere to the statutory guidance Information sharing: advice 

for practitioners providing safeguarding services (DfE, 2018). 

Information Storage  

The Business and Operational Unit will act as data controllers for information 

associated with the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership, on behalf 

of the Safeguarding partners.  

This will include: 

 Agendas, minutes and papers of the Partnership and any groups 

associated with it 

 Business support functions (including training, communications, 

performance management and audits) 

 Funding 

 Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and other learning reviews 

Information will be stored on the London Borough of Lewisham server and 

also on the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership Website.  

Freedom of Information Requests 

Each agency within the partnership will have its processes and procedures 

for dealing with Freedom of Information requests.  

Multi agency safeguarding arrangements are not currently subject to 

Freedom of Information Requests but this will change when Freedom of 

Information (Extension) Bill 2017-19 receives assent.  When the legislation 

changes, this Memorandum of Understanding will be updated. 

  

Page 158



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER BOARDS AND PARTNERSHIPS  

We know that to be effective, the Lewisham Safeguarding Children 

Partnership will need to link to other strategic partnership work that 

supports children and families.  

Much of this work will be done in the Partnership whose membership 

includes links to MARAC, MAPPA, the Community Safety Partnership and 

Channel Panel.  

In line with the intent of the Wood Report to reduce overlap, bureaucracy and 

duplication of effort, in 2019/20 the Lewisham Safeguarding Children 

Partnership will review the structure, terms of reference and scheduling of 

meetings to ensure that all multi agency arrangements are tested against the 

likelihood that they will promote and improve the quality and impact of 

practice so that outcomes for children improve.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 159



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

PARTNERSHIP EXECUTIVE    

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

PURPOSE OF GROUP 

 

The Partnership Executive comprises the named lead representatives for 

each of the safeguarding partners.  

The key role and functions are assessment of need, contribution to the 

shaping and implementation of strategy, planning and delivery.  

 

SCOPE OF GROUP 

 

This group will work together to ensure that local arrangements operate in a 

system that: 

 Children are safeguarded and their welfare promoted 

 Partner organisations and agencies collaborate, share and co-own the 

vision for how to achieve improved outcomes for vulnerable children 

 Organisations and agencies challenge appropriately and hold one 

another to account effectively 

 There is early identification and analysis of new safeguarding issues and 

emerging threats  

 Learning is promoted and embedded in a way that local services for 

children can become more reflective and implement changes to practice  

 Information is shared effectively to facilitate more accurate and timely 

decision making for children and families 

 

FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 

 

A significant amount of the work of the Executive takes place outside of formal 

meeting, however in the first year meetings will be held every six weeks.  

Appendix A 

Page 160



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

  

CHAIR AND MEMBERSHIP 

 

Meetings will be chaired in annual rotation by one of the three lead 

representatives of the safeguarding partners. In 2019/20 the Chair will be the 

Director for Children’s Services. A new Chair will be agreed at the start of each 

financial year.  

 

 

 

 

Membership is: 

 

Sara Williams (Chair) 

Executive Director for Children and 

Young People   

Lead Representative for Local 

Authority  

Martin Wilkinson  

Managing Director 

Lead Representative for NHS 

Lewisham CCG 

Jim Foley  

Detective Superintendent 

Safeguarding 

Lead Representative for Metropolitan 

Police, Southeast BCU 

 

 

The work of the Executive and all meetings will be supported by the Business 

Unit.  The Strategic Safeguarding Lead will attend meetings but is not a 

member of the Executive.  

 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMMUNICATION WITH OTHER GROUPS 

 

The three lead representatives for the safeguarding partners are accountable 

for the effectiveness of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements within 

Lewisham. They will work with the Partnership, the Monitoring, Evaluation and 

Service Improvement Group, the Learning from Practice Group, Schools’ 

Safeguarding Network and the Concern Hub to identify, facilitate and drive 

actions which will lead to improvement and measure the effectiveness of those 

actions. 

 

Page 161



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

REVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

 

The Terms of Reference and membership will be reviewed annually unless 

significant changes at national or local level require earlier review.  

 

All agendas, papers and minutes will be available to the Independent 

Scrutineer who may attend any or all meetings.   

 

DIVERSITY 

 

Any work completed by the Executive will be done in a manner which: 

 

 Recognises that children and young people have a right to be safe and 

have their vulnerabilities recognised 

 Considers and addresses issues of diversity in respect of gender, 

gender identity, race, religion, age, ability, culture, ethnicity, education 

and sexual orientation 

 Supports the empowerment of children, young people and their 

families, as well as the wider community, to keep children and young 

people safe from abuse/neglect 

 

 

 

 

INVOLVEMENT/PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND PARENTS/CARERS 

 

The voice of the child is a recurring core principle and our aim as a partnership 

is to work alongside families and children wherever possible. We believe they 

have valuable contributions to make.  For all of its work, the Executive will 

consider and ensure the views and experiences of children, young people and 

their parents/carers are collected and inform their work and the work of the 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

 

INFORMATION SHARING 

Page 162



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

Relevant information and data should be shared and reviewed as permitted 

within the stipulations of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 

Data Protection Act 2018, the Caldicott Principles, Working Together to 

Safeguard Children (DfE 2018) and Information sharing: advice for 

practitioners providing safeguarding services (DfE 2018). 

 

Date of Preparation:  September 2019 

 

Date for Next Review:  April 2020 
 

  

Page 163



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

 

THE LEWISHAM SAFEGUARDING PARTNERSHIP GROUP 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

PURPOSE OF GROUP 

 

The Lewisham Safeguarding Partnership Group brings together the named 

lead representatives for the safeguarding partner organisations with senior 

officers in partner organisations and relevant agencies to have oversight of 

the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in Lewisham and support 

decision making regarding local implementation.  

The key role and functions are assessment of need, contribution to the 

shaping and implementation of strategy, planning and delivery.  

 

SCOPE OF GROUP 

 

The function of this group is to: 

 provide strategic leadership in the development, implementation and 

sustainability of multiagency programs and strategies  

 provide advice, support and assistance in the development of priorities 

and implementation of annual business plan 

 assist in the promotion of a culture of supportive challenge and 

continuous improvement   

 monitor identified and emerging risks to children and contribute the 

plans for their prevention, mitigation and management 

 recognise barriers and enablers to high quality multi agency 

safeguarding practice and assist in developing initiatives to address 

these 

Appendix B 

Page 164



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 identify development needs for the effective functioning of the 

safeguarding partnership and promote effective responses  

 

 

FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 

 

The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership Group will meet quarterly.  

 

CHAIR AND MEMBERSHIP 

 

The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership will be chaired in annual 

rotation by one of the three lead representatives of the safeguarding partners. 

Selection of a Chair will be made at the first Executive Meeting after the start 

of each financial year.  In 2019/20 the Chair will be the Director for Children’s 

Services.  

 

In order to be quorate, meetings must include a representative from each of 

the Statutory Safeguarding Partners as well as fifty percent of the membership.   

 

Membership is: 

 

Sara Williams (Chair) 

Executive Director for Children and 

Young People  

Lead Representative for Local 

Authority  

Martin Wilkinson  

Managing Director 

Lead Representative for NHS 

Lewisham CCG 

Jim Foley  

Detective Superintendent 

Safeguarding 

Lead Representative for Metropolitan 

Police, Southeast BCU 

Director, Children’s Social Care Children’s Social Care, Residential, 

Fostering and Adoption  

Director of Public Protection and 

Safety 

Community Safety and Youth 

Offending 

Director of Joint Commissioning 

and Early Help  

Commissioned Children’s Services, 

including Children’s Centres 

Page 165



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

Director of Education Services  Early Years, Primary, Secondary and 

Post 16 Education  

Designated Nurse NHS Lewisham CCG 

Designated Doctor NHS Lewisham CCG 

Headteacher and Governor 

Representative   

Schools and Academies   

Director of Nursing for South 

London  

NHS England 

Chief Nurse Lewisham & Lewisham NHS Trust 

Lead Clinician   South London and Maudsley NHS 

Trust  

Area Manager Probation 

Area Manager Community Rehabilitation Company  

Director Public Health 

Director Housing  

Christ the Rock Ministries  

Phoenix Community Housing  

Community  

Detective Chief Inspector,  

Safeguarding  

Metropolitan Police  

Cabinet Member for School 

Performance and Children’s 

Services  

Local Authority  

 

 

Members are expected to:  

 speak with authority and take decisions on behalf of their 

agency 

 commit their agency on matters of policy, resourcing and 

practice 

 hold their own agency to account on how effectively they 

participate and implement the local arrangements 

 regularly attend meetings. Proxies may be sent in exceptional 

circumstances and with the agreement of the Chair 

The dates of all meetings will be circulated at least three months in advance 

with agendas and papers circulated no fewer than five working days in 

Page 166



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

advance. Minutes of all meetings will be prepared by the LSCP Business Unit 

team no later than ten working days following each meeting. 

 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMMUNICATION WITH OTHER GROUPS 

 

The Chairs of the Monitoring, Evaluation and service Improvement Group, the 

Learning from Practice Group, the Concern Hub and the  Schools’ Safeguarding 

Network are all members of the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Group and will act as a conduit between the groups.  

 

 

REVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

 

The Terms of Reference and membership will be reviewed annually unless 

significant changes at national or local level require earlier review.  

 

All agendas, papers and minutes will be available to the Independent 

Scrutineer who may attend any or all meetings.   

 

DIVERSITY 

 

Any work completed by the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Group will be done in a manner which: 

 

 Recognises that children and young people have a right to be safe and 

have their vulnerabilities recognised 

 Considers and addresses issues of diversity in respect of gender, 

gender identity, race, religion, age, ability, culture, ethnicity, education 

and sexual orientation 

 Supports the empowerment of children, young people and their 

families, as well as the wider community, to keep children and young 

people safe from abuse/neglect 

 

INVOLVEMENT/PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND PARENTS/CARERS 

Page 167



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

The voice of the child is a recurring core principle and our aim as a partnership 

is to work alongside families and children wherever possible. We believe they 

have valuable contributions to make.  For all of its work, the Lewisham 

Safeguarding Children Partnership will consider and ensure the views and 

experiences of children, young people and their parents/carers are collected 

and inform their work and the work of the Lewisham Safeguarding Children 

Partnership. 

 

INFORMATION SHARING 

 

Relevant information and data should be shared and reviewed as permitted 

within the stipulations of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 

Data Protection Act 2018, the Caldicott Principles, Working Together to 

Safeguard Children (DfE 2018) and Information sharing: advice for 

practitioners providing safeguarding services (DfE 2018). 

 

Date of Preparation:  September 2019 

 

Date for Next Review:  April 2020 
 

  

Page 168



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

 

 

MONITORING, EVALUATION AND SERVICE IMPROVEMENT GROUP  

(INCLUDING AUDIT) 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

PURPOSE OF GROUP 

 

The purpose of the Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement group is 

to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what is being achieved by LSCP 

partners individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare 

of children and share lessons from individual agency audits, multi-agency 

audits and performance data.  The Monitoring, Evaluation and Service 

Improvement group is responsible for providing the LSCP with assurance of 

sustained improvement in practice and better outcomes for children.  The 

group also determines an annual Audit Programme which also contributes to 

the assurance that services are working in accordance with statutory and 

good practice guidelines. 

 

SCOPE OF GROUP 

 

The function of this group is to: 

To develop an annual work plan that reflects the priorities of the LSCP, any 

issues identified through review of the data or audits, and any other issues 

that group members consider require multi agency review.   

To maintain an interagency dataset, monitor and analyse child protection 

and safeguarding indicators and performance measures across agencies, in 

order to: 

Appendix C 

Page 169



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 evaluate whether safeguarding practice and arrangements have led to 

improved outcomes for children and young people. 

 identify areas for service improvement to improve the welfare of 

children 

 to challenge and escalate information gaps 

To make recommendations to the LSCP in relation to aspects of 

performance, themes and issues that cause concern  

Within the commitment to the partnership to provide constructive scrutiny 

and professional challenge to agencies in relation to performance, emerging 

trends and service user feedback and improve outcomes for children and 

young people. 

To commission/conduct multi-agency audits to evaluate inter-agency 

safeguarding practice and understand the impact on outcomes for children 

and young people. To make recommendations for service improvement 

where necessary and to share learning.  

To receive an appropriate selection of single agency audits for checking on 

outcomes, safeguarding arrangements, all action plans under the LSCP remit 

including inspection learning reviews and child safeguarding practice 

reviews. 

To monitor the implementation of any actions identified to improve 

safeguarding arrangements, practice and inform the LSCP where progress 

has been made. 

To establish and continue to develop the performance management 

framework. 

Contribute to the annual report 

FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 

 

Page 170



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

The Group will meet each quarter with additional meetings to be arranged as 

needed. The Chair may at any time convene additional meetings of the Group 

to consider business that requires urgent attention.  

 

CHAIR AND MEMBERSHIP 

 

The Group will be chaired by a member of the Partnership and will have a 

defined membership.  

 

Nominated members are expected to attend all meetings with at least 75% 

attendance.  Where this is not possible, this must be communicated to the 

Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement Chair or LSCP Strategic 

Safeguarding Lead in advance, and reasons given. An agreed deputy must 

always attend in such an instance.  Attendance will be monitored, and where 

issues are identified, these will be taken up by the Chair with the agency.  

The matter will be escalated to the LSCP if not resolved.   

 

Members must be in a position to fully participate in the functions and 

activities of the Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement Group.  

 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMMUNICATION WITH OTHER GROUPS 

 

The Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement Group is accountable to 

the Executive Partnership, and will provide update reports on its activities to 

the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership. The Group will work closely 

with the Learning from Practice Group.  Reports from the work of the 

Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement Group will help to shape 

priorities and actions.  

 

Group members are accountable to their individual agency quality assurance 

processes.  

 

The group will devise and deliver an agreed work plan that reflects the specific 

statutory responsibilities relating to quality assurance as requested by the 

LSCP, the priorities of the LSCP Business Plan, plus the Learning and 

Improvement Framework. 

Page 171



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

The group is empowered by the LSCP to make decisions, where this is 

consistent with the achievement of the agreed work plan and LSCP priorities.  

 

Individual agencies have a collective statutory responsibility to action the 

business of the LSCP and an individual responsibility for meeting their own 

particular statutory duties and responsibilities.  

 

The group is responsible for the development of quarterly exception reports 

and annual detailed safeguarding data. 

 

REVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

 

The Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement Group will review the 

Terms of Reference annually unless significant changes at national or local 

level require earlier review.  

 

The network will make the dates of all meetings, papers and minutes 

available to the Independent Scrutineer who may attend any or all meetings.   

 

DIVERSITY 

 

Any work completed by the Monitoring, Evaluation and Service Improvement 

Group will be done in a manner which: 

 

 Recognises that children and young people have a right to be safe and 

have their vulnerabilities recognised 

 Considers and addresses issues of diversity in respect of gender, 

gender identity, race, religion, age, ability, culture, ethnicity, education 

and sexual orientation 

 Supports the empowerment of children, young people and their 

families, as well as the wider community, to keep children and young 

people safe from abuse/neglect 

 

INVOLVEMENT/PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND PARENTS/CARERS 

 

Page 172



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

The voice of the child is a recurring core principle and our aim as a partnership 

is to work alongside families and children wherever possible. We believe they 

have valuable contributions to make.  For all of its work, the Monitoring, 

Evaluation and Service Improvement Group will consider and ensure the views 

and experiences of children, young people and their parents/carers are 

collected and inform their work and the work of the Lewisham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership. 

 

 

 

INFORMATION SHARING 

 

All case details discussed in meetings or audits are to be viewed as 

confidential.  

Relevant information and data should be shared and reviewed as permitted 

within the stipulations of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 

Data Protection Act 2018, the Caldicott Principles, Working Together to 

Safeguard Children (DfE 2018) and Information sharing: advice for 

practitioners providing safeguarding services (DfE 2018). 

 

Date of Preparation:  September 2019 

 

Date for Next Review:  April 2020  

Page 173



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

 
 

LEWISHAM SCHOOLS’ SAFEGUARDING NETWORK 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 

PURPOSE OF NETWORK 

 

The purpose of the Schools’ Safeguarding Network is to communicate the need 

to safeguard and promote the welfare of children to all schools within the 

London Borough of Lewisham.  

 

The Schools’ Safeguarding Network will assist the Lewisham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership (LSCP) to perform its duties in safeguarding children by 

monitoring safeguarding activities across the clusters to improve outcomes 

for children. 

 

It provides a communication channel between all schools and the LSCP, for 

information sharing amongst the schools and a source of peer support in 

meeting safeguarding responsibilities.  

 

SCOPE OF NETWORK 

 

The function of this group is to: 

 

 Ensure improved outcomes for all children in Lewisham schools, 

especially staying safe. 

 Increase the understanding of safeguarding issues within schools. 

 Monitor and quality assure school child protection policies, 

procedures, caseload and designated safeguarding responsibilities. 

 Monitor provision and take up of training opportunities for all school 

staff, including safer recruitment, domestic violence, youth crime, 

sexual exploitation and FGM. 

Appendix D 

Page 174



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 

 

The Schools’ Safeguarding Network will meet on a half-termly basis i.e. 6 

times a year. 

 

CHAIR AND MEMBERSHIP  

 

The Schools’ Safeguarding Network is chaired by xxx.  

 

The Network has a fixed membership drawn from primary schools, secondary 

schools, sixth form colleges, early years providers and representatives of 

organisations that provide services to pupils in school. 

 

Suggested membership:  

 

 Director of Education (LA) 

 Safeguarding & Inclusion Manager (LA) 

 SEND rep (LA) 

 MASH rep (LA) 

 Early Years provider 

 Maintained Nursery School 

 Primary School 

 Primary School 

 Secondary School 

 Secondary School 

 Post 16 

 Post 16 

Page 175



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 Special School 

 

Members are expected to participate actively in the work of the group: 

 

 Participate in the work of the group and be part of a minimum of one 

sub group at any one time (if required.) 

 Scrutinise and challenge information received 

 Take responsibility for ensuring that any actions agreed by the 

Partnership are effectively carried out within their organisation 

 Attend a minimum of 66% of meetings throughout the year (4 out of 6 

meetings) 

 

 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMMUNICATION WITH OTHER GROUPS 

 

The Schools’ Safeguarding Network is accountable to the Executive 

Partnership and will provide update reports on the activity of the network to 

the Development, Monitoring and Challenge Partnership.  The work of the 

Schools’ Safeguarding Network will inform, and be informed, by the work of 

the other partnership subgroups.  

 

 

 

REVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

 

The Schools’ Safeguarding Network will review the Terms of Reference 

annually unless significant changes at national or local level require earlier 

review.  

 

The network will make the dates of all meetings, papers and minutes 

available to the Independent Scrutineer who may attend any or all meetings.   

 

DIVERSITY 

 

Page 176



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

Any work completed by the Schools’ Safeguarding Network will be done in a 

manner which: 

 

 Recognises that children and young people have a right to be safe and 

have their vulnerabilities recognised 

 Considers and addresses issues of diversity in respect of gender, 

gender identity, race, religion, age, ability, culture, ethnicity, education 

and sexual orientation 

 Supports the empowerment of children, young people and their 

families, as well as the wider community, to keep children and young 

people safe from abuse/neglect 

 

INVOLVEMENT/PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND PARENT/CARERS 

 

The voice of the child is a recurring core principle and our aim as a 

partnership is to work alongside families and children wherever possible. 

While there will be no direct involvement of children, young people or 

parents/carers on the Schools’ Safeguarding Network due to the nature of 

the work; the Network will consider and address how the views and 

experiences of children, young people and their parents/carers can inform 

their work and the work of the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

  

INFORMATION SHARING 

Relevant information and data should be shared and reviewed as permitted 

within the stipulations of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 

Data Protection Act 2018, the Caldicott Principles, Working Together to 

Safeguard Children (DfE 2018) and Information sharing: advice for 

practitioners providing safeguarding services (DfE 2018). 

 

Date of Preparation:  September 2019 

Date for Next Review:  September 2020 

Page 177



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

  

Page 178



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

 

 

 

LEARNING FROM PRACTICE GROUP 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

PURPOSE OF GROUP 

The Learning from Practice Group is part of the Lewisham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership’s commitment to a dynamic and self-improving system 

where excellent practice is the norm.   

It has responsibility for identifying and reviewing incidents that raise issues 

of improvements to practice and commissioning and publishing local child 

safeguarding practice reviews.  It has a key role to play in improving 

collective knowledge about where there is good practice and also where 

there are systemic issues and how policy and practice might change to 

address them.   

SCOPE OF GROUP 

The function of this group is to: 

 Consider and review new serious incident referrals, determine next 

steps, oversee all open serious child safeguarding incident cases and 

their corresponding action plans 

 Make recommendations to the safeguarding partners on whether the 

criteria for conducting a local (or national) child safeguarding practice 

review (formerly known as Serious Case Reviews) are met in 

accordance with Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 or 

Appendix E 

Page 179



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

whether an alternative learning method (e.g. learning review, single 

agency review, single or multi agency audit) is more appropriate.  

 Make recommendations for multi-agency learning events based on the 

findings arising from case reviews 

 Ensure family participation in reviews is considered and supported 

from onset of review 

 Consider examples of good practice, and ensure this is also shared 

across all partners  

 Contribute to the Annual Report  

 

FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 

The Learning from Practice Group will have scheduled meetings four times a 

year to consider cases that do not meet the threshold for serious 

safeguarding concerns but which might raise issues of importance to the 

area that indicate good practice, poor practice, near misses or emerging 

themes.  Final reports from previous activities would be presented at these 

meetings and existing action plans monitored.  

The group will also act as the nucleus for any Rapid Reviews undertaken as a 

result of a serious safeguarding incident that has been reported to the 

national Panel.  Under these circumstances, the group will meet whenever 

required and there is an expectation that members will prioritise attendance 

at Rapid Review meetings as well as ensure that their agency completes the 

Initial Scoping and Information Sharing Form promptly.  

CHAIR AND MEMBERSHIP  

The Learning from Practice Group will be chaired by the Strategic 

Safeguarding Lead who will be supported by the Business Unit.  

Page 180



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

The group has a fixed core membership drawn from organisations across the 

safeguarding partnership with the flexibility to co-opt other relevant 

professionals to discuss certain cases as and when appropriate.    

Members are expected participate actively in the work of the group and take 

responsibility for ensuring that any actions are effectively carried out by their 

organisation.   

They are expected to act as champions to ensure engagement with front line 

practitioners and that learning has relevance for practice and practitioners. 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMMUNICATION WITH OTHER GROUPS  

The Learning from Practice Group is accountable to the Partnership 

Executive, and will provide update reports on the activities of the group to 

the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership. These updates will include 

evidence of how learning is being disseminated, monitored and reviewed in 

relation to impact on practice.  Activities and reports from the Learning from 

Practice Group will inform the work of the Monitoring, Evaluation and Service 

Improvement Group and help to shape priorities.   

REVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

The Learning from Practice Group will review the Terms of Reference 

annually unless significant changes at a local or national level require earlier 

review. The group will make the dates of all meetings, papers and minutes 

available to the Independent Scrutineer who may attend any or all meetings.   

 

DIVERSITY  

Any work completed by the Learning from Practice group will be done in a 

manner which:  

 Recognises that children and young people have a right to be safe and 

have their vulnerabilities recognised 

Page 181



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 Considers and addresses issues of diversity in respect of gender, 

gender identity, race, religion, age, ability, culture, ethnicity, education 

and sexual orientation 

 Supports empowerment of children, young people and their families as 

well as the wider community to keep children and young people safe 

from abuse/neglect 

 

INVOLVEMENT/PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND PARENTS/CARERS 

The voice of the child is a recurring core principle and our aim as a partnership 

is to work alongside families and children wherever possible. We believe they 

have valuable contributions to make. Learning events and action plans 

associated with informal learning reviews, multi-agency audits, and child 

safeguarding practice reviews therefore need to include opportunity for family 

and young people participation where appropriate.  

 

INFORMATION SHARING 

In order to ensure a coordinated response that fully addresses all concerns 

surrounding serious incidents, all relevant data should be shared and 

reviewed as permitted within the stipulations of the General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018, the Caldicott Principles, 

Working Together to Safeguard Children (DfE, 2018) and Information 

sharing: advice for practitioners providing safeguarding services (DfE, 2018).   

 

Date of Preparation:    September 2019  

Date for next review:  April 2020 

  

Page 182



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

 

 
Background: 
The Borough developed a forward thinking model in 2016 which did not focus on ‘labels’ of types of 
risks such as youth offender/ CSE;  but took an approach which recognised the drivers and multiple 
complex issues that affect children and young people as well as focussing on preventative aspects and 
earlier support.  
Then Missing, Exploited and Trafficked strategy was developed alongside a Serious Youth Violence 
Prevention Panel.    
 
The move to the Concern Hub came from the current structures being reviewed taking into account a 
number of changes in our understanding and focus on a public health / whole systems approach to 
violence as well as rationalising multi agency actions for exploited children 
 
The Concern Hub model works with children and young people up to the age of 25 primarily, includes 
missing, Child sexual exploitation, child exploitation, harmful sexual behaviour, county lines, serious 
youth violence and gangs.   
 
Governance:  
Weekly Concern Hub multi-agency case discussions to risk assess/ safety plan/ agreed actions/ lead 
agency agreed 
Chair – DI police and Team Manager Violence Reduction Team (CSC TBC)  
These meetings will be themed to assist with typologies if required ie CSE/ county lines/ HSB etc  
These meetings will be minuted by police and notes added to CRIS and CRIMINT  
If escalation is required this must be done through existing structures within the partnership and for 
joint agreement on next steps primarily decided between Police/ Public protection and safety/ 
Children’s social care. 
 
Quarterly strategic Concern Hub board  
Chair jointly SI police/ AD Public Protection (AD CSC TBC)  
These meetings will receive information on (this is not exhaustive and will change as required):  

- analysis of the activity of the hub  
- themes/ risks/ barriers/  
- assurances about the data management and sharing  
- performance framework update  
- report back on multi-agency audits  

 
Safer Lewisham Partnership / LSCB/ LSAB  

Concern Hub strategic Board 

Report Title Terms of reference  

Report Author Geeta Subramaniam –Mooney - Public Protection and Safety Lewisham 

Council  

Andy Furphy – SI Operations and crime - SE BCU police command  

Lucie Hayes – Director children’s social care  

Date July 19 

Appendix F 

Page 183



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

These boards will receive information and updates from the chairs of the Strategic Board to ensure all 
partners are sighted on the work/ helps inform the learning about child exploitation in Lewisham, and 
assist with unblocking any barriers.  
This work will feed into the corporate Public health Approach to Violence.  
Membership: 
Criteria for membership: 
Having strategic responsibility within their organisation or agency for child exploitation being able to 
commit resources to address identified areas in line with the needs of the client group.  
 
Responsibility of members: 

 To attend each Concern hub strategic Board meeting or provide a suitable agreed substitute 
when unable to attend. 

 Commit to their agency addressing the key objectives of this group as above and delivery of 
the associated action plan. 

 Complete actions as required within agreed timeframes. 

 Contribute to developing a local problem profile and addressing issues / themes/ barriers that 
arise. 

 To disseminate learning within each agency.  
 
Membership: 

 Director of Public protection and Safety, Lewisham Council (Joint Chair) 

 Director Children’s Social Care, Lewisham Council (Joint Chair) 

 SI Operations and crime - SE BCU police command (Joint Chair) 

 Director of Education  

 Children’s Joint Commissioning, Lewisham Council 

 Detective Chief Inspector, Ops , Metropolitan Police  

 Head of Crime, Enforcement & Regulation Lewisham Council 

 Head of Youth Justice Services  

 Safe space manager  

 Designated Nurse Safeguarding and LAC, Lewisham CCG 

 Designated Headteacher lead secondary -  

 Service manager access and inclusion and participation   

 Trust lead named nurse safeguarding –CYP LGT 

 CAMHS 

 ACO London CRC  

 ACO London NPS  

 Director Adult social care  
 
Minutes 
LSCB Administrator 
 
Structure: 

 The concern hub strategic group will report to the SLP / Newly formed Children’s Partnership 
board (post LSCB) and the LSAB  

 The sub group will contribute to the SLP annual report and LSCB Annual Report. 

 Board meetings will occur quarterly  

 Board meetings will last approximately 2 hours. 

 Papers, previous minutes and Agenda will be circulated at least 1 week prior to the Board. 

Page 184



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 
Concern Hub: 
The focus of the change is:  

 Provide a preventative offer of support for the client and family with earlier identification of 
risk 

 To provide a multi-agency forum to jointly risk assess/ safety plan and agreed joint actions 
and lead agency  

 To use a contextual safeguarding approach to make short/ medium and longer term change 

 To join up resources across a cohort to avoid duplication  
 
The focus will remain on: 

 the under 25 year olds  
 use the violence Reduction hub model (appendix A) as a basis 
 include the Missing, Exploited and Trafficked cases 
  include the current Serious Youth Violence cohort of Red, Amber 
 include Habitual Knife Crime subjects 
 include the green cases from the Met police Gangs Matrix 

 
A Notification can be made from any agency as is currently the case to the police who will triage and 
utilise the Concern hub expertise and structures to risk assess, safety plan and agree joint actions.  
The current Referral form being used of MET and Youth violence prevention panel will continue to be 
used. 
The Concern Hub will meet weekly to discuss cases and will record all minutes on Cris and Crimint as 
well as all actions subsequently taken by officers on Merlin. The weekly meetings will be chaired by a 
DI police and Team Manager Violence reduction Team (CSC to be agreed). 
Where a case is being discussed at MAPPA, CRISP, Strategy group S47 these meetings actions take 
primacy and will be reported to the Concern hub for information.  
 
The cases being discussed as a priority each week includes: 

 those who have been missing for 7 days in the preceding week / repeat missing  
 is a victim of a serious incident in the preceding week  
 Is a possible suspect of a serious incident in the preceding week  
 Any intelligence of harm related behaviour  

 
The following flow chart outlines the processes and includes details of an exit criteria.   
 
Analysis  
There will be quarterly analysis of the activity of the Concern Hub  
This at a minimum will include:  

 demographics of individuals (gender, age and ethnicity); 
 nature and extent of individual partners agencies activity  
 Nature and extent of non-enforcement interventions (including needs, referrals, uptake and 

outcomes). 
 Other tools used such as CBO/ NRM/ see link for full list of options  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/794554/6.5120_Child_exploitation_disruption_toolkit.pdf   
 
Data sharing and reviewing: 

Page 185

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/794554/6.5120_Child_exploitation_disruption_toolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/794554/6.5120_Child_exploitation_disruption_toolkit.pdf


 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

All data will be held on the BOX and identified individuals will be permitted to access this from all 
partner agencies.   
There is a detailed DPIA (attached) which outlines that the Met Police are solely responsible for the 
security of the environment The security of the Cloud environment is robust with suitable technical 
measures in place with Lewisham Councils Information Governance team happy with the assurances. 
 
The following will need to be recorded on the Terms of Reference and governance structures have 
assurances at each meeting that these things are in place.  A Data Sharing Agreement will be in place 
to facilitate and provide assurances about data sharing.  The Strategic Board will need to receive 
information about the following to get this assurance. 
 

 that the right people are being reviewed at the Concern Hub  
 that people are added and removed in a standardised, evidence-based manner; 
 that they can be removed and that the labels applied  will not negatively affect them; 
 that lists are refreshed regularly so that individuals don’t stay on any longer than necessary; 
 that the guidance on the use of social media for intelligence purposes is updated; and 
 That the data protection principles and legislation are fully applied. 

 
 ensure there is no discriminatory practice; 
 ensure that risks around data breaches are properly assessed and mitigated; 
 who the information is shared with outside of the MPS; 
 ensuring that any sharing of personal information is necessary and proportionate 

 
 regular multi-agency borough audits  

 
Outcomes from the concern hub:  
These will need to be reviewed quarterly but initially the performance framework should include:  
Borough wide:  

 Reduction In Violence with Injury  

 Reduction In Knife crime  

 Reduction in violence with injury knife crime  
 
For those on the cohort of the Concern Hub: 

 Positive change in involvement in education, training or employment  

 Stable accommodation  

 Progress regarding wellbeing  
 

Safeguarding outcomes: 

 Understand and better co-ordinate the risks of exploitation (link to Rescue and Response) 

 Mapping peers and creating plans that address safeguarding needs including siblings and 
parents 

 Focus on perpetrators to prevent repeated victimisation and break cycle of exploitation 

 Trauma-informed and strength based approaches to reduce fear, increase hub staff wellbeing 
and capacity to manage stress and Vicarious Trauma. 

 
Frequency of meetings: 
The Concern Hub strategic Board will take place quarterly, with a minimum of four meetings per year.  
More meetings can be requested by the chair as and when is needed. 
 

Page 186



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

Review:  These Terms of Reference will be reviewed by the sub group and Board in March 19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Page 187



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 

 

Appendix F 

 

 

Brief for Independent Scrutiny – Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership 

(LSCP)  

Purpose  

The purpose of this brief is to outline the requirements of the independent 

scrutiny function for the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership.  

Background  

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 replaced Local Safeguarding Children 

Boards (LSCBs) with a new statutory framework requiring clinical 

commissioning groups, police and local authorities to determine local 

arrangements for the protection and safeguarding of children in their area. 

The legislation stipulates that arrangements must include scrutiny of 

effectiveness. 

The role of independent scrutiny 

Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018) gives further guidance and 

states that scrutiny should be: 

 Objective 

 Act as a constructive critical friend 

 Promote reflection to drive continuous improvement 

In Lewisham, the role is designed to provide critical challenge to: 

 Provide assurance in judging the effectiveness of services to protect 

children 

Page 188



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

 Assist where there is a disagreement between agencies 

 Support the Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership to be a 

learning system 

 Independent scrutiny will be provided by a single individual (or 

designated substitutes) with a view to generating learning for system 

improvements. 

The independent Scrutineer will be required to provide assurance in judging 

the effectiveness of multi-agency arrangements to safeguard and promote 

the welfare of all children in Lewisham, including arrangements to identify 

and review serious child safeguarding cases. 

 

They should consider how effectively the arrangements are working for 

children and families as well as practitioners and how well the safeguarding 

partners are providing strong leadership.  

In order to make these judgements, the Scrutineer will be invited to attend 

all Executive and Partnership meetings.  In addition, the Scrutineer will 

determine which activities they think are appropriate or necessary to attend 

in order assure themselves of the quality of the arrangements and will 

therefore have the option to attend any subgroup meeting, task finish group 

meeting, audit activity, quality assurance or learning and development 

activity organised by the LSCP.  They will have access to any papers from 

those meetings or activities.  

The Scrutineer will ensure that hearing and learning from the voice of the 

child and service users is at the heart of LSCP activities and they can speak 

with and receive direct feedback from children, young people and families to 

test the interconnectedness between performance, practice and the voice of 

the child, young person and family. 

Page 189



 

 

This document in currently in DRAFT and Terms of Reference are to be reviewed and revised 

following the first Partnership Meeting 2nd September 2019.  

 

This should give the Scrutineer the opportunity to assess how well 

organisations come together to cooperate with one another to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children and to hold each other to account for 

effective safeguarding and to allow the Scrutineer sufficient evidence to 

judge: 

Page 190



1 

 

 

  
 

  

LEARNING FROM 

GOOD PRACTICE, 

NEAR MISSES AND 

SERIOUS 

SAFEGUARDING 

INCIDENTS   

Page 191



2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership would like to express its thanks to the 

West Midlands Region which acted as an Early Adopter for Child Safeguarding Practice 

Reviews and generously shared its learning and the templates which form the basis for this 

document.  

 

  

Page 192



3 

 

 

Contents 

 

Introduction         3 

Learning from ‘No Harm’ Incidents and Good Practice   4 

Rationale  

What cases should be referred 

How to refer  

What happens next  

 

Learning from Serious Safeguarding Incidents     5 

What is a Serious Safeguarding Incident 

How to make a referral about a Serious Safeguarding Incident 

The Rapid Review  

 

Appendices: 

i. Referral of a Serious Safeguarding Incident Form   12 

ii. Sample letter to accompany Initial Scoping and                    18 

Information Sharing Form for a Rapid Review 

iii. Initial Scoping and Information Sharing Form for a               19 

Rapid Review 

iv. Report of Rapid Review Discussions and                             25 

Recommendations for submission to the national Child             

Safeguarding Review Panel 

v. Sample letter to national Child Safeguarding Review             32    

Panel to accompany Report of Rapid Review                        

Decisions and Recommendations 

vi. Referral for Practice Learning Form      

33 

  

Page 193



4 

 

Introduction  

The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership is committed to supporting a 

mutual and reflective learning culture within and across all partners.  

We want to use this culture to bring about changes that will lead to an improved 

practice system for children and families and a reduction in child abuse and neglect. 

We know that because of the nature of child abuse, children may die or be seriously 

harmed even when practice is excellent and, in some cases, despite the excellent 

work being done by front line staff.  We recognise that there is always room for 

learning and improvement and that there are situations where errors or failings 

within the system, or by individuals, may contribute to challenges in safeguarding 

children.  

Much of our learning comes from cases. Historically this learning and our resources 

have been focused on safeguarding incidents that required formal statutory reviews.  

While we will continue to learn from these incidents, we will use our new freedom as 

a partnership to ensure that the way we capture the learning is proportionate and 

meaningful.  This means that we may recommend a review by the national Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review Panel, commission a local child safeguarding practice 

review for publication, undertake a local multi or single agency learning review or 

consider whether a single or multi agency audit might provide the most useful 

learning.   

We want to realign to focus more on capturing learning from ‘no harm’ incidents as 

well as good practice which is equally valuable, and we will disseminate the findings 

a way that is most likely to bring about improvement in practice. Any practitioner, 

with agreement from their safeguarding lead, can refer things to the Learning from 

Practice Group that do not meet the threshold for a serious safeguarding incident 

but which they believe are important for learning.  

Throughout all our work, we will seek to enable an evidence-based process of 

learning that will shape and positively transform services in order to promote an 

effective safeguarding culture. 

The following pages detail the systems we have put in place to learn from cases. Our 

approach is both challenging and supportive. We want to learn from what works, as 

well as look openly and forensically when things do not work as well as they should. 

When we identify weaknesses, our focus will be on evidence, analysis and system 

improvement; not who did or didn’t do what and when.  

Page 194



5 

 

  

Page 195



6 

 

Learning from Good Practice and Near Misses 

 

RATIONALE 

The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership recognises that if we focus learning 

only on serious safeguarding incidents where a child has died or been seriously harmed 

and abuse is known or suspected, we risk limiting or distorting our understanding of 

whole system functioning.  

We know that there are sometimes ‘near misses’, concerns about new safeguarding 

challenges, feedback from children and families and evidence of good practice that 

need to be shared and analysed to improve the way we work.  Often the learning from 

these cases is held in supervision or within teams, and the wider partnership does not 

benefit from the knowledge.  

The Learning from Practice Group encourages all practitioners to report these for 

consideration for learning and dissemination.  

WHAT SHOULD BE REFERRED   

We know that the everyday nature of these occurrences sometimes makes them hard 

to identify and risk can often be overlooked or unnoticed.   

In some cases, something could have gone wrong, but it has been prevented. In 

others, something did go wrong but no serious harm was caused.  Occasionally a 

practitioner may be concerned about how services worked together to ensure a 

child’s welfare or safety.  

There will be times when disputes are resolved through the Escalation Process, but it 

is thought that there may be wider learning about how we deal with issues such as 

cognitive bias, professional hierarchies, accountability and interagency practice and 

that the partnership will benefit from a wider discussion.  

HOW TO REFER    

Practitioners should discuss their concerns with their Safeguarding Lead and 

complete the REFERRAL FOR PRACTICE LEARNING FORM (Appendix vi) and send it to 

safeguardingboard@lewisham.gov.uk.   

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT  

Page 196



7 

 

Upon receipt, the referral will be passed to the Chair of the Learning From Practice 

Group. The referrals will normally be taken to the next scheduled Learning From 

Practice meeting where the group will determine how learning can best be captured 

and used to improve practice.   

This could include: 

 Undertaking a review of the specific case 

 Grouping referrals to identify issues for exploration through a thematic 

learning review or single or multi agency audits 

 Anonymising for use in training  

 Taking to the TriBorough Learning from Practice Group for wider learning  

Whatever decision is made, the referrer will be informed.  

  

Page 197



8 

 

 

Learning from Serious Safeguarding Incidents  

WHAT IS A SERIOUS SAFEGUARDING INCIDENT?   

Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2018 defines a serious child 

safeguarding incident as one in which: 

 The abuse or neglect of a child is known or suspected 

       AND 

 The child has died or been seriously harmed  

Serious harm includes (but is not limited to) serious and/or long-term impairment of 

a child’s mental health or intellectual, emotional, social or behavioural development.  

In Lewisham, we have extended the definition of a Serious Safeguarding Incident to 

include cases where: 

 The child has died or been seriously harmed 

AND 

 There are extra familial safeguarding factors such as violence, exploitation or 

criminality in the school, community or peer network OR concerns about how 

relevant agencies in the Partnership have worked together to safeguard the 

child 

 

HOW TO MAKE A REFERRAL ABOUT A SERIOUS SAFEGUARDING INCIDENT 

In Lewisham, the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is the designated single 

point of contact for serious safeguarding concerns, including those where a child has 

died or been seriously injured and abuse or neglect is suspected.  

If a practitioner in any agency believes that a child has suffered significant harm due 

to abuse and neglect they should make a referral to the MASH as soon as possible 

after the serious incident occurs.  

In a small minority of these cases, these will be child deaths. Although it is important 

to recognise that the vast majority of child deaths have medical or public health 

consequences,  it is estimated that 4% relate to safeguarding.  Whenever the death 

of a child is sudden with no apparent cause, a Joint Agency Response in the hospital 

Page 198



9 

 

will look at the circumstances surrounding the death. If, after investigation, they have 

cause to believe that abuse is known or suspected they should inform the MASH.  

If the threshold for a Serious Safeguarding Incident has been reached, practitioners 

should inform the MASH using the REFERRAL OF A SERIOUS INCIDENT FORM (Appendix i). 

The MASH is responsible for informing the Strategic Lead of the Safeguarding 

Children Partnership.  

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT  

The Strategic Partnership Lead will alert the lead representatives of the three 

safeguarding partners and the Learning from Practice Chair within one working day 

upon receipt of any referral that appears to meet the criteria.  

As soon as possible, but in no more than five working days, the Strategic 

Safeguarding Lead should make a decision about whether they believe the criteria 

have or have not been met and should make a recommendation to the lead 

representatives of the safeguarding partners. The decision about whether the criteria 

have been met rests with the three safeguarding partners. If there is disagreement 

about the outcome, the scrutineer can be asked to mediate.  

If the criteria have been met, the Strategic Safeguarding Lead should inform the local 

authority who have statutory responsibility for making the formal notification to the 

national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel (national Panel). 

Once a decision has been made to notify the national Panel, the Strategic 

Safeguarding Lead who will initiate a Rapid Review.  

If the case does not meet the threshold for referral to the national Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review Panel, it will either be taken to the next scheduled 

meeting of the Learning from Practice Group or, if requested by the lead 

representatives for the safeguarding partners and/or the recommendation of the 

Chair of the Learning From Practice Group, a special meeting will be organised.  

  

Page 199



10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

As soon as 

possible after 

becoming aware 

Within 1 

working day of 

notification  

As soon as 

possible, but in 

no more than 4 

working days   

Strategic Safeguarding Lead 

decides whether ad hoc 

meeting of LfP group is 

required or hold until next 

meeting. Referrer informed 

No 

ASAP but within 

no more than     

5 working days   

Yes 

Inform MASH using referral of a Serious 

Incident Form (Appendix i)  

MASH informs Strategic Safeguarding 

Lead who immediately notifies 

Safeguarding Partners 

Strategic Safeguarding Lead considers 

information provided and makes 

recommendation about next steps to 

Lead Safeguarding Partners  

Is the threshold for 

referral to national 

Panel met? 

Inform referrer, Pass to LA who refer to 

national Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review Panel and trigger Rapid Review 

Process   

Child dies or has been seriously injured 

AND abuse is known or suspected OR there 

are extra familial safeguarding concerns OR 

there are concerns about the way relevant 

agencies have worked together 

Page 200



11 

 

 

THE RAPID REVIEW    

Once it is known that a case is being referred to the national Child Safeguarding 

Practice Review Panel, the safeguarding partners are required to undertake a Rapid 

Review of the case.  

The Rapid Review must be completed within the timescales outlined in guidance 

from the national Panel (currently 15 working days of becoming aware of the 

incident).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notification made to national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel  

 

Letter (Appendix iii) and Initial Scoping and Information Sharing Form (Appendix iv)            

sent to all involved agencies 

Date set for Rapid Review Meeting 

Agencies complete and return Initial Scoping and Information Sharing Form 

(Appendix iv)    All documentation shared with those attending the Rapid Review 

meeting.  

Rapid Review meeting held to: 

 Review the facts about the case presented in the documentation 

 Agree any immediate action 

 Consider the case against the criteria for child safeguarding practice 

reviews 

 Decide whether a practice review or other learning review should take 

place 

 Complete the Report of Rapid Review Discussions and Decision Making 

Report of Rapid Review Discussions and Decision Making (Appendix v) prepared 

and presented to lead representatives of safeguarding partners for approval. 

Report and letter sent to national Panel. 

Agencies are informed of the outcome of the Rapid Review which can be any one 

of the following: 

national Child Safeguarding Practice Review, local Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review, alternative Learning Review. Consideration of DHR, SAR, MAPPA SFO, 

Single agency review, Multi Agency Audit, Single Agency Audit, No Further Action, 

Learning that can be acted upon,  Other  

Within 12 and 

15 working 

days  

 

Within 9 and 

11 working 

days  

Within 2 

working days  

Within 3 to 9 

working days  

Normally within 

15 working days 

of receiving  

Rapid Review 

Report  

National Child Safeguarding Practice Panel responds to say whether they concur 

with recommendation. The national Panel does not have the power to require the 

safeguarding partners to undertake a local child safeguarding practice review.  Page 201



12 

 

 

 

 

Initial Scoping, Information Sharing and the Securing of Records 

All agencies who have had involvement with the subject child or family will be 

required to contribute to a Rapid Review. An initial scoping of agencies’ intervention 

will need to be completed and other relevant information will need to be gathered 

quickly. To support this, the INITIAL SCOPING AND INFORMATION SHARING FORM FOR A RAPID 

REVIEW (Appendix iii) should be used.  

The purpose of initial scoping and information sharing is to gather the basic facts 

about the case, including determining the extent of agency involvement with the 

child and family. More detailed information will be sought if the Rapid Review 

concludes the case has the potential to identify national or local learning and a 

decision is made to progress to a formal Child Safeguarding Practice Review or 

alternative Learning Review. 

The INITIAL SCOPING AND INFORMATION SHARING FORM FOR A RAPID REVIEW (Appendix iii) 

should be sent out to all relevant agencies within 2 working days of the notification 

to the national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel, along with an 

accompanying letter that briefly outlines the referral and explains the purpose of this 

initial scoping (Appendix ii)  and an invitation for the Rapid Review meeting which 

should be held between 9 and 11 days following the referral.   

Agencies should prioritise completion of the form and return it within 5 working 

days. 

There is an expectation that all agencies will ensure that a senior representative who 

has not had direct involvement in the case will be present at the Rapid Review 

meeting.  

All agencies should also secure all records/files in relation to the case, ensuring they 

are removed to a secure place where they are not accessible to agency personnel 

other than through a nominated representative. (This request is included in the 

template letter – Appendix ii). Where access to the records is required for ongoing 

case work, a copy should be made and secured. 

Documentation  

Page 202



13 

 

The following documents should be shared with all those attending the Rapid Review 

meeting: 

 Minutes of a Joint Agency Response meeting (if one has been held)  

 the completed Referral of a Serious Incident Form that initiated the process  

 the Local Authority Serious Incident Notification to Ofsted, DfE and the 

national Panel in relation to the incident (if completed) 

 copies of the completed Initial Scoping and Information Sharing Forms from 

involved agencies.  

Wherever possible the documentation will be shared with participants in advance of 

the meeting. However, it is recognised that it may on occasion be necessary to share 

documentation at the meeting. 

The Rapid Review Meeting 

The meeting should include representatives from each of the safeguarding partners 

and any other relevant individuals. It will only be quorate if at least one 

representative is present from each of the safeguarding partners (the CCG, Police and 

Local Authority).  

The Rapid Review meeting should: 

 review the facts about the case as presented in the documentation;  

 discuss whether there is any immediate action needed to ensure children’s 

safety and share any learning appropriately; 

 consider the potential for identifying improvements to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children; 

 decide whether or not to undertake a Child Safeguarding Practice Review. If 

the decision is not to proceed with a formal Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review, the Group will consider whether an alternative form of learning review 

is appropriate. In some cases, the rapid review process may identify key local 

learning that can be quickly acted upon, removing the need for further review.  

 

THE REPORT OF THE RAPID REVIEW DECISION AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SUBMISSION TO THE 

NATIONAL CHILD SAFEGUARDING REVIEW PANEL (Appendix v) should be completed in 

outline form and the outcome agreed at this meeting. Where there is not unanimous 

agreement about the recommended outcome, this must be clearly recorded and 

shared with the lead representatives for the three safeguarding partners.  

Page 203



14 

 

Sharing the Outcome of the Rapid Review 

Within 2 working days of the Rapid Review meeting, the lead representatives for the 

three safeguarding partners should approve the recommendations of the Rapid 

Review Meeting. If there is disagreement about the outcome, the scrutineer can be 

asked to mediate.  

The completed report of RAPID REVIEW DECISION AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SUBMISSION 

TO THE NATIONAL CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL together with a covering 

letter (Appendices iv and v) to the national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. 

(Mailbox.NationalReviewPanel@education.gov.uk)  

Individual agencies are responsible for notifying their own inspectorate bodies as 

required. 

 

Next Steps  

The Learning from Practice  Group will take responsibility for ensuring that any 

recommended reviews or audits are undertaken, that all actions are completed and 

identifying where and how practice has improved as a result of this activity.  

If a local Child Safeguarding Practice Review or Learning Review is recommended, 

the Learning From Practice group will assume responsibility for the following 

activities under the direction of the lead safeguarding representatives: 

 Preparing the terms of reference including proposed methodology  

 Commissioning an Independent Chair and any Independent Reviewer 

 Ensuring that the work is completed within six months  

 Publishing any completed reviews 

  

Page 204



15 

 

 

REFERRAL OF A SERIOUS INCIDENT FORM   

 

Serious child safeguarding cases are those in which:  

 the child has died or been seriously harmed and  

 abuse or neglect of a child is known or suspected or  

there are extra familial safeguarding factors such as violence, exploitation or criminality 

in the schools, community or peer network.  

Serious harm includes (but is not limited to) serious and/or long-term impairment of a child’s mental 

health or intellectual, emotional, social or behavioural development. It should also cover impairment of 

physical health1.  

Any individual or organisation working with children should inform the relevant safeguarding 

partners2  of any incident they think should be considered for a child safeguarding practice 

review, or other type of learning review, using this form.  

Professionals should discuss the case with their agency designated safeguarding lead/officer to help 

formulate the rationale. If you need advice completing this form please contact us: our phone and email 

address are included at the end of this form. A referral should be made as soon as possible after the 

serious incident occurs.  

 

Background Information 

 

Name of Child:  

 

Date of Referral: 

 

 

Agency Referral 

 

Name AGENCY & 

DESIGNATION/TITLE 

CONTACT DETAILS – Address, 

telephone number and e-mail address 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                                 

1 Child perpetrators may also be the subject of a review, if the definition of ‘serious child safeguarding 
case’ is met. 

2 The formal safeguarding partners are the CCG, police and the local authority. Details of where to send 
this form are included at the end of the form. 

Appendix i 

Page 205



16 

 

 

Page 206



17 

 

Please give the details of the designated safeguarding lead/officer with whom you have discussed 

the case. 

 

Name AGENCY & DESIGNATION/TITLE CONTACT DETAILS – 

Address, telephone number 

and e-mail address 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Section 1: Brief overview of child and family composition 

 

1.1 Child’s Details 

 

Name of Child  

Date of Birth  

Home address  

Gender  

Ethnic Origin  

Faith/Religion   

Disability  

Is the child/young person looked after?  

Is the child/young person subject to a 

child protection plan or has been 

previously? (If so when, for what and for 

how long?) 

 

Is the child/young person open to 

Children’s Social Care or a Children & 

Families Practice (if so, who is the lead 

practitioner)? 

 

Page 207



18 

 

Date of Death or Serious Incident 

(please specific which) 

 

Address of location of incident  

Carer at time of incident  

Is this case known to be the subject of a 

criminal investigation? (If so, who is the 

lead investigator?) 

 

Is this case known to be the subject of a 

Coroner’s Inquiry? (If so, who is the key 

contact?) 

 

Are there any adult safeguarding 

concerns and have these been shared 

via completing an Adult referral form? 

(If so, who is the key contact? 

 

 

1.2 Details of Family Members and any Significant Others 

Name and Address Relationship to Child 
Date of 

Birth 

Legal 

Status 

Ethnic 

Origin 

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

What action has been undertaken to safeguard and protect any siblings of the child who is the 

subject of this referral? 

 

 

 

 

Page 208



19 

 

 

 

1.3 Other agencies known to be involved 

 

Agency Contact Details: Address, 

Telephone and E-mail 

Reason for involvement 

(include whether current or 

not) 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

Section 2: Case Background 

 

PLEASE NOTE: The information you provide will be used to help establish whether the case meets the 

criteria for a Child Safeguarding Practice Review or other type of learning review.  

 

Please provide a brief outline of the child and family circumstances and the incident that 

triggered this referral: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 209



20 

 

Please outline why you are making this referral: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please use the chronology table below to outline any events around the time of the incident. 

 

PLEASE NOTE: This should only include key events and DOES NOT need to be a detailed chronology at 

this stage. 

 
 

Date and Time Event 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 210



21 

 

 

 
 

Please add any additional information you think may be relevant and may assist decision-

making: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE: THE ABOVE SHOULD FOLLOW A DISCUSSION WITH A NOMINATED MANAGER OR 

SAFEGUARDING ADVISOR IN YOUR AGENCY. 

Section 3: Advice and Submission of this Form 

This form should be submitted to:  

Lewisham MASH  

safeguardingboard@lewisham.gov.uk  

 

A review of your referral will be undertaken and you will be informed of the outcome. 

  

Page 211



22 

 

 

LETTER TO ACCOMPANY INITIAL SCOPING AND INFORMATION SHARING FORM 

FOR A RAPID REVIEW 

 

Dear Named Representative of Agency , 

 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review – Initial Scoping and Information Sharing  

We have received notification of a serious incident which may meet the criteria for a child 

safeguarding practice review. We will, therefore, be holding a Rapid Review to consider the 

case.  

To inform the Rapid Review meeting, we need to gather the basic facts about the case and 

determine the extent of agency involvement with the child and/or any family members. This 

will help the safeguarding partners decide whether to undertake a formal child safeguarding 

practice review and to determine the most appropriate method to identify and cascade 

learning from this case. 

We are initially asking agencies to: 

1. Clarify whether your organisation had any involvement with the subject child and/or 

named individuals within the family composition outlined in Section 1 of the attached 

form.   

2. Complete the attached ‘Initial Scoping and Information Sharing’ form if you have had 

any involvement with the subject child or a member of their family.   

3. Secure all records/files in relation to this case, ensuring that they are removed to a 

secure place where they are not accessible to agency personnel other than through 

you or your nominated representatives.  

4. Keep your agency’s submission in relation to this case separate from the case 

records/files. 

If the child or family is not known to your organisation, please confirm this in writing.   

We are required to hold the Rapid Review meeting and agree the way forward within 

timescales outlined in national guidance (currently within 15 working days). This initial scoping 

and information sharing form should, therefore, be returned to us at the address included on 

the form within 5 working days. In this case this will be [insert submission date]. 

If you require any further information please contact [insert contact name and phone number]. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Chair of the Learning From Practice Group 

Appendix ii 

Page 212



23 

 

 

Enc: Initial Scoping and Information Sharing Form 

  

Page 213



24 

 

 

 

 

INITIAL SCOPING AND INFORMATION SHARING FORM FOR A RAPID REVIEW 

 

Potential Child Safeguarding Practice Review  

 

Working Together 2018 provides clear criteria in Chapter 4 about when child safeguarding 

practice reviews should be conducted. We have received notification of a serious incident 

which may meet the criteria for a child safeguarding practice review and will, therefore, be 

holding a Rapid Review to consider the case.  

 

To inform the Rapid Review meeting, we need to gather the basic facts about the case and 

determine the extent of agency involvement with the child and family. This will help the 

safeguarding partners decide whether to progress a formal child safeguarding practice review 

and to determine the most appropriate method to identify and cascade learning from this 

case. 

 

We are required to hold the Rapid Review meeting and agree the way forward within 

timescales outlined in national guidance (currently within 15 working days). This initial scoping 

and information sharing form should, therefore, be returned to (insert email address) within 5 

working days, that is by (insert date). 

 

 

Contact details of individual / agency completing this form  

 

Name Agency and Job Title  CONTACT DETAILS – 

Address, telephone number 

and e-mail address 

 

 

 

 

  

Appendix iii 

Page 214



25 

 

 

Date completed: 

 

 

Background Information (To be completed before this form is sent out) 

 

Summary of Case: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Indicative time period to be looked at: (Good practice suggests that the time period 

examined should be limited. However, please include information from outside this time 

period if you feel it is relevant to the case.) 

 

 

Page 215



26 

 

Section 1: Composition of the Child’s Family  

 

This should be completed BEFORE the form is sent out. 

All agencies are asked to check whether the details below match information held on their 

systems. Please advise of any anomalies. 

 

SUBJECT CHILD: 

Also known as: 

National health 

number: 

 

D.O.B:  

D.O.D:  

Home Address: 

Previous addresses: 

 

 

 

MOTHER: 

Also known as: 

 

D.O.B:  

Home address: 

Previous addresses: 

 

FATHER: 

Also known as: 

 

D.O.B:  

Home address: 

 

 

 

Page 216



27 

 

Previous addresses:  

SIBLINGS: 

Also known as: 

 

D.O.B:  

Home address: 

 

Previous addresses: 

 

 

 

SIGNIFICANT ADULTS / 

OTHERS: 

 

Home address:  

 

SIGNIFICANT ADULTS / 

OTHERS: 

 

Home address:  

SIGNIFICANT ADULTS / 

OTHERS: 

 

Home address: 

 

 

Page 217



28 

 

Section 2: Agency Information and Involvement  

 

1. Provide a brief summary of your agency’s involvement with the subject child 

AND the individuals listed in the family composition. (Please focus on the key 

significant events in chronological order and, where appropriate, include the date of 

commencement and completion of service.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Brief analysis of individual or / and agency practice.  (Please identify any 

outstanding practice or potential learning). 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Please identify any areas for concern as to the way in which partners have 

worked together to safeguard the subject child.   

 

 

 

 

Page 218



29 

 

 

4. Are you aware of the involvement of any other agencies? If yes, please give 

details. 

 

 

 

 

5. Please include any further relevant information that you wish to bring to the 

attention of the Rapid Review meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 3: Advice and Submission of this Form 

 

 

If you need advice or guidance on completing this form, please contact person person on 

0208 xxx xxxx or via email at firstname.lastname@wherever.gov.uk (secure?)  

 

This completed form must be returned to secure email address no later than  

Day, Date Month Year at 5.00 pm 
 

 

  

Page 219



30 

 

 

REPORT OF RAPID REVIEW DECISIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SUBMISSION TO 

NATIONAL CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL  

 

Purpose of the Rapid Review 

 

In line with Working Together 2018, the aim of this rapid review is to enable safeguarding partners to:  

 gather the facts about the case, as far as can be readily established;  

 discuss whether there is any immediate action needed to ensure children’s safety and share 

any learning appropriately;  

 consider the potential for identifying improvements to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children;  

 decide what steps to take next, including whether or not to undertake a child safeguarding 

practice review. 

 

Background Information 

 

Name of Child:  

 

Date of Rapid Review: 

(Ideally this should be a face to face meeting but may be a telephone conference if 

constrained by time) 

 

List of Participants in Rapid Review: 

(To be quorate at least one representative from each of the safeguarding partners 

needs to be present – i.e. a representative from the CCG, Police and Local Authority) 

 

Name Job Role/Title Agency/Organisation 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

   

Appendix iv  

Page 220



31 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

Section 1: Case Background 

This should be completed in advance of the Rapid Review meeting.  

Details of Family Members and Significant Others 

Name and Address 
Relationship to 

Child 
Date of Birth 

Legal 

Status 

Ethnic 

Origin 

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

Case Summary 

 

Please provide a brief outline of the child and family circumstances and the incident that 

triggered this rapid review: 

Page 221



32 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Documentation available to this Rapid Review: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 2: Consideration of Case, Criteria and Guidance  

This should be completed during the meeting and agreed by participants. 

2.1 Immediate Action 

Has ALL appropriate immediate action been taken to ensure children’s safety and share any learning 

appropriately?          

Yes                     No        

Please give details of action taken. If no, what actions need to be taken? When will 

these be taken and by whom? 

 

Page 222



33 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2 Identifying Improvements to Safeguard and Promote the Welfare of Children 

Those present at the Rapid Review have considered whether to carry out a local child safeguarding 

practice review and have agreed that the case has the potential to meet the following criteria: Tick all 

that are relevant. These should be agreed by all participants in the Rapid Review.  

 highlights or may highlight improvements needed to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children, including where those improvements 

have been previously identified  

 highlights or may highlight recurrent themes in the safeguarding and 

promotion of the welfare of children  

 highlights or may highlight concerns regarding two or more 

organisations or agencies working together effectively to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children  

 is one which the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel have 

considered and concluded a local review may be more appropriate  

 safeguarding partners have cause for concern about the actions of a 

single agency  

 there has been no agency involvement and this gives the safeguarding 

partners cause for concern  

 more than one local authority, police area or clinical commissioning 

group is involved, including in cases where families have moved around  

 the case may raise issues relating to safeguarding or promoting the 

welfare of children in institutional settings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 223



34 

 

 None of the above  

2.3 Rapid Review Discussions 

Record of Rapid Review discussion and case analysis against the criteria for 

statutory review processes. The Rapid Review conclusion should clarify the nature 

of harm suffered and whether it meets the criteria for serious harm and/or long 

term impairment of health. If the Rapid Review identifies immediate learning that 

can be acted upon, the outcome should be summarised:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 224



35 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Has legal advice been sought? If yes, please give details. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Section 3: Recommendation 

After completing this Rapid Review it has been agreed that this case: 

a) Meets the criteria for a national Child Safeguarding Practice Review  

  

b) Meets the criteria for a local Child Safeguarding Practice Review   

c) Does not meet the criteria but warrants an alternative Learning Review  

d) Warrants consideration of DHR, SAR, MAPPA SFO or other    

   Please state: _________________________________________  

Page 225



36 

 

e) Warrants a Single-Agency Review       

f) Warrants a Multi-Agency Audit       

g) Warrants a Single Agency Audit                           

h) Needs no Further Action        

i)               The Rapid Review has identified learning that has been acted upon, 

  

obviating the need for further review     

j) Other           

   Please state: _________________________________________    

Definition of terms 

Review:  Is an evaluation designed to identify potential service delivery and procedural improvements. 

Audit:  The process of systematic examination carried out to assess how successfully processes have been 

implemented.  

 

  

Page 226



37 

 

 

Rationale for Recommendation. When the Rapid Review decision is that a case does 

not meet the criteria for a Child Safeguarding Practice Review, other review options 

must be considered . 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date this form submitted to the National Panel: 

  

Page 227



38 

 

 

LETTER TO CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL TO ACCOMPANY REPORT OF RAPID 

REVIEW DECISIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  

 

 

Date:  

Edward Timpson CBE, Chair 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 

Sanctuary Buildings 

20 Great Smith Street 

London 

SW1P 3BT 

 

 

Dear Edward Timpson CBE, 

 

Decision of the Rapid Review of [insert case name / reference] 

I am writing to you in your capacity as Chair of the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel.  

Our Safeguarding Partners received notification of a serious incident which may meet the criteria for a 

child safeguarding practice review on [insert date] and have, therefore, undertaken a Rapid Review to 

consider the case.  

This Rapid Review included a representative from each of the Safeguarding Partners and concluded that 

the case meets the criteria for a national Child Safeguarding Practice Review / meets the criteria for a 

local Child Safeguarding Practice Review / does not meet the criteria for a Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review. [Delete as appropriate] 

I attach for your information a copy of our completed Rapid Review Template which provides a summary 

of the case and the Rapid Review’s decision-making process and rationale. This decision has been 

endorsed by the three lead representatives for our Safeguarding Partnership.  

I trust this is sufficient information for you to share with the Panel. However, please do not hesitate to 

contact me if you require any further information.  

Yours sincerely 

Enc: Rapid Review Template 

 

 

  

Appendix v 

Page 228



39 

 

 

 

REFERRAL FOR PRACTICE LEARNING FORM 

 

 

Criteria for Practice Learning   

The Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership recognises that if we focus learning only on serious 

safeguarding incidents where a child has died or been seriously harmed and abuse is known or 

suspected, we risk limiting or distorting our understanding of whole system functioning.  

We know that there are sometimes ‘no harm’ incidents, concerns about new safeguarding challenges, 

feedback from children and families and, more positively,  evidence of good practice that needs to be 

shared to improve the way we work.  

The Learning From Practice Group encourages all practitioners to discuss these with their Designated 

Safeguarding Lead/Representative to consider whether these should be referred for dissemination and 

learning.  

 

Background Information 

 

Name of Child and Date of Birth:  

 

Date of Referral: 

 

 

 

Name of referrer AGENCY & 

DESIGNATION/TITLE 

CONTACT DETAILS – Address, 

telephone number and e-mail address 

 

 

  

 

Name of designated Safeguarding 

Lead/Representative with whom you 

have discussed this referral  

AGENCY & 

DESIGNATION/TITLE 

CONTACT DETAILS – Address, 

telephone number and e-mail address 

 

 

  

 

 

Please give a brief description of what you think could be learned from this referral.  

Appendix vi  

Page 229



40 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 1: Brief overview of child and family composition 

 

1.2 Child’s Details 

 

Name of Child  

Date of Birth  

Home address  

Gender  

Ethnic Origin  

Faith/Religion   

Disability  

Is the child/young person looked after?  

Is the child/young person subject to a 

child protection plan or has been 

previously? (If so when, for what and for 

how long?) 

 

Is the child/young person open to 

Children’s Social Care or a Children & 

Families Practice (if so, who is the lead 

practitioner)? 

 

Date of Incident (please specific which)  

Address of location of incident  

Carer at time of incident  

1.2 Details of Family Members and any Significant Others 

Page 230



41 

 

Name and Address Relationship to Child 
Date of 

Birth 

Legal 

Status 

Ethnic 

Origin 

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

1.3 Other agencies known to be involved 

 

Agency Contact Details: Address, 

Telephone and E-mail 

Reason for involvement 

(include whether current or 

not) 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

Section 2: Case Background 

 

PLEASE NOTE: The information you provide will be used to help establish what further information might 

be required and what format can be best used to capture learning. .  

 

Please provide a brief outline of the child and family circumstances and the incident that 

triggered this referral: 

 

 

 

 

Page 231



42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please outline why you are making this referral: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please use the chronology table below to outline any events around the time of the incident. 

 

PLEASE NOTE: This should only include key events and DOES NOT need to be a detailed chronology at 

this stage. 

 
 

Page 232



43 

 

Date and Time Event 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Please add any additional information you think may be relevant 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 3: Advice and Submission of this Form 

This form should be submitted to: 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership 

safeguardingboard@lewisham.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Children and Young People Select Committee 

 

Timeline of decision-making 

Children and Young People Select Committee (CYP) Work Programme 2019/20 – draft 
agreed at CYP 30.04.19 

CYP Select Committee Work Programme 2019/20 – agreed by Business Panel 07.05.19 

CYP Select Committee Work Programme 2019/20 –  reviewed at meetings of CYP on 
30.04.10, 12.06.19, 11.07.19, 17.09.19, 16.10.19, 05.12.19, 23.01.20 

 

Report title: Select Committee Work Programme Report 

Date: 10 March 2020 

Key decision: No.  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Emma Aye-Kumi, Scrutiny Manager 

Outline and recommendations 

This report gives Committee members an opportunity to review the Committee’s work 
programme and make any modifications required. 

 To note the Committee’s terms of reference attached at Appendix A; 

 To consider the completed work programme attached at Appendix B. 

 To consider potential items for the Committee’s work programme in the next 
municipal year and possible items for future task and finish groups for the next 
municipal year. 

 To review the forward plan of key decisions to consider whether there are any items 
for further scrutiny. 

Page 235

Agenda Item 9



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Summary 

1.1. The committee drew up a draft work programme at the beginning of the municipal year 
for submission to the Business Panel for consideration. 

1.2. The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each committee on 
7 May 2019 and agreed the overview and scrutiny work programme. 

1.3. This is the last scheduled meeting of CYP for the 2019/20 municipal year. The 
Committee’s completed work programme is attached at Appendix B. The Committee is 
asked to put forward suggestions for the 2020/21 work programme and for potential 
task and finish groups.  

Recommendations 

1.4. The Committee is asked to: 

 Note the Committee’s terms of reference attached at Appendix A; 

 consider the completed work programme attached at Appendix B,  

 suggest potential items for the Committee’s work programme in the next 
municipal year and possible items for future task and finish groups for the 
next municipal year. 

 review the forthcoming key decisions set out in Appendix C, and consider 
any items for further scrutiny 

CYP Select Committee 2019-20 

1.5. The committee had eight meetings in the 2019-20 municipal year. The completed work 
programme is attached at Appendix B.  

1.6. The Children and Young People Select Committee has scrutinised a range of 
children’s services this year. The Committee identified the Early Help Review as a 
priority at the start of the year, and has been closely involved in the development of the 
approach which covers Children and Family Centres, family support work, health 
visiting and the youth service etc and will continue to be involved in the coming 
municipal year. 

1.7. The Committee carried out a short review of the impact that living in temporary 
accommodation has on children and young people. As part of this work, evidence was 
gathered from homeless families, schools and through a visit to one of Lewisham’s 
hostels. Following on from this work, the Committee has been invited to the next 
meeting of Housing Select Committee on 12 March for an item on homelessness 
prevention and placement policy. 

1.8. Other key areas for the Committee have included CAMHS waiting times for Lewisham 
children, secondary school improvement and BAME achievement. A major topic is 
Children’s Social Care improvement following the “Requires Improvement” Ofsted 
judgement in July 2019 where the focus has been on policy, resources and timelines. 
The Committee also finalised our recommendations on reducing school exclusions and 
addressing the disproportionate numbers of excluded black children of Caribbean 
heritage. 

1.9. The Committee also heard from parents and carers and commented on the Council’s 
new Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy and made suggestions for 
inclusion in the Council’s new Children and Young People Plan.  

1.10. In July the Committee held a joint meeting with Healthier Communities Select 
Committee which looked at BAME mental health inequalities, and resulted in two 

Page 236

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

referrals to Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB). The first  

1.11. Over the course of the year, the Committee made a number of referrals including on 
the Council budget cuts. This included highlighting the lack of equalities information 
and detail on budget cut proposal RES 20 relating to nursery provision. This was 
supported by Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee and led to this cut 
proposal being deferred for further investigation.  

Prioritisation and planning for 2020-21 

1.12. Five meetings of CYP Select Committee are provisionally scheduled for the next 
municipal year with the proposed dates as follows: 

9 June 

24 September 

26 November 

21 January 

11 March 

1.13. A work programme report will be put forward at the first meeting of CYP Select 
Committee for 2020-21 for members to discuss and agree. The report will take account 
of the Committee’s previous work and may incorporate: 

 The scrutiny prioritisation process and potential key themes and priorities for 
2020/21 

 issues arising as a result of previous scrutiny; 

 issues that the Committee is required to consider by virtue of its terms of 
reference; 

 items requiring follow up from Committee reviews and recommendations; 

 issues suggested by members of the public; 

 petitions; 

 standard reviews of policy implementation or performance; 

 suggestions from officers; 

 relevant decisions due to be made by Mayor and Cabinet. 

1.14. When deciding on items to include in the work programme, the Committee should have 
regard to: 

 the criteria for selecting and prioritising topics; 

 the Committee’s terms of reference; 

 the capacity for items in terms of the Committee’s time and resources; 

 the context for setting the work programme and advice from officers; 
 
  

Page 237

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

1.15. The Committee’s terms of reference are included at Appendix A.  

1.16. The Committee’s areas of responsibility, include, but are not limited to: 

 Schools and related services 

 Children’s Social Care 

 Transition for care leavers 

 Youth services 

 SEND provision for children and young people up to age 25 

1.17. The flowchart below, based on the model from the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) is 
designed to help Members decide which items should be added to the work 
programme. It is important to focus on areas where there is a clear recommendation 
and consideration by the Committee will influence decision-making.  

Page 238

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

 

 

 

Page 239

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

1.18. The remit of the CYP Select Committee is broad and for the Committee to ensure its 
work programme is as tailored and focussed as possible delivering robust scrutiny, it is 
important to ensure items are prioritised and key outcomes identified. It is likely that, 
due to the volume of work, the Committee will have to make difficult decisions 
considering where it can most add value and influence and which items are of most 
importance to the Council and Lewisham residents. Particular care needs to be taken 
regarding the potential for duplicating work by other committees and boards.  

1.19. As well as using the prioritisation process above, the Committee may wish to suggest 
areas of strategic importance for its work programme in 2020/21 and for possible task 
and finish groups. At the first meeting of the new committee year, the Committee will 
agree its work programme. 

Different types of scrutiny 

1.20. It is important to agree how each work programme item will be scrutinised. It is 
recommended that items for information only do not come to Committee. Typically, the 
majority of items take the form of single meeting items, where members: 

(a) agree what information and analysis they wish to receive in order to achieve their 
desired outcomes; 

(b) receive a report presenting that information and analysis; 

(c) ask questions of the presenting officer or guest; 

(d) agree, following discussion of the report, whether the Committee will make 
recommendations or receive further information or analysis before summarising its 
views. 

1.21. The new structure should free up time to seek different voices when considering topics. 
This could include independent experts, partner organisations or community 
representatives. 

1.22. For each item, the Committee should consider what type of scrutiny is required and 
whether the item is high or medium/low priority (using the prioritisation process). 
Allocating priority to work programme items will enable the Committee to decide which 
low and medium priority items it should remove from its work programme, when it 
decides to add high priority issues in the course of the year. 

1.23. Items within the committee’s work programme should be linked to the priorities of the 
Council’s Corporate Strategy. The Council’s Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022 was 
approved at full council in February 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 240

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

1.24. The strategic priorities of the Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022 are: 

Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all, where we 
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us. 

Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is secure and 
affordable. 

Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has access to 
an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they need to 
keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential. 

Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-quality job 
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local 
economy. 

Delivering and defending: health, social care and support - Ensuring everyone 
receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they need. 

Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces, and benefits 
from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local 
environment. 

Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as 
we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime. 

Task and Finish Groups  

1.25. Subject to agreement at the Council AGM, it is proposed that in addition to 5 meetings 
per year of each Select Committee, there will be up to six thematic Task and Finish 
Groups in the course of a municipal year. Members will suggest topics through a 
proforma and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will agree which topics should be 
taken forward. Each Task and Finish Group will then carry out in-depth work looking at 
a particular topic, gathering evidence and research, hearing from expert witnesses and 
going on visits where required. The Task and Finish Group will produce a final report 
with recommendations for the Mayor and Cabinet. 

Referrals 

1.26. Below is a tracker of the referrals the committee has made in this municipal year: 

Referral title 
Date of 
referral 

Date considered 
by Mayor & 

Cabinet 

Response due at 
Mayor & Cabinet 

Response due 
at committee 

Select 
Committee Work 
Programme 

  Considered at 
Business Panel 
on 7.5.19 

N/A N/A 

Exclusions in-
depth review 

12.6.19 10.7.19 10.10.19 16.10.19 

BAMER 
consultation/co-
production of 

14.11.19 Considered by 
Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

 5.12.19 

Page 241

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/open-lewisham
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/tackling-the-housing-crisis
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/giving-children-and-young-people-the-best-start-in-life
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/building-an-inclusive-local-economy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/delivering-and-defending-health-social-care-and-support
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/making-lewisham-greener
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/building-safer-communities


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

mental health 
services 

(HWB)  

CAMHS ethnicity 
data (jointly with 
Healthier 
Communities 
Select 
Committee)  

 Considered by 
HWB 

 5.12.19 

Budget Cuts  17.9.19 1. PAC – 24.9.19 

2. M&C - 
10.10.19 

  

ICT provision 23.1.20 5.2.20 May/June  

  

Information Items  

1.27. Some potential work programme items might be low priority and may only require a 
briefing report for information to be produced for members outside of a formal 
committee meeting. 

1.28. Below is a summary of the information items received by the committee in 2019-20: 

Item Date received 

Unregulated Educational Settings 5.12.19 
Follow up due – date tbc 

Corporate Parenting and LAC annual report Postponed from 10.3.20  

Date tbc 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board annual report 2018/19 5.12.19 

 

Financial implications 

1.29. There are no direct financial implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendations in this report. Items on the Committee’s work programme will have 
financial implications and these will need to be considered as part of the reports on 
those items. 

Legal implications 

1.30. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

Page 242

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Equalities implications 

1.31. Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 
Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing the 
separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came into 
force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

1.32. The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

1.33. There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and all 
activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration to 
this. 

Climate change and environmental implications 

1.34. There are no direct climate change or environmental implications arising from the 
implementation of the recommendations in this report. Items on the Committee’s work 
programme may have climate change implications and these will need to be 
considered as part of the reports on those items. 

Crime and disorder implications 

1.35. There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from the implementation of 
the recommendations in this report. Items on the Committee’s work programme may 
have crime and disorder implications and these will need to be considered as part of 
the reports on those items. 

Health and wellbeing implications  

1.36. There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from the implementation 
of the recommendations in this report. Items on the Committee’s work programme may 
have health and wellbeing implications and these will need to be considered as part of 
the reports on those items. 

Report author and contact 

If you have any questions about this report please contact: Emma Aye-Kumi, 020 8314 
9534 emma.aye-kumi@lewisham.gov.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 243

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:emma.aye-kumi@lewisham.gov.uk


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Appendix A - Children & Young People Select Committee Terms of Reference  

1.37. To fulfil all overview and scrutiny functions as they relate to the social care of children 
and young people up to the age of 19 years including but not limited to the following 
activities:-  

1.37.1. the social services functions of the Council under the Children Act 2004, and all 
functions of the Council under the National Assistance Act 1948, the Mental Health Act 
1983, Children Act 1989, the NHS and Community Care Act 1990, Children Act 2004, 
Children and Families Act 2014 and all other relevant legislation in force from time to 
time  

1.37.2. to invite representatives of other service providers to children and young people in the 
area to give account of their performance and to answer questions.  

1.38. In so far as they relate to the provision of services for those under the age of 19 years, 
the exercise of all of the Council’s powers under all relevant legislation pertaining to 
education from time to time in force. Without limiting the generality of this, this shall 
include, in particular, schools and school related services.  

1.39. The exercise of the overview and scrutiny powers of the Council in so far as they relate 
to people under 19 years of age in the provision of opportunities for education, training 
and learning outside the school environment, including pre-school services.  

1.40. In so far as they relate to children and young people under 19 years of age, to make 
comments and recommendations to the Executive on the contents and proposed 
contents of the plans making up the Council’s policy framework.  

1.41. In so far as they relate to people under the age of 25 years, to make comments and 
recommendations on the provision of education, training and learning by those with 
special educational needs.  

1.42. Without limiting the remit of the Select Committee, its terms of reference include the 
following matters:  

1.42.1. Child protection - covering provision for vulnerable children including children in need 
and children looked after, placements, foster care and adoption  

 Early years provision  

 Special needs provision  

 Schools and related services  

 Youth Service  

 Youth offending and challenging behaviour  

 Transitional services for those leaving care  

 Other matters relating to children and young people  

1.43. To receive and consider referrals from Healthwatch in so far as they relate solely to 
people under 19 years of age. Otherwise such referrals will be made to the Healthier 
Communities Select Committee  

1.44. Without limiting the remit of the Select Committee, to hold the Executive to account for 
its performance in relation to the delivery of Council objectives in the provision of 
services to children and young people.  

1.45. In the event of there being overlap between the terms of reference of this select 
committee and those of the Healthier Communities Select Committee, the Business 
Panel shall determine the Select Committee which shall deal with the matter in 
question. 

Page 244

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan March 2020 - June 2020 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent toKevin Flaherty 0208 3149327, the Local Democracy Officer, 
at the Council Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 

P
age 245



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of Social Care 
software systems 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of revenue and 
benefits software systems 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

NHS Commissioning 
Arrangements in Lewisham 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Deputy Mayor and 
Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Budget Update 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Highway Contract Tendering 
strategy for 2021 award 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 

 
  

 P
age 246



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Safer Communities 
 

October 2019 
 

State of the Highways 
Infrasructure and Update on 
Asset Management Strategy 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Safer Communities 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Community Wealth Building 
and Inclusive Growth Strategy 
Update 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Joe Dromey, 
Cabinet Member for 
Culture, Jobs and Skills 
(job share) 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Community Energy Fund grant 
awards 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Jonathan Slater, Cabinet 
Member for Community 
Sector 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Lewisham's Admission 
Arrangements 2021/22 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

P
age 247



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2019 
 

Budget 2020-21 
 

26/02/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Priorities for 2020 
 

26/02/20 
Council 
 

Kim Wright, Chief 
Executive and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Local Government Boundary 
Review 2nd Stage Submission 
 

26/02/20 
Council 
 

Kath Nicholson, Director 
of Law and Councillor 
Kevin Bonavia, Cabinet 
Member for Democracy, 
Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

November 2019 
 

Approach to Boroughwide pot 
of Neighbourhood Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Safer Communities 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Future Provision of Home Care 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Call-in Disposal of former Wide 
Horizon Sites in Wales & Kent' 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 

 
  

 

P
age 248



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Mayor 
 

October 2019 
 

Precision Manufactured 
Housing (PMH) Procurement 
Process Outcome and Decision 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Preferred Tender for Travel and 
Transport Programme 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Safer Communities 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Old Town Hall works - 
permission to tender 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Lewisham Climate Emergency 
Action Plan 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Private Sector Housing 
Borough-wide Licensing 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 

 
  

 

P
age 249



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

January 2020 
 

Oracle Cloud contract 
extension and hyper-care 
support 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of Oracle Licensing 
arrangements 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Archive solution for HR and 
Payroll system 
 

17/03/20 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Corporate Energy Contract 
Strategy 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 Post consultation 11/03/20 Kevin Sheehan,   

P
age 250



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 recommendation of additions 
of new buildings to Local List 
 

Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

  

December 2019 
 

Approval of the draft Lewisham 
Local Plan for public 
consultation 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Performance Monitoring 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Building for Lewisham Former 
St Philip Neri School 
Acquisition 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Appropiation of the former 
Mayow Road Warehouse 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Permission to Tender 
Broadway Theatre Works 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 

 
  

 P
age 251



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

  Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Andre Bourne, 
Cabinet member for 
Culture, Jobs and Skills 
(job share) 
 

February 2020 
 

GLA Small Sites Small Builders 
Grant 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

TenEmBee Sports Club lease 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Andre Bourne, 
Cabinet member for 
Culture, Jobs and Skills 
(job share) 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Acquisition of Morton House 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Making of Instrument of 
Government Aspire London 
Federation and Local Authority 
Governor Nomination 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Pauline Maddison, 
Interim Executive Director 
Children and Young 
People and Councillor 
Chris Barnham, Cabinet 

 
  

 

P
age 252



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

February 2020 
 

School Meals Contract 
Extension 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Pauline Maddison, 
Interim Executive Director 
Children and Young 
People and Councillor 
Chris Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Supported Housing Contract 
Extensions 2020 
 

17/03/20 
Executive Director 
for Community 
Services 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Contract Award Interpreting, 
Translation and Transcription 
Services 
 

17/03/20 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Adoption of Deptford High 
Street Conservation Area 
Appraisal, boundary changes 
and introduction of an Article 4 
Direction errata 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Settlement on outstanding 
litigation case regarding non-
payment of an affordable 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 

 
  

 

P
age 253



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

housing contribution at 99 
Plough Way Parts 1 & 2 
 

Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

February 2020 
 

SELCHP Extension parts 1 & 2 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Contract Award for Stage 2 of 
Greenvale School Expansion 
Project 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Parks and Open Spaces 
Strategy 2020-2025 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Public Health Neighbourhood 
Grants - Neighbourhood 
Community Development 
Partnerships 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 
  

 

P
age 254



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

January 2020 
 

Annual Lettings Plan 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

PLACE/Ladywell parts 1 & 2 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Contract extension of  current 
day services for older adults 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Education Strategy 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Pauline Maddison, 
Interim Executive Director 
Children and Young 
People and Councillor 
Chris Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

SEND Strategy 2020-2023 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 

Pauline Maddison, 
Interim Executive Director 

 
  

 P
age 255



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Children and Young 
People and Councillor 
Chris Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

February 2020 
 

Smarter Technology Phase 2 
Project Equipment Rollout 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Richard Hawkes and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Renewal of Pension 
Administration IT System 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Ian Andrews, IT 
Procurement and 
Supplier Manager and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Single Equality framework 
2020-24 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Paul Aladenika, Service 
Group Manager, Policy 
Development and 
Analytical Insight and 
Councillor Jonathan 
Slater, Cabinet Member 
for Community Sector 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Award of M&E Contract 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Chris Damri, SGM Asset 
Strategy and Technical 
Support and Councillor 
Amanda De Ryk, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

P
age 256



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

February 2020 
 

Award of Building Fabric 
Contract 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Chris Damri, SGM Asset 
Strategy and Technical 
Support and Councillor 
Amanda De Ryk, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Award of London Borough of 
Culture Programme Delivery 
Partner 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Liz Dart, Head of Culture 
and Community 
Development and 
Councillor Andre Bourne, 
Cabinet member for 
Culture, Jobs and Skills 
(job share) 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Rough Sleeping Initiative STA 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sarah Miran, 
Commissioning Manager 
and Councillor Chris 
Best, Deputy Mayor and 
Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Future of Targeted Provision' 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David McCollum, Joint 
Commissioner – Early 
Intervention and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Friendship Agreement Pokhara 
 

01/04/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 

 
  

 

P
age 257



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Accountability 
 

December 2019 
 

Approval of the draft Lewisham 
Local Plan for public 
consultation 
 

01/04/20 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Annual Pay Statement 
 

01/04/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2019 
 

Approval to appoint operator 
for concessions contract at the 
lake, Beckenham Place Park 
 

29/04/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

November 2019 
 

Corporate Equalities Scheme 
 

29/04/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Jonathan 
Slater, Cabinet Member 
for Community Sector 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Occupational Health 
Procurement 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 
  

 

P
age 258



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

December 2019 
 

Local Plan New Cross Gate 
SPD and Surrey Canal SPD 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Mayow Road Supported Living 
Service Parts 1 & 2 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Approval to proceed with 
Procurement - Digitisation of 
Records - Council Wide 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Dry recycling award report 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Wendy Nicholas, 
Strategic Waste and 
Environment Manager 
and Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

SELCHP Extension parts 1 & 2 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Wendy Nicholas, 
Strategic Waste and 
Environment Manager 
and Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 

 
  

 

P
age 259



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

and Transport 
 

December 2019 
 

Achilles Street Estate Land 
Assembly Parts 1 & 2 
 

03/06/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Adoption of the Catford 
Regeneration Masterplan 
Framework 
 

03/06/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy 
 

15/07/20 
Council 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Eva Stamirowski 
 

 
  

 

P
age 260



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      

P
age 261



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People Select Committee 2019/20 Programme of Work

Work Item Type of item

Strategic 

Priority 30-Apr 12-Jun 11-Jul 17-Sep 16-Oct 05-Dec 23-Jan 10-Mar

Lewisham Future Programme
Performance 

monitoring Budget Cuts

Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair
Constitutional 

requirement

Select Committee work programme 2019/20
Constitutional 

requirement
CP3

Children and Young People's Plan
Performance 

monitoring
CP3

Safeguarding Services 6-monthly Report and update on new 

safeguarding arrangements, inc update on CSC 

Improvement Plan

Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Young Mayor and Advisors Verbal update
CP3 & 

CP5

BAME achievement
Performance 

Monitoring
CP3

Annual Report on Attendance and Exclusions
Performance 

monitoring
CP3 

Public Health cuts
performance 

monitoring
CP5

M&C response

In-depth review - school exclusions In-depth review CP3
M&C response

Children's Social Care budget, including sufficiency strategy, 

staffing, fostering

Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

SEND Strategy 
Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Provisional school results
Performance 

monitoring
CP3

Education Strategy
Policy 

development
CP3

CAMHS waiting times for Lewisham Children
Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

BAMER mental health inequalities referral 
Policy 

development

CP3 & 

CP5 HWB response

Children's Social Care Improvement Plan 
Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Early Help review In-depth review
CP3 & 

CP5

Unregulated educational settings
Performance 

monitoring
CP3 postponed

Safeguarding Services 6-monthly Report 
Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

New safeguarding arrangements
Performance 

monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Exclusions from school - in-depth review follow up
Performance 

monitoring
CP3

Annual Schools Standards Report 2018/19 (primary, 

secondary, post 16 and AP) 

Performance 

monitoring
CP3

How living in temporary accommodation affects children and 

young people
Investigation CP3

Recommendations

Corporate Parenting and LAC Annual Report For information
CP3 & 

CP5 postponed 

Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board annual report (for 

information only)

Performance 

Monitoring

CP3 & 

CP5

Item completed

Item on-going 1) 4) Tuesday 17 September 7)

Item outstanding 2) 5) Wednesday 16 October 8)

Proposed timeframe 3) 6) Thursday 5 December

Item added

CP 3

CP 5

CP 7

Giving Children and young people the best start in life.

Delivering and defending: health, social care and support

Building Safer Communities

Thursday 23 January

Tuesday 10 March

Tuesday 30 April

Wednesday 12 June

Thursday 11 July

Meetings

P
age 263



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 23 January 2020
	Minutes

	2 Declarations of interest
	4 Annual school standards report 2018/19 (primary, secondary, post-16, AP)
	5 Exclusions from school in-depth review - 6 month update
	6 How living in temporary accommodation affects children - final report and recommendations
	06 Appendix A DRAFT final report Children in TA
	06 Appendix B children in TA
	06 Appendix C children in TA
	06 Appendix D children in TA Shelter
	06 Appendix E - Harlow briefing
	06 Appendix F draft recommendations children in TA

	7 Safeguarding Services 6 monthly report
	8 New safeguarding arrangements
	08LSCP Appendix 1 - Structure DiagramCYP100320
	08LSCBAppendix2CYP100320
	08LSCP Appendix 3 - Learning CYP100320

	9 Select Committee work programme
	09 AppendixC Key Decision Plan 10 Mar 2020
	09 Appendix B - work programme 2019-20


